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JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The South Dakota Supreme Court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to the
Court’s Order granting the Petition for Discretionary Appeal of Appellant, Banner
Associates, Inc. (“Banner”). The appeal is of the May 13, 2022, Order of the Circuit
Court for the Fifth Judicial Circuit, Judge Jon S. Flemmer, denying in part and granting in
part Banner’s Motion for Summary Judgment. (CR 427). This Court granted Banner’s
Petition pursuant to SDCL 15-26A-17 on June 17, 2022. This Court also granted the
Parties’ Joint Moton for Extension of Time to File Appellants’ Briefs, granting an
extension until August 16, 2022, for filing Appellants’ briefs.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES
1. Whether the Circuit Court erred in not properly applying the statute of

limitations in SDCL 15-2-13 and the statute of repose in SDCL 15-2A-3 to the
claims asserted against Banner.

The Circuit Court should have applied both statutes in ruling on Banner’s Motion
for Summary Judgment and the claims against Banner are barred by SDCL 15-2-
13 and SDCL 15-2A-3.

SDCL 15-2-13

SDCL 15-2A-3

Gades v. Meyer Modernizing Co., Inc. 2015 S.D. 42, 865 N.W.2d 155 (2015)
East Side Lutheran Church of Sioux Falls v. NEXT, Inc., 2014 S.D. 59, 852 N.W.2d
434 (2014)

Cleveland v. BDL Enters., Inc., 2003 S.D. 54, 663 N.W.2d 212 (2003)

2. Whether the statute of limitations in SDCL 15-2-13 or the statute of repose in
SDCL 15-2A-3 bars the Hovens’ claims.

The statute of limitations in SDCL 15-2-13 accrued at the latest in May 2010 and
the claims were barred in May 2016, three years before the lawsuit was filed. The
statute of repose in SDCL 15-2A-3 accrued in 2007 and the claims were barred in
2017, two years before the lawsuit was filed.

SDCL 15-2-13
SDCL 15-2A-3
Gades v. Meyer Modernizing Co., Inc. 2015 S.D. 42, 865 N.W.2d 155 (2015)



East Side Lutheran Church of Sioux Falls v. NEXT, Inc., 2014 S.D. 59, 852 N.W.2d
434 (2014)

Cleveland v. BDL Enters., Inc., 2003 S.D. 54, 663 N.W.2d 212 (2003)

Strassburg v. Citizens State Bank, 1998 S.D. 72, 581 N.W.2d 510, 514 (1998)

3. Whether there was any fraudulent concealment on the part of Banner in
concealing the existence of the Hovens’ claims.

Because there was no fiduciary relationship between Banner and the Hovens,

fraudulent concealment of the existence of the claim had to be shown, and

fraudulent concealment was not, as a matter of law, shown by the Hovens.

SDCL 15-2A-7

Yankton County v. McAllister, 2022 S.D. 37, ---- N.W.2d ----, 2022 WL 2253691

(S.D. June 22, 2022).

Gades v. Meyer Modernizing Co., Inc. 2015 S.D. 42, 865 N.W.2d 155, 160, (2015)

East Side Lutheran Church of Sioux Falls v. NEXT, Inc., 2014 S.D. 59, 852 N.W.2d

434 (2014)

Cleveland v. BDL Enters., Inc., 2003 S.D. 54, 663 N.W.2d 212 (2003)

Strassburg v. Citizens State Bank, 1998 S.D. 72, 581 N.W.2d 510, 514 (1998)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Banner filed a motion for summary judgment in the Circuit Court on March 16,
2022. (CR 28-104). The Hovens filed their responsive pleadings on April 6, 2022. (CR
105-373). A hearing was held before the Circuit Court on April 20, 2022. (CR 374-375).
The Circuit Court entered an Order dated May 17, 2022, denying in part, and granting in

part, Banner’s motion for summary judgment. Notice of the Entry of the Order was filed

on May 17, 2022. (CR 438-441).

Banner filed its Petition for Discretionary Appeal with this Honorable Court on

May 25, 2022. The Petition was granted on June 17, 2022.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The facts of this case arise out of certain services provided by Banner in relation

to properties at Blue Dog Lake in Day County, South Dakota, near the city of Waubay.



(CR 30). The services were performed at various times, but the plaintiffs’ claims relate to
surveying and engineering services provided by Banner for Dennis and Carol Gregerson

(“Gregersons”) in 2006 and 2007, and certain professional surveying and engineering

services that were provided by Banner for the Hovens in 2009 and 2010. (CR 50-52; 75).

The Gregersons, who were not parties to this case, retained Banner to perform
certain surveying services in relation to their property in 2006. (CR 50). The Gregersons
were planning to subdivide their property and sell portions of it, one piece of which was
sold to Madelynn Hoven in 2007. (CR 83). One of the services performed by Banner for
the Gregersons was the preparation of an Elevation Certificate for the house they built on
a portion of their property. (CR 50; 54-66). The elevation Certificate was prepared for the

Gregersons in 2006. (CR 50; 54-66).

In performing the professional services for the Gregersons, Banner determined a
benchmark on the Gregerson property and set an iron pin at the location of the
benchmark on, or around, June 9, 2006. (CR 51; 93-94). The location of the iron pin
ended up being on the portion of the property that was subdivided and later sold to

Madelynn Hoven. (CR 51, 85).

In mid-2007, Mike Hoven contacted Steve Rames, a former employee of Banner,
regarding the benchmark. (CR 85). Mr. Hoven simply asked Mr. Rames for the elevation
of the benchmark. (CR 85). Banner sent a surveyor to mark the elevation of the iron pin
in 2007. (CR 87-88; 95). The elevation of 1806.96 was marked on a lathe stake that was
placed next to the iron pin. (CR 87-88; 95). There were no improvements on the Hoven

property at that time — the house had not yet been constructed. (CR 85-86). The house



was built by the end of 2007. (CR 83-84; 97-99). Banner performed no work on the

Hoven or Gregerson properties until 2009. (CR 51; 96; 104).

The elevation of the pin that was noted on the lathe stake was 1806.96 NAVDS8.
(CR 87-88; 95). It matched the elevation from the Elevation Certificate provided to the
Gregersons, and the lathe stake was marked using what had previously been determined
for the Gregersons. (CR 54-66; 93-95). Mr. Rames also sent a document to Mr. Hoven
showing the property lines for the subdivided Gregerson property and showing the
benchmark at 1806.96. (CR 100-103). The document was never used by Appellees
Michael Hoven and Madelynn Hoven (“Hovens”) in any way. (CR 86). Instead, they
claim that they believe that their concrete contractor, Moe’s Concrete, used the elevation
noted on the lathe stake next to the iron pin in setting the foundation for the house. (CR

86).

Banner was never officially retained by the Hovens in 2007, did not bill the
Hovens for any work at that time, and the Hovens never paid for any services at that time.
(CR 51). Banner was not involved in the staking, layout, or construction of the Hovens’

house. (CR 51).

Over the next few months, the Hovens built the house on the property. (CR 83).
The house was constructed and enclosed by the end of 2007. (CR 83-84; 97-99). The
Hovens admitted that it was built by the end of 2007 and the photographs support that
admission. (CR 83-84; 97-99). All elevations of the house were set at that time, even
though the plaintiffs claim that they continued to work on the inside of the house over a

longer period of time. (CR 83-84; 97-99).



The first time Banner was actually retained and paid by the Hovens was in 20009.
(CR 51). In 2009, Banner shot an elevation for the first floor of the Hoven house that was
provided in early 2010. (CR 51; 96; 104). The house was obviously constructed at that

time. (CR 104). The floor elevation was listed at 1810.19 NAVD88. (CR 104).

Also in 2010, Banner provided the Hovens (Madelynn Hoven) with an Elevation
Certificate dated May 11, 2010. (CR 51; 67-74). It lists the various elevations of the
house, both in NAVD88 and NGVD29 datum. (CR 51; 67-74). On the sixth page of the
Elevation Certificate, there is a diagram showing all of the elevations at issue in each of
the datum, it lists the conversion, and it clearly shows the Base Flood Elevation (BFE) at
1810.0 (NGVD29) = 1810.9 (NAVDS88). (CR 17; 72). It also clearly shows the Finished
Floor Elevation (FFE) at 1810 (NAVD88). (CR 17; 72). On its face, it shows that the
FFE is 0.9 feet (10.8 inches) below the BFE. (CR 17; 72). This information was
responsive to the request of the Hovens, it was open, obvious, and easy to understand on
the drawing included in the Elevation Certificate. (CR 17; 72). The Hovens used that
diagram, which showed those elevations and the conversion, to support their claims by
attaching it as Exhibit “C” to their Complaint. These elevations and conversions are also

included in the rest of the Elevation Certificate. (CR 67-74).

There is no expert or other evidence that there is anything wrong with the
Elevation Certificate. (CR 51). The elevations and conversions are accurate. (CR 51). In
fact, the plaintiffs rely upon those elevations being accurate in the pursuit of their claims.
(CR 3-9; 17). The affidavits provided by Banner established that the professional services
performed by Banner were performed in accordance with the professional standard of

care. (CR 50-53; 75-77). There is no expert evidence to the contrary. (CR 51).



Banner provided no other services for, or in relation to, the Hovens or their house
after May 11, 2010. (CR 50-51). Banner had no contact with the Hovens after May 11,
2010. (CR 89). Banner did not actively (or passively) conceal or withhold any
information from the plaintiffs and did not try to prevent them from knowing about any
potential claim they may have relating to any of the services provided by Banner. (CR 52;

76).

The Summons was served in this matter in July 2019. (CR 2). The plaintiffs’
Complaint was not filed until July 26, 2019. (CR 3-7). Banner filed its motion for
summary judgment in the Circuit Court on March 16, 2022. (CR 28-104). The Hovens
filed their responsive pleadings on April 6, 2022. (CR 105-373). A hearing was held
before the Circuit Court on April 20, 2022. (CR 374-375). The Circuit Court entered an
Order dated May 17, 2022, denying in part, and granting in part, Banner’s motion for
summary judgment. Notice of the Entry of the Order was filed on May 17, 2022. (CR

438-441).

ARGUMENT
The Circuit Court erred in failing to apply the statute of limitations in SDCL 15-2-

13 which bars the Hovens’ claims. The six-year statute of limitations applies to the
Hovens’ claims regardless of the possibility that the statute of repose in SDCL 15-2A-3
also applies. The limitation period in SDCL 15-2-13 accrued at the latest in 2010, and the
claims were barred in 2016, three years before the claims were filed. Additionally, the
Hovens’ claims are barred by SDCL 15-2A-3 in that they accrued in 2007 and were
barred in 2017. The Circuit Court properly ruled that Banner did not fraudulently conceal

the existence of the Hovens’ claims from the Hovens, and there was no tolling of the



statute of limitations or statue of repose. Banner was entitled to summary judgment as to

all of the Hovens’ claims.

1. The Review of a Motion for Summary Judgment Ruling is de novo.

The Supreme Court reviews a ruling on a motion for summary judgment de novo.
See, Smith Angus Ranch, Inc. v. Hurst, 2021 S.D. 40, 1 13, 962 N.W.2d 626, 629;
Stoebner, 2019 S.D. 58, 1 16, 935 N.W.2d at 266. “In reviewing a grant or a denial of
summary judgment under SDCL 15-6-56(c), we must determine whether the moving
party demonstrated the absence of any genuine issue of material fact and showed
entitlement to judgment on the merits as a matter of law.” Gades v. Meyer Modernizing
Co., Inc. 2015 S.D. 42, 865 N.W.2d 155, 158 (2015). “If the moving party properly
supports the motion, the nonmoving party may only avoid summary judgment by
‘set[ting] forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial.””” 1d. SDCL
15-6-56(e). “Any material fact asserted by the moving party in support of the motion for
summary judgment is deemed admitted by the nonmoving party unless controverted.” Id.
SDCL 15-6-56(c)(3). Pursuant to SDCL § 15-6-56 (c), a party is entitled to summary
judgment “if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on
file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any
material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.” SDCL
15-6-56(c); Mark, Inc. v. Maguire Ins. Agency, Inc., 518 N.W.2d 227, 229 (S.D. 1994).
The party opposing the motion for summary judgment must establish the specific facts,
and said facts must show that a genuine, material issue for trial exists. Anderson v.
Production Credit Ass 'n., 482 N.W.2d 642, 644 (S.D. 1992). Mere allegations are not

sufficient to preclude summary judgment. Mark, Inc., 518 N.W.2d at 229. When a

10



plaintiff fails to make a sufficient showing regarding an essential element of his or her
case for which the plaintiff bears the burden of proof, a trial court is obligated to grant
defendant’s motion for summary judgment. Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 322
(1986).

2. The Statute of Limitations in SDCL 15-2-13 Is Applicable to the
Hovens’ Claims.

The statute of limitations applicable to this case is in SDCL 15-2-13. The
pertinent sections of that statute are as follows: “[T]he following civil actions other than
for the recovery of real property can be commenced only within six years after the cause
of action shall have accrued . . . (1) An action upon a contract, obligation, or liability,
express or implied; . . . . (3) An action for trespass upon real property.” Id.

The claims made by the Hovens relate to alleged damage to their real property,
and SDCL 15-2-13 applies to their claims. SDCL 15-2-13 has been applied to
construction cases involving the alleged damage to real property. See, Gades v. Meyer
Modernizing Co., Inc. 2015 S.D. 42, 865 N.W.2d 155 (2015); East Side Lutheran Church
of Sioux Falls v. NEXT, Inc., 2014 S.D. 59, 852 N.W.2d 434 (2014). SDCL 15-2-13
applies to the claims.

3. The Statute of Limitations in SDCL 15-2-13 and the Statute of Repose
in SDCL 15-2A-3 are Not Mutually Exclusive.

The application of the statute of limitations in SDCL 15-2-13 and the statute of
repose in SDCL 15-2A-3 are not mutually exclusive. They can both apply to the claims
that fall within those statutes, or either one of them can apply to bar claims not made in

accordance with their requirements.

11



SDCL 15-2A-3, the statute of repose for construction claims, provides as follows:

No action to recover damages for any injury to real or personal property,
for personal injury or death arising out of any deficiency in the design,
planning, supervision, inspection, and observation of construction, or
construction, of an improvement to real property, nor any action for
contribution or indemnity for damages sustained on account of such injury
or death, may be brought against any person performing or furnishing the
design, planning, supervision, inspection, and observation of construction,
or construction, of such an improvement more than ten years after
substantial completion of such construction. The date of substantial
completion shall be determined by the date when construction is
sufficiently completed so that the owner or his representative can occupy
or use the improvement for the use it was intended.

This Court has noted in a footnote that: “SDCL 15-2A-3 does not operate to

extend the time for filing an action otherwise barred by the running of the applicable

period of limitation.” Gades v. Meyer Modernizing Co., Inc. 2015 S.D. 42, n. 6, 865

N.W.2d 155, 160,n. 6 (2015), referencing Peterson v. Bruns, 2001 S.D. 126, 635 N.W.2d

556, 570 (SD 2001), quoting Zacher v. Budd Co. 396 N.W.2d at 129, n. 5 (SD 1986).

In Gades, this Court referenced the interplay between the six-year statute of

limitations in SDCL 15-2-13 (that applied to the claims in Gades), and the statute of

repose in SDCL 15-2A-3. This Court first stated: “There does not appear to be a genuine

dispute as to the applicable period of limitation in this case.® SDCL 15-2-13(1) provides

that “[a]n action upon a contract, obligation, or liability, express or implied,” may only be

filed “within six years after the cause of action shall have accrued[.]” Gades, 865 N.W.2d

at158. Footnote 6, referenced in that quote, was as follows:

The Gadeses argued to the circuit court that their action was timely based
on the ten-year period of repose established in SDCL 15-2A-3. In their
brief to this Court, the Gadeses again assert, if only in passing, that “they
commenced their action well within the time allowed for actions for
construction deficiencies.” It is unclear whether the Gadeses intend this

12



mention to be an affirmative assertion that their claim is timely, or if it
was offered merely in anticipation of an argument from Meyer regarding
the ten-year period of repose. Regardless, a period of repose “is not
designed to allow a reasonable time for the filing of an action once it
arises.” Peterson ex rel. Peterson v. Burns, 2001 S.D. 126, 1 41, 635
N.W.2d 556, 570 (quoting Zacher v. Budd Co., 396 N.W.2d 122, 129 n. 5
(S.D.1986)). Thus, SDCL 15-2A-3 does not operate to extend the time for
filing an action otherwise barred by the running of the applicable period
of limitation. Id. (quoting Zacher, 396 N.W.2d at 129 n. 5).

Gades, 2015 S.D. 42, 865 N.W.2d at n. 6 (emphasis added). Thus, in Gades, the statute of
limitations in SDCL 15-2-13 was applied to the plaintiff’s claims despite the fact that the
claims were also potentially subject to the statute of repose in SDCL 15-2A-3. It is clear
that SDCL 15-2-13 and SDCL 15-2A-3 can each apply to applicable claims. Also, SDCL
15-2A-3 did not extend the statute of limitations in SDCL 15-2-13 to ten years.

Other decisions of this Court also indicate that the statute of limitations should
apply to a case such as this, with no suggestion that the statute of limitations was replaced
or preempted by the statute of repose. See, East Side Lutheran Church of Sioux Falls v.
NEXT, Inc., 2014 S.D. 59, 852 N.W.2d 434 (2014); Huron Center, Inc. v. Henry Carlson
Co., 2002 S.D. 103, 650 N.W.2d 544 (S.D. 2002). The statute of limitations in SDCL 15-
2-13 was applied to the plaintiff’s construction claims in East Side Lutheran. (See also,
McMacken v. State, 320 N.W.2d 131, 139 (S.D 1982), overruled by Daugaard v. Baltic
Co-Op Bldg. Supply Ass’n, 349 N.W.2d 419 (S.D. 1984), stating that the unconstitutional
predecessor to SDCL 15-2A-3 (SDCL 15-2-9) was to “be read in conjunction with other
statutes of limitation. It does not create a new six-year statute of limitations for personal
injuries accruing prior to expiration of the sixth year after completion. The three-year
statute of limitations for personal injuries, SDCL 15-2-14, is still applicable, so far as, it

is not limited by the abrogation of the statute.” McMacken, 320 N.W.2d at 139.).

13



There is nothing in the legislative intent behind SDCL 15-2A-3 that indicates that
it was intended to replace any other, applicable statutes of limitations, and, in fact, the
opposite is true. SDCL 15-2A-3 provides an outside time when claims related to the
design and construction of improvements to real property are barred as a matter of law.

SDCL 15-2A-6 provides, in part: “Nothing in 88 15-2A-3 to 15-2A-5, inclusive,
may be construed as extending the period prescribed by the laws of this state . . . .” Id.
Additionally, SDCL 15-2A-1 provides, in part:

The Legislature finds that subsequent to the completion of construction,
persons involved in the planning, design, and construction of
improvements to real estate lack control over the determination of the
need for, the undertaking of and the responsibility for maintenance, and
lack control over other forces, uses and intervening causes which cause
stress, strain, wear, and tear to the improvements and, in most cases, have
no right or opportunity to be made aware of or to evaluate the effect of
these forces on a particular improvement or to take action to overcome the
effect of these forces. Therefore, it is in the public interest to set a point in
time following the substantial completion of the project after which no
action may be brought for errors and omissions in the planning, design,
and construction of improvements to real estate, whether these errors and
omissions have resulted or may result in injury or not, unless the person
involved in the planning, design, and construction of the improvements
was guilty of fraud, fraudulent concealment, fraudulent misrepresentation,
willful or wanton misconduct, or unless the person involved in the
planning, design, and construction of improvements to real estate
expressly warranted or guaranteed the improvement for a longer time
period.

Id. (See also this Courts analysis and discussion of the constitutionality of SDCL 15-2A-3
in Cleveland v. BDL Enters., Inc., 2003 S.D. 54, { 18, 663 N.W.2d 212 (2003).

Banner argued to the Circuit Court that both statutes applied to the Hovens’
claims. The Circuit Court found that the six-year statute of limitations in SDCL 15-2-13
did not apply because the statute of repose in SDCL 15-2A-3 was the only period of

limitation that applied. That ruling is inconsistent with the rulings of this Court and was

14



erroneous. The six-year statute of limitations and the ten-year statute of repose were both
potentially applicable to the Hovens’ claims against Banner.

4. The Statute of Limitations in SDCL 15-2-13 Accrued in May 2010, at
the Latest, and the Claims were Barred in May 2016, at the Latest.

A claim accrues when a plaintiff has actual or constructive notice of a cause of
action. Strassburg v. Citizens State Bank, 1998 S.D. 72, 1 10, 581 N.W.2d 510, 514.
“Actual notice consists in express information of a fact.” SDCL 17-1-2. “Constructive
notice is notice imputed by the law to a person not having actual notice.” SDCL 17-1-3.
“One having actual notice of circumstances sufficient to put a prudent person on inquiry
about ‘a particular fact, and who omits to make such inquiry with reasonable diligence, is
deemed to have constructive notice of the fact itself.”” Strassburg, 1998 S.D. 72, { 10,
581 N.W.2d at 514 (quoting SDCL 17-1-4).

In East Side Lutheran Church of Sioux Falls v. NEXT, Inc., 852 N.W.2d 434, 438,
2014 S.D. 59 (2014), this Court held that “A claim can accrue “even when one may not
yet know all the underlying facts or the full extent of damages.” 1d. at 440, quoting
Strassburg, 1998 S.D. 72, 4 13, 581 N.W.2d at 515. “Statutes of limitations begin to run
when plaintiffs first become aware of facts prompting a reasonably prudent person to
seek information about the problem and its cause.” East Side Lutheran Church, 852
N.W.2d at 440, quoting Strassburg, 1998 S.D. 72, § 13, 581 N.W.2d at 515.

Here, when the six-year statute of limitations in SDCL 15-2-13 is applied, all of
the claims of the Hovens are barred. Under East Side Lutheran Church and Gades, the
plaintiffs had constructive, if not actual, knowledge of the fact that the finished floor

elevation of their house was built 0.9 feet below the base flood elevation in May 2010. It
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was clearly shown, and spelled out, in the Elevation Certificate provided to them in 2010
— the very exhibit they attached as Exhibit “C” to their Complaint in supposed support of
their claims. A “reasonably prudent person” would have reviewed the Elevation
Certificate they paid to have performed in 2010, and the elevations at issue are clearly
shown and drawn in the Elevation Certificate. In fact, the Hovens later realized that the
finished floor elevation was below the base flood elevation based on the elevations
overtly shown in that very Elevation Certificate as evidenced by Exhibit “C” to their
Complaint. They just claim that they did not pay attention to it in 2010. They,
nonetheless, had at least constructive knowledge of the issues with their house in May
2010. Any claims against Banner were barred by the six-year statute of limitations as of
May 2016 — more than three years before the lawsuit was filed in 20109.

5. The Statute of Limitations Was Not Tolled.

The Circuit Court correctly ruled that there was no fraudulent concealment or
other fraudulent misconduct on the part of Banner that tolled the statute of limitations.

“Fraudulent concealment may toll the statute of limitations.” Yankton County v.
McAllister, 2022 S.D. 37, ---- N.W.2d ----2022, WL 2253691 (S.D. June 22, 2022).
McAllister involved a notice requirement under a different statute, but still involved the
issue of the tolling of the statute due to fraud. There, this Court held that: “In the absence
of some trust or confidential relationship between the parties there must be some
affirmative act or conduct on the part of the defendant designed to prevent, and which
does prevent, the discovery of the cause of action. Mere silence, in the absence of a duty
to speak, is not ordinarily sufficient.... [1]f a trust or confidential relationship exists

between the parties, which imposes a duty to disclose, mere silence by the one under that
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duty constitutes fraudulent concealment.” 1d. Generally, in such a relationship, the
“property, interest or authority of the other is placed in charge of the fiduciary.” Id.
“Normally, in a fiduciary relationship, one of the parties has a superior power over the
other.” 1d. “In the absence of a fiduciary relationship, fraudulent concealment does not
exist simply because a cause of action remains undiscovered, but only when the
defendant affirmatively prevents discovery.” Id. “The existence of a fiduciary duty and
the scope of that duty are questions of law for the court.” Id.

This same reasoning has been applied in other cases involving the statute of
limitations and the statute of repose in this case. The Court has first look at whether there
is a confidential or fiduciary relationship between the parties and have found that such a
relationship did not exist under these circumstances. Then, the Court has looked to see if
there was active concealment of the existence of the claim and whether the concealment
actually prevented the plaintiffs from knowing of the existence of their claims.

First, in Gades, this Court stated: “The Gadeses contended that the statute of
limitations in SDCL 15-2-13 should have been tolled due to the defendant’s fraudulent
concealment.” Gades, 865 N.W.2d at 160. There, this Court noted the following:

“[Flraudulent concealment applies ... when actionable conduct or injury

has been concealed by deceptive act or artifice.” Strassburg, 1998 S.D. 72,

114,581 N.W.2d at 515. In the absence of “a confidential or fiduciary
relationship,” a plaintiff alleging fraudulent concealment must allege
“some affirmative act or conduct on the part of the defendant designed to
prevent, and which does prevent, the discovery of the cause of

action.” 1d. (quoting Koenig v. Lambert, 527 N.W.2d 903, 905-06
(S.D.1995), overruled on other grounds, Stratmeyer v. Stratmeyer, 1997
S.D. 97, 567 N.W.2d 220) (internal quotation marks omitted). Here, the
Gadeses do not claim, and the record does not suggest, a relationship of
trust or confidence between the Gadeses and Meyer. “Fiduciary duties ...
are not inherent in normal arm's-length business relationship[s] and arise
only when one undertakes to act primarily for another's

benefit.” Cleveland v. BDL Enters., Inc., 2003 S.D. 54, 18, 663 N.W.2d
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212, 218 (quoting Schwaiger v. Mitchell Radiology, 2002 S.D. 97, 19,
652 N.W.2d 372, 380) (internal quotation marks omitted). Therefore, the
Gadeses are required to prove some affirmative act on Meyer’s part, that
Meyer designed such act to prevent the Gadeses to prevent the Gadeses
from detecting their cause of action and that they were actually prevented
from discovering their cause of action.

Gades, 865 N.W.2d at 160 (emphasis added).

Similarly, Cleveland v. BDL Enters., Inc., 2003 S.D. 54, { 18, 663 N.W.2d 212
(2003), involved reports made by an engineering firm. In determining whether there was
the type of relationship between the parties that led to a fiduciary duty on the part of the
engineering firm to the homeowners, this Court held that: “[ A]t no time did FMG hold
itself out as being in charge of the Homeowners' property rights or in some manner
representing their interests.” Id. at 219. “We find that no confidential or fiduciary
relationship existed between FMG and the Homeowners. FMG was employed by BDL to
conduct soil engineering work. FMG stood in the shoes of BDL and had an arms-length
relationship to the Homeowners. See Trouten v. Heritage Mut. Ins. Co., 2001 SD 106,
32, 632 N.W.2d 856, 864.” Cleveland, 663 N.W.2d at 219. “Having determined that no
confidential relationship existed between FMG and the Homeowners, we next turn to
whether FMG took affirmative steps to conceal the facts that supported Homeowners'
causes of action.” Cleveland, 663 N.W.2d at 219 (emphasis added). See also, Klinker v.
Beach, 1996 S.D. 56, 547 N.W.2d 572 (S.D. 1996).

Under Cleveland, Gades, and other cases (See, Purdy v. Fleming, 2002 SD 156,
20, 655 N.W.2d 424, 431, Bruske v. Hille, 1997 SD 108, { 19, 567 N.W.2d 872,

879), Koenig v. Lambert, 527 N.W.2d 903, 905-06 (S.D.1995), Conway v. Conway, 487

N.W.2d 21, 23 (S.D.1992)) there has to be active concealment of the existence of the
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claim from the party making the claim for the statute to be tolled (or for SDCL 15-2A-7
for the statute of repose).

Here, there was, first of all, no confidential or fiduciary relationship between
Banner and the Hovens. The 2010 Elevation Certificate involved nothing more than an
arms-length business transaction between Banner and the Hovens. There was not even a
contractual relationship between Banner and the Hovens for the 2006 and 2007 work. It
is clear that Banner was never required to “act on behalf of the Hovens” in any respect.
Because there was no fiduciary relationship, The Hovens had to show actual concealment
of the existence of any claim on the part of Banner.

Banner did not actively conceal the existence of the Hovens’ claims from the
Hovens. The claims made by the Hovens are based on their finished floor elevation being
below the base flood elevation. The Elevation Certificate provided by Banner to the
Hovens in May 2010 told them exactly that fact. The Certificate has all of the elevations,
the conversion between the different datum and a diagram that shows the house, the Base
Flood Elevation (BFE) at “1810.0 (NGVD29) = 1810.9 (NAVDS88)” and the Finished
Floor Elevation (FFE) at “1810 (NAVDS88).” On its face, it shows that the FFE is 0.9 feet
(10.8 inches) below the BFE. The Elevation Certificate fully, openly and overtly told the
Hovens everything they needed to know to pursue the claims they are now pursuing. In
fact, the information in that Elevation Certificate is what the Hovens rely upon in making
the allegations in this case that the finished floor elevation of the house is 0.9 feet below
the base flood.

Further, it is undisputed that there was no contact or interaction whatsoever

between Banner and the Hovens after May 2010 until 2019. Banner has shown in the
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affidavits submitted by Banner, that Banner did not do anything to prevent the Hovens
from knowing of the existence of their claims, and the Hovens have not provided
anything to the contrary. There was no fraudulent concealment, or any other fraud, on the
part of Banner that prevented the Hovens from knowing of their claims.

There was no fraud to toll the statute of limitations in SDCL 15-2-13. The
Hovens’ claims accrued at the latest in May 2010 and were barred in May 2016 — more
than three years before suit was filed. The Circuit Court correctly ruled that there was no
active fraudulent concealment on the part of Banner. The statute of limitations was not,
therefore, tolled.

Even if it could be argued that there was a fiduciary relationship between Banner
and the Hovens, there was no fraudulent omission on the part of Banner that prevented
Hovens from detecting their claims. Banner was not involved in the original construction
of the house and would have had no reason to know how the Hovens had used the
elevation information on the lathe stake, or to know that the house was built too low, to
observe that the house was built 0.9 feet too low. There is no evidence that Banner had
any reason to say anything to the Hovens about their house being too low until 2010. In
2010, Banner informed the Hovens in writing in the Elevation Certificate exactly what
was going on with the elevation of the house in relation to the base flood elevation, as
outlined above. At that time, the house was built, and the damage was done. The work
performed by Banner for the Hovens in 2010 openly and patently disclosed what the
Hovens had done — they had built their house below the base flood elevation. There was

no contact, whatsoever, between Banner and the Hovens after Banner provided the
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Hovens with the Elevation Certificate in May 2010. There is simply no fraudulent
conduct on the part of Banner, at all. The statute of limitations was not tolled.

6. The Statute of Repose in SDCL 15-2A-3 Bars the Hovens’ Claims.

The Hovens’ claims were also barred by the statute of repose in SDCL 15-2A-3.
That statute is quoted above in Section 2. Under the clear terms of the statute, the focus is
to be on when the construction or improvement to real property at issue can be used for
its intended purpose. Here, that was in the fall of 2007 when the house was built and
closed in with doors, windows, etc.

It is undisputed that Banner was not at all involved in the actual construction of
the Hoven house. The only use for the elevation provided on the lathe stake, by Mike
Hoven’s own testimony, was that it was only used for setting the finished floor elevation
of the house. He clearly testified that he wanted the benchmark elevation for that one
reason, and that one reason only. Mr. Hoven stated: “I needed a benchmark for
elevation.” (CR 84). When the house was built, the damages alleged by the Hovens were
set, and in place. They claim that the house was built below the base flood elevation and
that construction work was completed in the fall of 2007.

The “construction” or “improvement to real property” associated with the
benchmark was pouring the walls for setting the elevations for the house — the walls, the
finished floor, and the structure. The walls and structure of the house, the only things
dependent upon a benchmark elevation, were clearly complete in the fall of 2007. There
are photographs showing its completion, and it was confirmed by Mr. Hoven in his
deposition. (CR 83-84; 97-99). The construction at issue (a structure that the plaintiffs

built supposedly using the elevation provided to them by Banner) was sufficiently
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complete for the plaintiffs to “use” it for its intended purpose” at that time. The statute of
repose accrued in the fall of 2007 and the ten-year limitation period ran in the fall of 2017
— two years before the lawsuit was filed. Any activities or conduct on the part of Banner
that were alleged to be negligent, or otherwise improper, would be traced to the fall of
2007. All of the claims are barred.

The Hovens claimed that they continued to work on the house until 2013, when
they added countertops, fixtures, etc. The elevation provided by Banner had absolutely
nothing to do with anything inside the house, including finishing out the interiors of the
house, building decks, or other like activities. The “construction” at issue, giving every
benefit of the doubt to the plaintiffs, was setting the FFE (finished floor elevation) of the
house.

An alternate way of looking at the issue is to determine when the plaintiffs could
have asserted their claim. When the finished floor was constructed, and certainly when
the house was built in 2007, they could have asserted their claim. Could Banner have said
in response to a claim by the Hovens in 2008 that they had no claim because they had not
substantially completed the construction of the house because there were no sink fixtures
in the kitchen or bathroom? Of course not. The improvement to real property associated
with the benchmark elevation was complete when the structure of the house was built and
completed in 2007. At that time, the house could be used for its intended purpose.

The “construction” or “improvement to real property” associated with the
marking of the elevation of the benchmark was complete (substantially and finally) in the
fall of 2007. The statute of repose in SDCL 15-2A-3 ran in 2017, almost two years before

suit was filed. The plaintiffs’ claims related to that work are barred as a matter of law.
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There is nothing wrong with any subsequent work (the Elevation Certificate in 2010,
etc.), and the heart of the Hovens’ claim goes back to 2007. The Circuit Court should also
have granted summary judgment to Banner based on these grounds.

The Hovens appear to have known that the claims were barred by SDCL 15-2A-3
when they filed their Complaint. They alleged in the Complaint that there was fraud
under SDCL 15-2A-7. That statute provides an exception to the application of SDCL 15-
2A-3, as follows: “The limitations contained in this chapter may not be asserted as a

defense by any person who is guilty of fraud, fraudulent concealment, fraudulent

misrepresentations, or willful or wanton misconduct, in furnishing the design, planning,
supervision, inspection, and observation of construction, or construction, of
improvements to real property.” Id.

This standard for the application of SDCL 15-2A-7 is the same as outlined in
Section 5 of this Brief, above. (Cleveland involved SDCL 15-2A-3 and 15-2A-7). That
analysis applies equally to the statute of repose. There was no fraudulent concealment by
Banner of the existence of the Hovens’ claims, nor any reliance on that alleged fraud by
the Hovens. The claims were barred by SDCL 15-2A-3, and they were not tolled by
SDCL 15-2A-7. They were barred by the statute of repose, in addition to the statute of
limitations.

For this additional reason, Banner was entitled to summary judgment and the
Circuit Court erred in denying Banner’s motion.

CONCLUSION
For the reasons outlined above, Banner respectfully requests that this Honorable

Court overrule the Order of the Circuit Court insofar as it denied Banner’s motion for

23



summary judgment under the statute of limitations in SDCL 15-2-13 and also the statute
of repose in SDCL 15-2A-3. Banner also requests that this Court affirm the ruling of the
Circuit Court on the finding that there was no fraudulent concealment on the part of
Banner that tolled the statute of limitations, the statute of repose, or otherwise. Banner
would therefore request that this Court direct the Circuit Court to enter summary
judgment in Banner’s favor as to all of the Hovens’ claims.

Respectfully submitted this __ day of August 2022.

Gregory H. Wheeler

BOYCE LAW FIRM, L.L.P.

300 S. Main Avenue

P.O. Box 5015

Sioux Falls, SD 57117-5015

(605) 336-2424

ghwheeler@boycelaw.com

Attorneys for Appellant Banner Associates, Inc.
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FILED

STATE OF SOUTH DAKOTA ) MAY 1320  IN CIRCUIT COURT
1SS, CLAUDETTE

DAY Gp. PITZ
COUNTY OF DAY ) Y G0.CLERK OF COLRER ST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

MICHAEL HOVEN AND MADELYNN 18CIV19-000037
HOVEN,

Plaintiffs, ORDER DENYING IN PARTAND

GRANTING IN PART
DEFENDANT’S MOTION FOR
SUMMARY JUDGMENT

VS,
BANNER ASSOCIATES, INC.,

Defendant.

This matter having.come before the Court on April 20, 2022, on Defendant
Banner Associates, Inc.’s Motion for Summary Judgment; and Defendant Banner
Asé,b_ciates, Inc., having appeafed through a representative, Gfeg Jorgenson, and with its
counsel, Gregory H, Wheeler, and Plaintiffs Michael Hoven and Madelynn Hoven having
appeared personally and with their counsel, Steven J. Oberg, and; and the Court having
read and considered the motion and all pleadings herein; and having heard and
considered the arguments of counsel; and having reviewed the evidence in a light most
fa_vorab]e to Plaintiffs, and h_aving determined that genuine issues of material fact exist
regarding when substantial completion occurred and when the cause of action accrued;
Now Therefore, it is HEREBY:

. ORDERED that Defendant Banner Associates, .Inc.’s Motion for Summary
Judgment should be and is DENIED in part and GRANTED in part. The Court finds that
material questions of fact remain as to whether the Plaintiffs’ claims are barred by the
statute of repose in SDCL 15-2A-3, and the Court, therefore, DENIES that part of

Banner’s Motion. The Court finds that there are no material issues of fact relating to the

DEF APPX 001




Plaintiffs’ claims of fraudulent concealment and the Court, therefore, GRANTS the moti(_)n
for summary judgment on the issue of fraudulent concealment. Finally, the Court finds that
the staiute of limitations in SDCL 15-2-13 does not apply to the Plaintiffs’ claims and the
Court, theréforc, DENIES the motion for summary judgment as it relates to the issues
involving SDCL 15-2-13. 9

Dated May iﬁ, 2022. } Q .

Hono@e Jon S. Flemmer

DEF APPX 002




STATE OF SOUTH DAKOTA ) | IN CIRCUIT COURT

:SS
COUNTY OF DAY ) FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
MICHAEL HOVEN AND MADELYNN
HOVEN, 18CIV19-000037
Plaintiffs, BANNER ASSOCIATES, INC.
STATEMENT OF UNDISPUTED
A MATERIAL FACTS

BANNER ASSOCIATES, INC,,

Defendant.

COMES NOW Defendant, Banner Associates, Inc. (“Banner”), and pursuant to SDCL 15-
6-56 (c), submits this statement of undisputed material facts in support of its motion for summary
judgment. The citations below refer to Affidavits of Kent Johnson, Nathan Nielson and Gregory
Wheeler and the Exhibits to those Affidavits, including the deposition transcript testimony
attached to the Affidavit of Gregory Wheeler. The following facts are not in dispute and support
the motion for summary judgment:

1. Dennis and Carol Gregerson (“Gregersons”) retained Banner to perform surveying
services in relation to their property in 2006. (Johnson Affid., § 3).

2. The Gregersons were planning to subdivide their property and sell portions of it,
one piece of which was sold to the Hovens in 2007. (Mike Hoven depo., p. 17).

3. One of the services performed by Banner for the Gregersons was the preparation of
an Elevation Certificate for the house they built on a portion of their property. (Johnson Affid., §
4-5).

4. The elevation Certificate was prepared for the Gregersons in 2006. (Johnson Affid.,

9 5; Exhibit “A”).

Filed: 3/16/2022 4:20 PM CST Day County, South Dakota 18CIV139-000037
DEF APPX 003




5. In performing the professional services for the Gregersons, Banner determined a
benchmark on the Gregerson property and set an iron pin at the location of the benchmark on, or
around, June 9, 2006. (Rames depo., pp. 39-41; Johnson Affid., 9 6).

6. The location of the iron pin ended up being on the portion of the property that was
subdivided and later sold to the Hovens (specifically Madelynn Hoven). (Mike Hoven depo., p.
29; Johnson Affid., | 7)

7. In mid-2007, Mike Hoven contacted Steve Rames, who was at the time an
employee of Banner, regarding the benchmark. (Mike Hoven depeo., p. 29).

8. Mr. Hoven simply asked Mr, Rames for the elevation of the benchmark. (Mike
Hoven depo., p. 29).

9. Banner sent a surveyor fo mark the elevation of the iron pin. (Rames depo., pp. 45-
47; Mike Hoven depo., pp. 49-54).

10.  The elevation of 1806.96 was marked on a lathe stake that was placed next to the
iron pin. ({d.).

11.  The work referenced in paragraphs 7 through 10 above occurred in 2007. (/d.).

12.  The elevation of the iron pin was noted as 1806.96 NAVDS88 in the Elevation
Certificate provided to the Gregersons and the lathe stake was marked using what had previously
been determined for the Gregersons. (Rames depo., pp. 39-47; Johnson Affid., Exhibit “A” p.12).

13.  Mr. Rames also sent a document to Mr. Hoven showing the property lines for the
subdivided Gregerson property and showing the benchmark at 1806.96. (See Exhibit 5 to Mike
Hoven depo.).

14.  No datum is referenced in the document and there were never any discussions

between Banner and the plaintiffs about the datum used. (/d.; Mike Hoven depo., p. 56).
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15. Mr. Hoven stated that he did not even ask any questions because he did not know
there were different datum, (Mike Hoven depo., p. 47).

16.  The document was never directly used by the Hovens in any way. (Mike Hoven
depo., p. 47), but instead, they claim that they believe that their concrete contractor, Moe’s
Concrete, used the ei_evation noted on the lathe stake next to the iron pin in setting the foundation
for the house. /d.

17. Banner was never officially retained by the Hovens in 2006 or 2007, did not bill
the Hovens for any work at that time, and the Hovens never paid for any services at that time.
(Johnson Affid., § 8).

18.  Banner was not directly involved in the staking, layout or construction of the
Hovens’ house. (Johnson Affid., § 9).

19.  Over the next few months in 2007, the Hovens built the house on the property.
(Mike Hoven depo., pp. 18-19).

- 20, The house was constructed and enclosed by the end of 2007. (Mike Hoven depo.,
p. 20-21; Exhibit 1 to Mike Hoven Depo., Bates 150 to 152).

21.  The Hovens admitted that it was built by the end of 2007 and the photographs
support that admission. (/d.).

22, All elevations of the house were set at that time. (/d.)

23, The first time Banner was actually retained and paid by the Hovens was in 2009,
(Johnson Affid., § 10).

24. In 2009, Banner shot an elevation for the first floor of the Hoven house. (Rames

depo., p. 67, Exhibit 10 (from Mike Hoven depo.); Johnson Affid., § 10).
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25.  The house was obviously constructed at that time. The floor elevation was listed at
1810.19 NAVDSSE. (Hoven depo., Exhibit 10).

26, The date of the service was February 2, 2009 and was documented in a letter dated
January 25, 2010. (id.). -

27. Banner also provided the Hovens (Madelynn Hoven) with an Elevation Certificate
dated May 11, 2010. (Johnson Affid., § 11; Exhibit “B”).

28. It lists the various elevations of the house, both in NAVDEE and NGVD29 datum,
(1d.).

29.  There is no expert or other admissible evidence that there is anything wrong with
the 2010 Elevation Certificate, that the elevations listed, and conversions shown, are inaccurate,
or that the Elevation Certificate violates the applicable profcésional standard of care, and, in fact,
‘the evidence is that it is accurate and complies with the professional standard of care. (Johnson
Affid., §12).

30. The Hovens claim to have sent the Elevation Certificate to their insurance carrier
so they could purchase flood insurance in 2010, which they did. (Mike Hoven depo., p.79-80; 88).

31 The Hovens did not even look at the Elevation Certificate at that time. (Mike Hoven
depo., p. 83).

32.  Nothing happened until 2019, when using the same 2010 Elevation Certificate, the
insurance carrier for the Hovens noted that the finished floor elevation of the house was below the
base flood elevation. (Mike Hoven depo., p. 79).

33, The Hovens had not renewed the flood insurance in the years between 2010 and
2019 and asked again for the insurance in 2019, which is when the issue was noted, and the cost

of flood insurance was quoted to be higher. (Mike Hoven Depo., p. 88).
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34.  The finished floor elevation of the house is 1809.1 (NGVD29)/1810.0 (NAVDRS).
The Base Flood Elevation is 1810.0 (NGVD29)/1810.9 (NAVDS88). The finished floor elevation
of the house constructed in 2007 was at an elevation 0.9 feet below the Base Flood Elevation. (See
exhibits to Johnson Affid.).

35.  The professional services performed by Banner were performed in accordance with
the professional standard of care. (Johnson Affid., 1] 13; Nielson Affid., § 5).

36,  Banner did not actively (or passively) conceal or withhold any information from
the plaintiffs and did not try to prevent them from knowing about any potential issues they may
have with any of the services provided by Banner. (Johnson Affid., | 14; Nielson Affid.,  6).

37.  The Summons was served in this matter in July 2019. The Complaint was not filed
until July 26, 2019,

Dated this 16™ day of March 2022,

/s/ Gregory H. Wheeler
Gregory H. Wheeler
BOYCE LAW FIRM, L.L.P.
300 S. Main Avenue
P.O. Box 5015
Sioux Falls, SD 57117-5015
(605) 336-2424
ghwheeler@boycelaw.com
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
I, Gregory H. Wheeler, hereby certify that [ am a member of Boyce Law Firm, L.L.P., and
that on the 16" day of March 2022, a true and correct copy of the foregoing was filed and served
through Odyssey upon the following:
Steven J. Oberg
Lynn, Jackson, Shultz & Lebrun, P.C.
110 N. Minnesota Ave,, Ste, 400

Sioux Falls, SD 57104
soberg@lynnjackson.com

s/ Gregory H. Wheeler
Gregory H. Wheeler
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STATE OF SOUTH DAKOTA ) IN CIRCUIT COURT

' S§S

COUNTY OF DAY ) FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
MICHAEL HOVEN AND MADELYNN 18CIV19-000037
HOVEN,

Plaintiffs, PLAINTIFES' RESPONSE TO

DEFENDANT'S STATEMENT OF

Vs, UNDISPUTED MATERIAL FACTS
BANNER ASSOCIATES, INC.,

Defendant.

Plaintiffs, Michael Hoven and Madelynn Hoven (*Hovens™), pursuant to SDCL §
15-6-56(c)(2), hereby submit their Response to the Statement of Undisputed Material
Facts by Defendant Banner Associates, Inc. (“Banner™),

1. Denmis and Carol Gregerson (“Gregersons’} retained Banner to petform
surveying services in relation to their property in 2006. (f ohnson Afﬁd.., 1 3).

RESPONSE: Admit.

2. The Gregersons were planning to subdivide their property and sell portions
of it, one piece of which was sold to the Hovens in 2007. (Mike Hoven depo., p. 17).

RESPONSE: Admit.

3. One of the services performed by Banner for the Gregersons was the
preparation of an Elevatién Certificate for the house they built on a portion of their
property. (Johnson Affid., 49 4-5).

| RESPONSE: Admit.

4, The elevation Certificate was prepared for the Gregersons in 2006.

1
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(Johnson Affid., § 5; Exhibit “A").

RESPONSE: Admit.

5. In performing the professional services for the Gregersons, Banner
determined a benchmark on the Gregerson property and set an iron pin at the location clJf
the benchmark on, or around, June 9, 2006. (Rames depo., pp. 39-41; Johnson Affid., §
6).

RESPONSE: Unknown, Banner’s records do reflect that a control point (CP)
with a recorded elevation of 1806.959 was established on Jun¢ 9, 2006, presumably to
“Shoot” clevations of the Gregerson cabin reflected in the Elevation Certificate dated July
24, 2006. (See Kent Johnson Affidavit Ex. A, Bates Nos. 020-021, and 028).

6. The location of the iron pin ended up being on the portion of the property
that was subdivided and later sold to the Hovens (specifically Madelynn Hoven). (Mike
Hoven depo., p. 29; Johnson Affid. ¥ 7) |

RESPONSE: Unknown. Mike Hoven’s cited testimony does not support this
assertion nor does it establish as undisputed fact that an iron pin was set on June 9, 2006,
or that “the iron pin” referenced was on thé lot Hovens later purchased. (Michael Hoven
depo., p. 29). If an elevation benchmark (“the iron pin”) was set by Banner in 2006 was
on the lot before Hovens purchased their lot, they were unaware.‘ {Michael Hoven
Affidavit § 10). Hovens had never seen it or the Gregerson Elevation Certificate until
Banner produced it to them in discovery in this lawsuit. Banner cites the Affidavit of
Kent Johnson, who apparentlj assumes that the control point (CP Lake Home) set for

Gregersons in 2006 was the benchmark (BM) that Banner later provided to Hovens for
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their construction with a stated elevation of 1806.96. (Mike Hoven depo. Ex. 2).
Banner’s records reflect a control point (CP) with a recorded elevation of 1806.959 Wés
set on June 9, 2006, presumably to “shoot” the elevations of Gregersons’ cabin as
reflected in the Elevation Certificate dated July 24, 2006. (See Johnson Affidavit Ex. A,
Bates Nos. 020-021, and 028). Banner’s records reflect the precise location of the
“contfoi pbint,” but no- such infonﬁation was given for the “elevation benchmark” Banner
provided to Hovens for the construction of their lake home. The fact that Banner
recorded and provided benchmarks with nearly identical elevations for two different
clients at two different times does not establish that “the iron pin” was in fact the same as
the “CP Lake Home” used for Gregersons’ elevation survey. If it was, Mike Hoven wds
not aware. (Mike Hoven Affidavit 9 10).

7. In mid-2007, Mike Hoven contacted Steve Rames, who was at the time an
employee of Banner, regarding the benchmark. (Mike Hoven depo., p. 29).

RESPONSE: Deny. See Response Nos. 6 and 7. Banﬁer suggests that Mike
Hoven knew about an existing benchmark on the lot that Hovens purchased. There is no
support for this assertion, and Mike Hoven was unaware of any existing benchﬁark.
(Mike Hoven Affidavit ¥ 10). Mike Hoven contacted Banner and Steve Rames
requesting a certified elevation benchmark for their construction. See Response No. 6.
Mike Hoven did not know about any existing CP Lake Home that existed or may have
existed on the lot they purchésed, or its location. | (Mike Hoven Affidavit 9 10). Mike
Hoven never cc;ntacted Baﬁner regarding “the benchmark” referenced in Response Nos. 5

and 6. Hovens admit Mike Hoven contacted Banner and its former professional land
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surveyor, Steve Rames, to request an elevation benchmark for construction after pouring
the footings, so forms could be set and walls poured to a sufficient height that the floor
would meet and exceed the 1810° Base Flood Elevation (BF E) at the location. (Mike
Hoven depo., pp. 27-32).

8. Mr. Hoven simply asked Mr. Rames for the elevation of the benchmark.
{(Mike Hoven depo., p. 29).

RESPONSE: Deny. See Response Nos. 6 and 7. Mike Hoven spoke with Mr.
Rames after the footings had been poured for the lake home below grade, about the |
Hovens’ need for an elevation benchmark before proceeding further, to ensure the walls
would be poured high enough so that the floor would meet or exceed 1810°, established
BFE set for the area and City building permit requirements. (Mike Hoven depo., pp. 27-
28; 40-41).

9. Banner sent a surveyor to mark the elevation of the iron pin. (Rames d.epo.,
pp. 45-47; Mike Hoven depo., pp. 49-54).

RESPONSE: Admit in part and deny in part. For reasons set forth in the
foregoing responses, Hovens deny and dispute that Banner sent a sﬁrveyor to mark “the
elevation of the iron pin.” If an iron pin had been set in connection with the Gregerson
elevation survey in 2006, Hovens wer.e not aware. (Mike Hoven .Afﬁdavit 9 10). Admit
that Banner sént an employee to set or locate and monument an elevation benchmark on
Hovens’ lot for their construction. Steve Rames sent Ron Bergen, an unlicensed surveyor
who was not qualified to work without supervision or to stamp and sig.n surveyé. (Steven

Rames depo., pp. 43-44, 47-48). Mr. Rames sealed and signed the survey depicting the
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location of the benchmark and its elevation, as Mike Hoven had requested for the
continued construction. The survey depicted an elevation of 1806.96 without any
reference to any vertical datum. (Mike Hoven depd. Ex. 2).

10.  The elevation of 1806.96 was marked on a lathe stake that was placed next
to the iron pin, (/d.).

RESPONSE: Admit.

11.  The work referenced in paragraphs 7 through 10 above occurred in 2007.
(1d.).

RESPONSE: Admit.

12, The elevation of the iron pin was noted as 1806.96 NAVDSS in the
Elevation Certificate provided to the Gregersons and the lathe stake was marked using
what had previously been determined for the Gregersons. (Rames depo., pp. 39-47;

J ohn.son Affid., Exhibit “A” p.12).

RESPONSE: Deny. First, 1806.96 is not referenced anywhere in the Elevation
Certificate. (See Johnson Affidavit Ex. A). The assertion than “the iron pin” was later
used to provide Hovens an elevation benchmark for their construction has not been
established. See Response Nos. 6 and 7. Further, deny any implication that the Elevation
Certificate Banner or the information that Banner had conveyed to Gregersons or the City
reléted thereto was ever provided to Hovens. A recérded elevation of 1806.959 is
referenced in documents produced by Banner, as a “CP” (control point) and was
apparently used to “shoot” elevations of Gregersons’ cabin. Hovens specifically deny

any implied assertion that the wooden lathe staked next to the elevation benchmark that
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Banner provided had anything but “1806.96” written on it or had any written reference to
any vertical datum on it. No vertical datum information was provided either on the lathe
at the site or on the corresponding survey “Mike Hove[n] Bench Mark™ that Banner
prepared and sent to Mike Hoven. (Mike Hoven depo. Ex. 5). Banner and Mr. Rames
are not aware that it ever provided any vertical datum information of any kind in
providing Hovens with an elevation benchmark for their construction. (Mike Hoven
Affidavit 1 9, 13; Rames depo. p. 65). |

13, Mr, Rames also sent a document to Mr. Hoven showing the property lines
for the subdivided Gregerson property and showing the benchmark at 1806.96. (See
Exhibit 5 to Mike Hoven depo.). |

RESPONSE: Admit that Mr. Rames sent Elxhibit 5 to Mike Hoven.

14.  No datum is referenced in the document and there were never any
discussions between Banner and the plaintiffs about the datum used. (fd._; Mike Hoven
depo., p. 56).

RESPONSE: Admit.

15. Mr. Hoven stated that he did not even ask any questions because he did not
know there were different datum. (Mike Hoven depﬁ., p- 47).

B RESPONSE: Admit that Mike Hoven testified he didn’t know there were
different datums. However, he knew Banner had éxtensive experience in this flood-
s_uspeptible area and Banner knew the elevation benqhmark was to be used for
constructing a lakeside home. Banner Was well aWare of the discrepancy in elevations

determined by NAVD 1988 versus elevations stated in the datum used by FEMA for the
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BFE of 1810’ and of the need for conversion to “the appropriate datum” NGVD 1929, as
required by the FIRM adopted by the City of Waubay.

16.  The document was never directly used by the Hovens in any way. (Mike
Hoven depo., p. 47), but instead, they claim that they believe that their concrete
contractor, Moe’s Concrete, used the elevation noted on the lathe stake next to the iron
pin in setting the foundation for the house. /d.

RESPONSE: Deny. Hovens used the Mike Hove[] Bench Mark survey to
convey information about its location and elevation to the concrete contractor. It is
undisputed that the elevation benchmark Banner identified or set and conveyed to Mike
Hoven for construction of their home was in fact used at Mike Hoven’s direction by their
concrete contractor to establish the correct height of the formed concrete walls to ensure
that the floor of their home would meet or exceed the BFE 1810’ at the site, and was in
fact transferred from the benchmark to the construction site a short.distance away for fhis
purpose. (Mike Hoven Affidavit 4 14-17). Banner’s later elevation survey reflected that
the floor of the home was 1810.19, exactly 2.28 inches over the 1810’ level, and
confirmed thét the contractor had used the beﬁchmark and had added a few inches at
Mike Hoven’s direction to ensure the floor would meet or exceed the 1810’ Base Flood
Elevation. (Mike Hoven depo., pp. 30-31; Mike Hoven Affidavit ¥ 20, Mike Ho.ven
depo. Ex. 10). Unfortunately, because the elevation benchmark was not converted .into
the appropriate datum NGVD 1929 as the FIRM adopted by Waubay City Ordjnance
required; and therefore, the home was built to meet an elevation of 1810 in the

inappropriate datum of NAVD 1988.
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17.  Banner was never officially retained by the Hovens in 2.006 or 2007, did
not bill the Hovens for any work at that time, and the Hovens never paid for any services
at that time. (Johnson A.fﬁ.d., 1 8).

RESPONSE: Deny in part and admit in part. Deny that Hovens did not
“officially retain” Banner. It is undisputed that Hovens reached out té and requested
Banner’s professional land-surveying services to provide an elevation benchmark for
construction to ensure the home would meet or exceed BFE published by FEMA in the
FIRM and as required by the City of Waubay at this location. (Mike Hoven depo., pp.
27,28, 38-39). Banner corresponded directly with the Hovens and provided a signed,
sealed and dated s1-1rvey to show the benchmark and its elevation. (Mike Hoven depo.
Ex. 2). Admifc that Banner apparently did not bill Hovens directly for this particular
professional services. Mike Hoven believes that they paid Gregersons for part of the
services billedl to them related to surveying their lot. (Mike Hoven depo., p. 25).

18.  Banner was not directly involved in the staking, layout or construction of
the Hovens’ héuse. {(Johnson Affid., § 9). |

RESPONSE: Admit in part and deny in part. Admit Banner did not stake or lay
out the structure of Hovens’ home. Deny that Banner had no direct involvement in the
constmctioﬁ. Banner’s direct involvement included staking out Hovens’ lot for replatting
the lot they purchased for construction of their lake home. Banner’s further direct
involvement included setting the elevation benchmaﬂc for further the construc.tion after
the footings had been poured, so that this elevlation could be transferred to the lproject for

construction of the walls to the proper height so the floor of the home would meet or
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exceed the 1810° BFE at the location, and without which, no construction could have
prpceeded. (Mike Hoven depo. pp. 27, 30, 31; Mike Hoven Affidavit 49 11-17).

[9.  Over the next few months in 2007, the Hovens built the house on the
property. (Mike Hoven depo., pp. 18-209).

RESPONSE: Deny. The home was not “built” in 2007. In 2007,‘the structure
was merely framed up, roofed, and sealed. (Mike Hoven depo. pp. 18-19}) It remained
uninsulated, unheated, and without permanent electrical service. The home was not
substantially complete or “livable” for several more years. Receipts for countertops,
Vanitiés, sinks, and drawers later installed in the lake home bearing dates in 2012 were
produced in written discovery. (Plaintiffs’ discovery Exhibit C — Pages 000083, 000087).
In 2010, Mike Hoven received a homeowner wiring permit for the structure, é copy of
V\-ihich was produced in written discovery. (Plaintiffs’ discovery Exhibit C — Page
000063). Permanent electrical service was not established to the home until several years
after construction began. (Mike Hoven depo., pp. 19-20). The home was not “livable”
until 20.13. {Mike Hoven depo p. 19).

20. The house was constructed and enclosed by the end of 2007 (M1ke Hoven
depo p. 20-21; Exhibit 1 to Mike Hoven Depo., Bates 150 to 152).

RESPONSE: Admit in part and deny in part. See Response No. 19, The home
was not “constructed” by the end 2007. Admit that the house was fully e_nclosed by the
end of 2007, but remained uninsulated, unheated, unsided, and without electrical services.
See Response No. 19. |

21.  The Hovens admitted that it was built by the end of 2007 and the
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photographs support that admission. (/d.).

RESPONSE: Deny. See Response Nos. 19 and 20,

22.  All elevations of the house were set at that time. (/d.)

RESPONSE: Deny. The structure was merely a shell and the floor of the garage
and finished floor inside had not been installed. See Response Nos. 19 and 20.

23.  The first time Banner was actually retained and paid by the Hovens was in
2009. (Johnson Affid., ¥ 10).

RESPONSE: Deny in part and admit in part. Deny that Hovens first retained
Baﬁnér in 2009. Mike Hoven personally retained Banner to locate and establish an
elevation benchmafk for construction of their lake home on a lot that Banner had
surveyed before their purchase. See prior responses. Admit Banner may not have billed
Hovens directly for any professional survey work before 200.9. However, Mike Hoven
believes that he and his wife split the survey costs for subdividing their lot with the'
Gregersons. (Mil;e Hoven depo., p. 25). |

| 24, In 2009, Banner shot an elevation for the first floor of the Hoven house.
(Rames depo., p. 67, Exhibit 10 (from Mike Hoven depo.); Johnson Affid., § 10).

RESPONSE: Admit.

25. The house was obviously constructed at that time., The ﬂoof elevation was
llsted at 1810 19 NAVDSS (Hoven depo., Exhibit 10).

RESPONSE: Admit in part and deny in part., Deny that the house was
“obviously constructed” by 2009. Sec Response Nos. 19-21. Admit that the floor

elevation was determined to be 1810.19 in the vertical datum NAVE&8 when it was
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surveyed in 2009. (Mike Hoven depo. Ex. 10).
- 26, The date of the service was February 2, 2009 and was documented in a
letter dated January 25, 2010. (/d.).

RESPONSE: Admit.

27.  Banner also provided the Hovens (Madelynn Hoven) with an Elevation
Certificate dated May 11, 2010. (Johnson Affid., J 11; Exhibit “B”).

RESPONSE: Admit.

28.- It lists the various elevations of the house, both in NAVDS88 and NGVD29
datum. (fd.).

RE_SPONSE: Deny. The Elevation Certificate speaks for itself. It simply lists
v.ertical elevations in feet and does not list them in both vertical datums. It only lists
them in NAVDSS. (Mike Hoven depo. Ex. 10).

29.  There is no expert or other admissible evidence that there is anything wrong
with the 2010 Elevation Certiﬁcate, that the elevations listed, and conversions shown, are
inaccurate, or that the Elevation Certificate violates the applicable professional standard
of care, and, in fact, the evidence is that it is accurate and complies with the professional
standard of care. (Johnson Affid., 9 12).

RESPGNSE: Deny. Although Hovens have not hired an expert at this‘ point, the
2010 Elevation Certificate speaks for itself and it states an elevation for the main floor
that differs from that set forth in Steven Rames’s letter dated January 25, 2010, which he
signed and sealed on Banner letterhead. (Compare Mike Hoven depo. Exhs. 10 and 11,

See also, Defendant’s Statement of Undisputed Fact No. 25 herein). Further, the
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Elevation Certificate is confusing and does not indicate that the Hovens’ lake home was
built at an elevation below City requirements. It also does not provide the mandatory |
conversion to “the appropriate datum” as is required by the FIRM adopted by Waubaf
City Ordinance. (Compare Johnson Affidavit Ex. A and Ex. B; Banner (26).

30.  The Hovens claim to have sent the Elevation Certificate to their insurance
carrier so they could purchase flood insurance in 2010, which they did. (Mike Hoven
depo., p.79-80; 88).

RESPONSE: Deny in part and admit in part. Admit that Hovens sent the
Elevation Certificate to their insurance carrier to purchasé flood insurance but deny that
;[his was dbne in 2010. The cited portiqns of Mike Hoven’s testimony do not establish
that it was sent to their insurance carrier in 2010. Mike Hoveﬁ said it was sent in 2019,
(Mike Hoven depo., p. 79). He further testified that they had purchased flood insurance
once before, but he did not know when. (Mike Hoven depo. p., 88). Madelyﬁn Hoven
thoughf.c it was in 2010. (Madelynn Hoven depo.,.pp. 19-21). However, a FEMA
representative wrote to Kent Johnson at Banner after the problem came to light and
indicated that “the last po.licy that they had from the NFIP was in 2013.” (Bannef 038).

31.  The Hovens did not éven look at the Elevation Certificate at that timé.
(Mike Hoven depo., p. 83).

RESPONSE: Deny. Madelynn Hoven testified that they were required to get it
i order to obtain flood insurance and that she called Banner to get an Elevation
Certificate. (Madelynn Hoven depo., pp. 19-21). Obviously, Hovens would have had to

“look at” it when they received it and when it was submitted in order to get flood

1

DEF APPX 020




insurance.

Mike Hoven testified that he did not “really look at it.” (Mike Hoven depo., p.
83). However, having just recently received Steve Rames’s verification that the elevation
was 1810.19°, at least a couple of inches above the minimum 18107, there would have
been little reason for Hovens to be concerned at the time, (Mike Hoven Affidavit q 20,
Mike Hoven depo. Ex. 10).

32.Nothing happened until 2019, when using the same 2010 Elevation Certificate,
the insurance carrier for the Hovens noted that the finished floor elevation of the house
was below the base flood elevation. (Mike Hoven depo., p. 79).

RESPONSE: Admit in part and deny in part. Admit that Hovens were first
notified ’chat the finished floor elevation was below BFE in the spring of 2019. Deny .that
“nothing happened until 2019.” Between the time of the Hoven Elevation Certificate and
2019, Hovens continued working to complete the home, including wiring the horﬁe,
sheétrocking, mstalling fixtures, decks, and other things before the lake home was
livable. (See Responses to Nos. 19 and 20). Further, Hovens secured flood insurance
once before 2019. (See Response No. 30).

33. The Hovens had not renewed the flood insurance in the years between 2010
and 2.019 and asked again for the insurance in 2019, Which is when the issue was notgd,
and_the.cost of flood insurance was quoted to be higher. (Mike Hoven Depo., p. 88). |
| RESPONSE: Deny in part and admit in part. Correspondence betwe.en FEMA

and Banner suggests that Hovené purchased flood insurance only once before 2619, but

that it may not have been in 2010. (Banner 038).
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34.  The finished floor elevation df the house is 1809.1 (NGVD29)/1810.0
(NAVDS8). The Base Flood Elevation is 1810.0 (NGVD29)/1810.9 (NAVDES). The
finished floor elevation of the house constructed in 2007 was at an elevation 0.9 fect
below the Base Flood Elevation. {See exhibits to Johnson Affid.).

RESPONSE: Deny in part and admit in part. Banner’s surveyed elevations for
the first floor of the lake home differ. Steve Rames verified the elevation at 1810.19°
NAVDSE. (Mike Hoven depo. Ex. 10). Kent Johnson later surveyed the elevation at
1810° NAVDSS. Admit that the BFE is 1810.0 (NGVD 29) but deny that this elevation
equals 1810.0° (NAVDSS). Instead, upon information and belief, 1t equals 1810..91 5’ in
vertlcal datum NAVD 1988. Admit that whatever elevation Banner provided (Rames 8
or Johnson s) in NAVD 1988 for the floor elevatlon when the appropriate datum
conversion was completed, equates to less than the 1810 BFE required under NGVD
1929. (Cofnpﬁre Mike Hoven depo. Ex. 10 and Johnson Affidavit Ex. B). |

35.  The professional services perforrﬁed by Banner were performed in
gccor_danc_e with the professional standard of care. (Johnson Afﬁd., § 13; Nielson Affid.,
& _

RESPONSE: Deny. Notwithstanding Banner’s self-serving assertion that the
professio.nal standard of care for professional surveyors was met in this instance, the |
evidence reﬂecfs otherwise. The former Banner professional surveyor and engineer
involved, Steve Rames, acknowledged that determining and depicting an elevation
benchmark is a function of the professional practice of land surveyiﬁg. (Rames depo., p.

48). In response to Mike Hoven's request for an elevation benchmark for their
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construction, Mr. Rames directed an unlicensed former Banner employee to go to the site
to identify and “monument” the benchmark. fd. Because the other Banner employee was
not licensed, he could not seal and sign the documents as a professional land surveyor
and could only act under Mr. Rames’s supervision. Jd. SDCL § 36-18A-45. This former
Banner employee went to the site, located the vertical benchmark, and put a wooden lathe
in the ground, to “monument” it so that Hovens would know where it was, what it was,
and the elevation at its location. (Rames depo., pp. 47-48). A survey depicted the
location of “Mike Hove[n] Bench .Mark” as “BM” and its elevation asg 1 809.97_” without
reference to any vertical datum, (Mike Hoven depo. Ex. 2). Mr. Rames stamped the
survey with his seal and signed and dated it “9-5-07.” On it, he wrote a note to Mike
Hoven: “Mike, This is what | have.” (Rames depo., p. 47; Mike Hoven depo. Ex. 2)

| Mr. Rames is familiar with the Guidelines for the Professional Practice of Land
Suwéying in South Dakota published by the South Dakota Society of Professional Land
Surveyors, Inc. (Rames depo., p. 51; Rames depo. Ex. 5). He acknowledges that if a
pi‘ofessional surveyor’s work is “preliminary,” then it should include a note that it is “not
for construction, preliminary” or some other such explanation should be provided. The
document depicting the “Mike Hove[n] Bench Mark” was not noted to be prelimingry or
unsuitable for construction. (Rames depo., pp. 49-50). Under professional guidelir;es, a
professional surveyor is supposed to “fo obtain sufficient information from the client so
as to obtain an understanding of the client’s needs and requirements [and] [i]{ the
required.scop'e of services is not evidence based on the client’s request and the expertise

of the surveying professional, and it is necessafy to obtain additional information not
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supplried by the client, it is récbmmended that the land surveyor advise the client that such
information should be furnished or obtained prior to determining the necessary services.”
(Rames depo., pp. 52-53). Mr. Rames acknowledges that is important for a professional
surveyor to know why the client is requesting land surveying services. (Rames depo., p.
53).

Mr. Rames acknowledges that a benchmark is similar to a topographical survey in
that it records a known positions in three dimensions. (Rames depo., p. 55). Professional
guidelin.es recommend that a “vertical datum” be included on any topographical survey.
(Rames depo., i)p. 55-56). Mr. Rames, who now lives and practices in Nebraska,
acknowledged that Nebraska’s minimum standards adopted by the Professional
Surveyors-Association of NeBraska define a benchmark as “an identiﬁable stable point
for which there is a known elevati.on referenced to an assuméd llocal, State or national
datum plane.” (Rames depo., pp. 57-58). A vertical benchmark is a known point in
reference to some datum plane. (Rames depo., p. 58). He acknowlédges that under
Nebraska standards, three-dimensional descriptions must contain elevations referénced to

a defined datum. (Rames depo., p. 59). When asked whether vertical benchmafk should
always have a vertical datum associated with them for clafity, Mr. Rames responded by
stating, “There’s certainly a clarity component to a datum.” (Rames depo., p. 57). He
seems to agree that the supplier of geospatial data like benchmark elevations should
proﬁde relevant datum information, because as in this instance involving the Hovens’
lake home, the difference can be as much as 10.98 inches depending on the datum used to

give the elevation. (Rames depo., p. 60). Mr. Rames does not know why the Hovens
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were not given any information regarding the vertical datum associated with the
benchmark. (Rames depo., p. 59). The FIRM mandated that elevations be converted to
NGVD 1929 for comparison to the BFE established in that datum, and the City had
adopted the FIRM. (Mike Hoven Affidavit Ex. A; Johnson Affidavit Ex. A; Banner 038).
Banner knew that the elevation benchmark provided to Hovens for their construction
indicated an elevation that was .915 feet lower than it would be if the appropriate datum
conversion to NGVD 1929 were completed so that it could be compared to BFE.
Professional rules of conduct that govern mandated that Banner notify Hovens of the
violation of the City’s minimum elevation requirement. (A.R.S.D. §§ 20:38:36:01(21)
and (22). |

o 36. N .Banner did not actively (or passively) conceal or withhold any .infon-nation :
from the plaintiffs and did not try to prevent them from knowiﬁg about any potential. |
iésues thgy rﬁay have With any of the services provided by Banner. (J ohnson Afﬁd.r, | 1_4;
Nieléon Afﬁd j] 6). | |

| RESPONSE: Deny. Bannerrknew an elevation stated in NAVD 1988 would

0§erstate the elevation by .915°, and knew as early as Febmary of 2009 that the Hovens’
lake home did not meet the FIRM BFE of 1810° NGVD for this location. (Mike Hoven
depo. Ex 10). Banner knew any elevation it determined using NAVD 1988 would né¢d
to be converted to NGV 1929 and lowered accordingly. Banner knew an elevation of
1810° NAVD 1988 as determined for the floor of the Hovens’ lake home in 2010 did not
rﬁeet ;[he BFE published in the FIRM and adopted by the City for this location. Banner

had a duty of fidelity that it owed to Hovens. A.R.S.D. § 20:38:36:01(4). Banner also
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had a duty to notify Hovens of the violation of the minimum elevation requirement,
adopted by the City of Waubay as a minimum requirement, having determined that
inadequately elevated construction contributed to flood losses. (A.R.S.D. §§
20:38:36:01(21) and (22); Mike Hoven Affidavit Ex. A)). Yet Banner said nothing,
37.  The Summons was served in this matter in July 2019. The Complaint was
not filed until July 26, 2019,
RESPONSE: Admit.
Dated April 6, 2022,
LYNN, JACKSON, SHULTZ & LEBRUN, P.C,
/s/ Steven J. Oberg
Steven J. Oberg
110 N. Minnesota Ave., Ste. 400
Sioux Falls, 8D 57104
Telephone; (605) 332-5999

E-mail: soberg@lynnjackson.com
Attorney for Plaintiffs

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

The undersigned hereby certifies on April 6, 2022, I caused the following
document: '

¢ PLAINTIFFS’ RESPONSE TO DEFENDANT’S STATEMENT OF
UNDISPUTED MATERIAL FACTS

to be filed electronically with the Clerk of Court through Odyssey File & Serve, and that
Odyssey File & Serve will serve an electronic copy upon the following:

Gregory H. Wheeler

Boyce Law Firm, L.L.P.

300 S. Main Avenue

PO Box 5015

Sioux Falls, SD 57117-5015
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Telephone: (605) 336-2424
E-mail; ghwheeler@boycelaw.com
Attorney for Defendant

/s/ Steven J. Oberg
Steven J. Oberg
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JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

Plaintiffs/Appellees Michael Hoven and Madelynn Hoven (“Hovens™)
references its Jurisdictional Statement in the related Appeal No. 3005 and do not
disagree with the Jurisdictional Statement offered by Defendant/Appellant Banner
Associates, Inc. (“Banner”) in this appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Whether Banner was entitled to summary judgment based on SDCL
15-2A-3?

The Circuit Court properly determined that Banner is not entitled to
summary judgment because issues of fact exist regarding whether
substantial completion occurred within ten (10) years of the
commencement of the Hovens’ lawsuit.

SDCL 15-2A-3
SDCL 15-2A-7

2. Whether Banner was entitled to summary judgment based on SDCL
15-2-13?

The Circuit Court properly denied Banner’s motion for summary judgment
under SDCL 15-2-13, even if that statute of limitations and SDCL 15-2A-3
are not mutually exclusive, because issues of material fact exist regarding
when the Hovens’ cause of action accrued and whether Banner fraudulently
concealed from them the fact that their lake home is inadequately elevated.

SDCL 15-2-13
Yankton County v. McAllister, 2022 S.D. 37, 977 N.W.2d 327

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Michael and Madelynn Hoven (“Hovens”) brought this action against
Banner Associates, Inc. (“Banner”) alleging that it was negligent in providing an

elevation benchmark for their construction of a lake home in a vertical datum



inappropriate for such purpose, and that Banner later fraudulently concealed from
them that as a result, their home is inadequately elevated. Banner moved for
summary judgment asserting that Hovens’ claim is time-barred under SDCL 15-
2A-3 or under one or more statutes of limitation and that no material issues of fact
exist to support their claim of fraudulent concealment. In an Order dated May 13,
2022, the circuit court denied Banner’s motion under SDCL 15-2A-3 and SDCL
15-2-13, but partially granted its motion on Hovens’ claim of fraudulent
concealment. This Honorable Court granted Banner’s petition to file a
discretionary appeal. This appeal followed.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Mike and Madelynn Hoven (hereinafter “Hovens”) previously submitted
their statement of facts in Appellants’ Brief in companion Appeal No. 3005.
They incorporate by reference that statement and will attempt to confine their
statement herein to those facts necessary to clarify the record in this appeal.

Banner begins its own statement noting that before doing anything for the
Hovens, it had first performed professional services for Dennis and Carol
Gregersons, from whom the Hovens purchased their lot. As part of that survey
work, Banner had apparently set an iron pin on the Gregersons’ property on or
around June 9, 2006. (Banner Br. p. 3). Banner suggests this iron pin, designated
as “CP-Lake Home,” was later located and designated as the “Mike Hove[n]

Bench Mark” in 2007. Banner states:



In mid-2007, Mike Hoven contacted Steven Rames, a former employee of
Banner, regarding the benchmark. (CR 85). Mr. Hoven simply asked Mr.
Rames for the elevation of the benchmark. (CR 85).

Banner omits the fact that the Hovens disputed this assertion. (CR 131).

Mike Hoven knew nothing about any existing benchmark on their property.
Contrary to Banner’s assertion, he did not “simply ask” Banner for the elevation of
a pre-existing elevation benchmark. Instead, as Mike Hoven stated in his
affidavit, he explained to former Banner land surveyor, Steven Rames, their need
for an elevation benchmark to ensure that the home as constructed would meet or
exceed the City’s minimum floor elevation requirement at 1810°, the Base Flood
Elevation (BFE). In his affidavit, Mike Hoven stated specifically as follows:

8. | called Banner to request an elevation benchmark before the walls of our

lake home were poured, spoke with Steven Rames, and explained our need

for a surveyed elevation benchmark for the continued construction of our
home. I discussed with him that the floor had to be at least 1810’ to meet

the BFE under City of Waubay and FEMA requirements. He voiced an
understanding of the requirement and our need for an elevation benchmark.

10. Mr. Rames said nothing about any existing elevation benchmark
already on site, and | knew nothing about any elevation benchmark that
may have already existed on site. If an elevation benchmark did already
exist, | was unaware of it or its location.
(CR 151).
Mr. Rames admitted that the “Mike Hove[n] Bench Mark” is a survey of
the elevation benchmark Banner set on Hovens’ property. (CR 199). While Mr.

Rames thought it may have been the same point previously designated as “CP-

Lake Home” in connection with the Gregerson elevation survey in 2006, he does



not know this. Nothing in the record served to establish that the two points were
in the same location. Further, Mr. Rames was not there when the “Mike Hove[n]
Bench Mark” was set on the property. (CR 199). On August 23, 2007, Dennis
Gregerson, who sold the Hovens the lot, sent them an email indicating Banner had
“stopped by with their satellite equipment and [had] shot the lot.”” At that time, he
further advised them that Banner would be in touch when it had put the
information to paper. (CR 206). Mr. Rames conceded on pages 66 and 67 of his
deposition that Mr. Gregerson (now deceased) may have been referring to
“shooting the elevation of Lot 11” reflected in the “Mike Hove[n] Bench Mark”
that he signed, sealed, dated, and sent to the Hovens in early September of 2007.
(CR 206; 102).

Banner also seems to now suggest for the first time that the vertical datum
for the “Mike Hove[n] Bench Mark may have been written on a wooden lathe
placed next to the elevation benchmark it provided for the Hovens’ construction.
Banner states:

Banner sent a surveyor to mark the elevation of the iron pin in 2007. (CR

87-88; 95). The elevation of 1806.96 was marked on a lathe stake that was

placed next to the iron pin. (CR 87-88; 95).

The elevation of the pin that was noted on the lathe stake was 1806.96
NAVD88. (CR 87-88; 95).

(Banner Br. pp. 3-4). If Banner intended to make this suggestion, there is no

evidence to support it. Steven Rames testified:



Q. You’re not aware of anyone ever telling Mike Hoven that the

benchmark elevation was in the 88 datum as opposed to the 29 datum, do

you — or are you?

A. No.
(CR 206). Mike Hoven testified there was never any discussion with Banner
about datums or the datum associated with the elevation benchmark
Banner provided for their construction. (CR 88).

Banner asserts that it “was never officially retained by the Hovens in 2007,
did not bill them for any work at that time, and [that] Hovens never paid for any
services at that time.” (Banner Br. p. 4). Again, Banner states that Mike Hoven
simply asked for elevation of the benchmark and suggests that it had no idea why
he asked for this as there were no improvements on the property at that time.
(Banner Br. p. 3). Yet Banner was specifically advised why the Hovens needed
the elevation benchmark, according to Mike Hoven. (CR 150-151). Banner
already knew that the Gregersons were subdividing their property to sell lots and
had already been involved in re-platting the enlarged lot that the Hovens had
purchased for the site of their lake home. 1d. When Banner set and/or
monumented the “Mike Hove[n] Bench Mark,” trenches around the perimeter of
the home had already been dug and footing had already been poured, and the
Hovens had mobilized construction equipment and materials to the site for the
build. The construction on-site was open and obvious. (CR 152). Although

Banner tries to now suggest that it did not know why Hovens needed the elevation

benchmark, Mr. Rames also admitted that it was his responsibility as a

5



professional land surveyor to determine why his clients were requesting this
professional land surveying service. (CR 203). Although Mr. Rames also
suggests that the Hovens never “officially” retained Banner in 2007, he also
acknowledged that it is the professional land surveyor’s obligation to provide
clients with a written contract, a professional service agreement, a memorandum,
or a letter to confirm the services to be performed, as the Guidelines for the
Professional Practice of Land Surveying in South Dakota suggest. (CR 203).

Mr. Rames provided the “Mike Hove[n] Bench Mark” survey stamped with
his seal, signed and dated, as required when submitting such work to clients.
SDCL 36-18A-45. At pages 49-50 of his deposition, Mr. Rames acknowledged
that if the survey was preliminary or could not be used for construction, then he
was required by law (SDCL 36-18A-45(2)) to note this on it. (CR 202).

Banner also suggests the “Mike Hove[n] Benchmark” was never actually
used in the Hovens’ construction of their lake home. (Banner Br. p. 4). Banner
states, “Instead, they claim that they believe that their concrete contractor, Moe’s
Concrete, used the elevation noted on the lathe stake next to the iron pin in setting
the foundation for the house.” (Banner Br. p. 4). In fact, Mike Hoven discussed
the need for the surveyed elevation benchmark not only with Mr. Rames, but also
with their contractor, before the forms for the walls were ever set. The forms
could not be set without the elevation benchmark, because the walls had to be a
sufficient height in order to ensure that the floor elevation would meet or exceed

the City’s critical BFE requirement. (CR 181). Together, Mike and the contractor
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had calculated the height of the plate that would sit on top of the foundation walls,
the floor trusses, and the flooring material to be added. (CR 181-183). The only
thing they needed before the walls were poured was a surveyed elevation
benchmark that could be transferred to the project. Mike discussed this with the
contractor as well as with Steven Rames before the benchmark was set. (CR 181).
The evidence further shows the benchmark was used for the construction. The
elevation of the “Mike Hove[n] Bench Mark” was provided in the inappropriate
datum of NAVD88, which overstated the elevation by approximately .9 feet when
compared to the BFE in the appropriate datum of NGVD 1929. As a result, the
finished floor elevation of the Hovens’ lake home is approximately .9 feet lower
than the required minimum of the BFE in NGVD 1929. (Banner Br. p. 5). While
Banner seems to suggest this is merely coincidental, the reason is clear.

Banner also asserts that Hovens built their lake home in a few months and
completed it in 2007. (Banner Br. p. 4). The undisputed fact is that the Hovens
built their lake home over the course of several years as time allowed. They did
not substantially complete the home until sometime in 2013. (CR 150; 153).

Banner states that it was actually retained and paid for the first time in
2009, when Steven Rames returned and shot the floor elevation of the Hovens’
lake home. (Banner Br. p. 5). Banner asserts that this somehow proves that the
house was substantially completed at that time. 1d. Again, Hovens refuted this

assertion and produced documents reflecting that they did not even purchase a



kitchen countertop until the spring of 2012, when they purchased the countertop
from Menards in Watertown, South Dakota. (CR 150; 15; 368).

At the Hovens’ request, Mr. Rames did shoot the critical floor elevation of
their lake home on February 2, 2009. However, he did not provide this critical
elevation in writing until January of 2010. (CR 187-188; 279). When he did
finally provide the floor elevation, he stated it as 1810.19 in the inappropriate
datum of NAVD 88, which could not be compared directly to the BFE without the
appropriate datum conversion to NGVD 1929 as the Flood Insurance Rate Map
(FIRM) adopted by the City mandated. (CR 104). As a result, Hovens were left
believing that Mr. Rames, who had provided the benchmark for the start of their
construction, had confirmed that the critical floor elevation exceeded the minimum
1810’ BFE requirement. (CR 150; 153; 181; 183-184; 188).

In May of 2010, Hovens requested that Banner prepare an Elevation
Certificate for their home. Banner asserts that the Elevation Certificate listed all
the various elevations in NAVD88 and NGVD29. (Banner Br. p. 5). It does not.
Instead, it states the floor elevation in NAVD 88 and does not provide the
appropriate datum conversion to NGVD 1929 for a direct comparison to the BFE.
(CR 67-74).

While Banner asserts the Hovens should have known then that their home
was inadequately elevated from information it provided with the Elevation
Certificate, the Hovens thought Mr. Rames had already confirmed the proper

elevation of their home. (CR 153). Mr. Rames even disputed the suggestion that

8



Banner would have known by the spring of 2010 that the home was too low. He
testified on page 67 of his deposition as follows:
Q. Showing you what’s been marked as Hoven Exhibit Number 10, this is
again your letter dated January 25, 2010 that we looked at earlier. | think
you referenced again that “On February 2, 2009, Banner Associates shot
the first floor of the house/structure located at 618 West Lakeshore Drive in
Waubay, South Dakota. The floor elevation was 1810.19 in the datum of
NAVD 88.” Do you see that?
A. Yes.

Q. Then as we talked about, later that spring Kent Johnson signed the
elevation certificate for the Hovens on the cabin, correct?

A. Yes.

Q. Banner Associates would have known by that time that this cabin had

been built to an elevation that was less than the BFE at this location,

correct?

[objection omitted]

A. Tdon’t—1Idon’t know. I don’t know how they would have known that.”
(CR 96).

Although Steven Rames tried to assert that Banner would not have known
by the spring of 2010 that the Hovens’ lake home was too low, Banner had already
admitted in response to Requests for Admission as follows:

“Banner admits that it knew by May 11, 2010 the elevation of the finished

floor of the house at the subject property was below the Base Flood

Elevation from FEMA.”

(CR 329). Kent Johnson, who prepared the Hovens’ Elevation Certificate, had

previously prepared an Elevation Certificate for the Gregersons’ cabin next door.

However, he had also sent the Gregersons’ Elevation Certificate to the City of
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Waubay for recording the elevation as the City ordinance requires. (CR 342; CR
163) Along with their Elevation Certificate, he had also sent a cover letter copied
to the Gregersons in which he had carefully explained to the City and to his clients
the difference in the vertical datums and the corresponding need for “the
appropriate datum conversion” to NGVD 1929. (CR 342). When he prepared the
Hovens’ Elevation Certificate, he apparently did not send it to the City and he
offered no similar clarification. Despite having actual knowledge, he and Banner
never told the Hovens they were finishing their lake home at an inadequate
elevation that did not comply with the law in this area of special flood hazard.

(CR 153). Again, the Hovens assumed Mr. Rames had already verified the proper
critical floor elevation. (CR 153).

When Hovens applied for flood insurance the first time and submitted the
Elevation Certificate, no one raised an issue. (CR 153). FEMA apparently did
not discern from the Elevation Certificate that the lake home was too low. Id. A
flood insurance policy was issued without issue. In 2019, however, when the
Hovens applied for flood insurance for only the second time, FEMA realized that
at the stated elevation in NAVD 88, when converted to the appropriate datum of
NGVD 1929, itis too low. FEMA brought this to the Hovens’ attention. When
the Hovens realized their home had been constructed at an elevation too low to
meet the minimum legal requirement, and further realized that Banner (which had

provided the benchmark for the construction in the inappropriate datum) had
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known this since 2009 or 2010, they promptly filed their lawsuit and asserted their
claim of fraudulent concealment. (CR 154).

After limited discovery, Banner moved for summary judgment. The trial
court denied Banner’s motion in part, finding that material issues of fact exist
regarding when substantial completion occurred that preclude summary judgment
under SDCL 15-2A-3. The trial court further denied Banner’s assertion that the
statute of limitation in SDCL 15-2-13 applies to bar the Hovens’ claim. However,
the trial court granted partial summary judgment to Banner on the Hovens’ their
claim of fraudulent concealment. Banner and the Hovens each sought and
obtained permission from this Honorable Court to pursue their discretionary cross-
appeals. This appeal followed.

LEGAL ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITIES

A grant or denial of summary judgment is reviewed de novo. Abata v.
Pennington Cnty. Bd of Comm’rs., 2019 S.D. 39, 1 8, 931 N.W.2d 714, 718. The
South Dakota Supreme Court reviews trial court rulings on motions for summary
judgment de novo. On a motion for summary judgment, however, all facts and all
reasonable inferences that may be drawn from the facts must be viewed in a light
most favorable to the non-moving party. Luther v. City of Winner, 2004 S.D. 1, |
6, 674 N.W.2d 339, 343. SDCL 15-6-56(c). On summary judgment involving
questions of fraud, courts are not free “to weigh the evidence and determine the
matters' truth.” Olson v. Berggren, 2021 S.D. 58, 1 29, 965 N.W.2d 442, 452;

quoting Hanna v. Landsman, 2020 S.D. S.D. 33, 1 37, 945 N.W.2d 534, 545

11



(citation omitted). “Questions of fraud and deceit are normally questions of fact
and as such are to be determined by a jury.” Commercial Credit Equipment Corp.
v. Johnson, 209 N.W.2d 548, 551 (S.D. 1973). Finally, as the South Dakota
Supreme Court has stated, “It is a matter of settled law that this court may affirm
even where the circuit court reaches the correct result for the wrong reason.”
Oldham-Ramona Sch. Dist. v. Jensen, 503 N.W.2d 260, 264 (S.D. 1993).

A. The Trial Court Correctly Determined That Issues of Fact Precluded
Summary Judgment In Banner’s Favor Under SDCL § 15-2A-3

Banner ignores the settled standard that govern summary judgment. When
the evidence is viewed under the correct standard, in a light most favorable to the
Hovens, Banner failed to establish that Hovens’ lake home was substantially
completed more than ten (10) years before the commencement of their lawsuit and
that their claims are barred as a matter of law under SDCL §15-2A-3. Banner
continues to argue without any factual support that the Hovens’ lake home was
built in 2007 or substantially completed by 2009. The facts reflect that the home
was not substantially completed for several more years.

Banner also ignores the plain text of SDCL 15-2A-3, which provides in
relevant part as follows:

The date of substantial completion shall be determined by the date when

construction is sufficiently complete so that the owner ... can occupy or use

the improvement for the use it was intended.

[emphasis added]. The statute mandates that “substantial completion” be

determined by when the improvement can be occupied or used as intended. In
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2012, the Hovens were just purchasing kitchen countertops and bathroom fixtures
for their home. (CR 364-369). They were still installing fixtures, wiring the
home, and doing other work needed before they could occupy or use the home as
such.

The South Dakota Supreme Court has stated, “In conducting statutory
interpretation, we give words their plain meaning and effect, and read statutes as a
whole.” State v. Bowers, 2018 S.D. 50, { 16, 915 N.W.2d 161, 166 (quoting
Expungement of Oliver, 2012 S.D. 9, 1 6, 810 N.W.2d 350, 352). While Banner
argues that “substantial completion” occurred by 2009, when Banner “shot” and
verified the lake home’s critical floor elevation, “substantial completion™ is not
tied to or determined by when the elevation of the improvement can be surveyed.
The date of substantial completion is not tied to the completion of any particular
phase of construction. Nor is the repose period triggered by the last culpable act
or omission of a defendant.

As the South Dakota Supreme Court has recognized, SDCL 15-2A-3
“explicitly provides a different date from which to measure.” Brude v. Breen,
2017 S.D. 46, 19, 900 N.W.2d 301, 305. The Legislature expressed its intent in
SDCL 15-2A-1, stating, “Therefore, it is in the public interest to set a point in time
following the substantial completion of the project after which no action may be
brought[.]” Id.

Ignoring the plain language of the statute, Banner suggests that every real

estate improvement has multiple dates of substantial completion, applicable to
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each phase of the project. However, this argument finds no support in the statute
and is not what the Legislature has said. Substantial completion of “the project”
only occurs when a real estate improvement can be used or occupied for its
intended purpose. This means of determining substantial completion is not a
novel concept. “Substantial completion” is ordinarily understood to mean the date
by which all material elements of the work are sufficiently complete so that the
owner can use the work for its intended purpose. 5 Bruner & O’Connor
Construction Law § 15:15.

Courts are not at liberty to rewrite statutes. As this Court has said, “The
intent of a statute is determined from what the Legislature said, rather than what
we think it should have said.” Engesser v. Young, 2014 S.D. 81, § 22 n.1, 856
N.W.2d 471, 478 n.1 (quoting Esling v. Krambeck, 2003 S.D. 59, { 6, 663 N.W.2d
671, 676). The Circuit Court correctly determined that issues of material fact exist
to preclude summary judgment in Banner’s favor under SDCL 15-2A-3.

B. The Circuit Court Correctly Denied Banner’s Motion for Summary

Judgment Under SDCL 15-2-13 Because, Even if This Statute May

Otherwise Apply, Material Issues of Fact Exist Regarding When

Hovens’ Cause of Action Accrued and Support Their Claim of
Fraudulently Concealment That Tolls the Statute of Limitations

Banner asserts that the trial court erred in denying its motion for summary
judgment under the six-year statute of limitations stated in one or more
subsections of SDCL 15-2-13. Banner devotes a large portion of its brief to its
argument that the Circuit Court erred in determining that the statute did not apply.

(See Banner’s Br. pp. 6, 8-11). Banner has cited cases that do seem to support its
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position that these two statutes are not mutually exclusive. Yet the issue may not
be as clear as Banner suggests. The Supreme Court has referred to SDCL 815-2A-
3 as a statute of repose and has indicated that its application does not exclude the
operation of the statute of limitations in SDCL 15-2-13. However, the South
Dakota Supreme Court has also repeatedly referred to SDCL 15-2A-3 and its
predecessor statute as a statute of limitations. With the exception of the time
specified in SDCL 15-2A-3, its wording is nearly identical to its predecessor
statute, SDCL 15-2-9 (repealed in 1985). See, Clark County v. Sioux Equipment
Corp., 2008 S.D. 60, 753 N.W.2d 406, ftnt. 4. In Zacher v. Budd Co., 396 N.W.2d
122, 130 (S.D. 1986), the Court referred to SDCL 15-2-9 as “the six year statute of
limitations for deficiencies in construction of improvements to real property.” In
Cleveland v. City of Lead, 2003 S.D. 54, 1 35, 633 N.W.2d 212, 221, the Supreme
Court referred to Daugaard v. Baltic Cooperative Building Supply Assoc., 349
N.W.2d 419 (S.D. 1984), which declared SDCL § 15-2-9 unconstitutional, and
indicated that the circuit court in that case had “dismissed the plaintiffs’
complaints due to the six-year statutes of limitation proscribed in SDCL 15-2-9,
which was SDCL 15-2A-3’s predecessor.” In the very first opportunity to address
SDCL 815-2A-3, in Klinker v. Beach, 1996 S.D. 56, 547 N.W.2d 572, the
Supreme Court noted the Legislature’s intent in enacting SDCL Ch. 15 and stated,
“The statute of limitations found in SDCL 15-2A-3 is in conformity with this
stated intent.” Id. at ] 11, 547 N.W.2d at 575. Furthermore, statutes of repose

may not be avoided by claims of fraudulent concealment, estoppel or through
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equitable tolling. Pitt-Hart v. Sanford USD Med. Ctr., 2016 S.D. 33, 878 N.W.2d
406 (discussing the distinction between a statute of limitations and a statute of
repose). Yet SDCL §15-2A-7 explicitly operates to estop a party guilty of
fraudulent concealment from asserting the time limit.

Regardless, the circuit court reached the correct result here and should be
affirmed. See, Oldham-Ramona Sch. Dist. v. Jensen, 503 N.W.2d 260, 264 (S.D.
1993). Issues of fact exist regarding when the Hovens’ cause of action accrued
and support the Hovens’ claim of fraudulent concealment against Banner. An
action for relief on grounds of fraud shall not be deemed to have accrued until the
aggrieved party discovers or has actual or constructive notice of the facts
constituting the fraud. SDCL 8§ 15-2A-3. While Banner asserts that the Hovens’
claims are time barred under SDCL 15-2-13, it acknowledges as it must that
“[f]raudulent concealment may [also] toll the statute of limitations.” Yankton
County v. McAllister, 2022 S.D. 37, 1 34, 977 N.W.2d 327, 339.

A claim of fraudulent concealment is premised on the following definition
of deceit in SDCL 20-10-1:

The suppression of a fact by one who is bound to disclose it, or who gives

information of other facts which are likely to mislead for want of

communication of that fact.
Schwartz v. Morgan, 2009 S.D. 110, 8, 776 N.W.2d 827, 829. Whether a duty

to disclose existed is a question of law that the Supreme Court reviews de novo.

Id. at 1 10, 776 N.W.2d at 830.
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Banner argues that it had no duty to speak because there was no fiduciary
relationship between it and the Hovens. Banner maintains that it was therefore at
liberty to remain silent when the Hovens asked it to verify the proper critical floor
elevation. Having provided the elevation benchmark at the start of construction of
their construction in the inappropriate vertical datum, Banner maintains that it met
its duty to the Hovens by providing them the accurate floor elevation again in the
inappropriate datum and leaving them to do the appropriate datum conversion and
figure out for themselves that it did not meet the BFE.

Mr. Rames returned in early 2009, at Hovens’ request, and “shot” the floor
elevation. He said nothing. Almost a year later, he sent the Hovens a letter stating
the elevation in the inappropriate vertical datum, which could not be compared
directly to the BFE as the FIRM mandates. This left the Hovens believing they
had exceeded the minimum floor-elevation requirement. When Banner shot the
critical floor elevation again in the spring of 2010, it knew the surveyed elevation
was below the minimum legal requirement. Again, Banner said nothing and
claims it had no duty to inform the Hovens of this fact. It asserts that they could
and should have been able to figure this out for themselves from the information it
provided. However, Steven Rames, unaware that Banner had already admitted
that it knew by the spring of 2010 that their home was too low, disputed the
Hovens’ suggestion that Banner would have known this from its surveys.

Kent Johnson clearly did know. He also knew the difference between the

vertical datum that Banner uses and the datum used for the BFE in the FIRM may
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cause confusion for its clients and for public authorities. He had clarified this for
the City and for the Gregersons back in 2006. Yet, despite knowing that the
Hovens were constructing their lakeside home in this area of special flood hazard
at an elevation that is too low, he opted not to tell them or anyone. The only
reasonable inference to be drawn from these facts is that Banner did not want the
Hovens to know this, after having set the elevation benchmark for their
construction in a vertical datum inappropriate for such use. After Steven Rames
had verified the critical floor elevation in 2009 and left the Hovens believing that
they had exceeded the minimum requirement, Banner did nothing to clarify the
fact and disabuse them from thinking they had met the minimum legal
requirement.

Banner and its agents ignored and continue to ignore the mandatory rules of
professional conduct that govern their profession and their conduct. These
mandatory rules were established to safeguard life, health, safety, welfare, and
property. These rules were binding on both Banner and its professional land
surveyors. See ARSD 20:38:36:01. Under these mandatory rules, Banner and its
agents owed a duty of fidelity to the Hovens. See ARSD 20:38:36:01(4). In
conducting their work, they had a duty to take into account all state and municipal
laws and ordinances. See ARSD 20:38:36:01(21). This would include the FIRM
adopted by City of Waubay in its Ordinance, and the mandate that all elevations

and all structures be compared to the BFE in the same vertical datum (NGVD
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1929). Banner and its professional surveyors ignored this FIRM mandate
throughout the course of their dealings with the Hovens.

When Banner verified the critical floor elevation midway through
construction and knew the home stood in violation of this legal minimum
requirement, Banner must have also realized that the deficiency equaled the
“datum shift” between the datums at this location. Rather than disclosing the
deficiency or the reason for it, however, Banner opted to keep the Hovens and the
City of Waubay in the dark and let them continue construction.

Under the mandatory rules of professional conduct, beyond their duty of
fidelity to their clients, Banner and its agents were obligated to be “completely
objective and truthful” in all professional reports or statements and had a duty to
“include all relevant and pertinent information.” ARSD 20:38:36:01(25). Upon
becoming “aware of an action taken by the[eir] client[s] which violate[d]
applicable ... municipal laws and regulations [] and which w[ould] ... adversely
affect the life, health, safety, welfare and property of the public,” Banner and its
agents had a duty to advise their clients and to notify the public authority if their
clients persisted notwithstanding such advice. ARSD 20:38:36:01(22).

Banner claims it fulfilled its duties because the facts were “clearly shown
and spelled out” in the Elevation Certificate. (Banner Br. p. 13). Again, Mr.
Rames disputed this and tried to assert that even Banner would not have known

that the home was too low at the time. Banner did know and now suggests that it
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was perfectly clear from the information provided with the Elevation Certificate.
Yet Mr. Johnson apparently felt that this may be confusing.

The Circuit Court also conceded that this may be confusing. The
mandatory rules of professional conduct impose a duty to speak in this situation.
Instead, Banner let Hovens continue working toward completion of the home
despite its inadequate elevation.

Banner argues that by 2010, “the house was built, and the damage was
done.” (Banner Br. p. 17). In fact, the Hovens continued working on the home for
several more years before it was completed. Much of the work completed after
Banner’s surveys in 2009 and 2010 will now have to be redone. The decks will
have to come off. The interior walls of the finished garage will have to be torn out
so the home can be raised. The utilities below the floor will all have to be
disconnected, extended, and reconnected. If Banner had disclosed that their home
was too low, construction would have ceased immediately, and the Hovens would
have addressed the matter right then, and at much less expense and inconvenience.

Ignoring the mandatory rules of professional conduct that informed its
duties, Banner argues that these parties were merely engaged in an arms-length
business transaction and that it therefore had no duty to speak. It asserts that the
Hovens must show ““active concealment.” (Banner Br. p. 16). In support of the
assertion, Banner cites several cases, including Yankton County v. McAllister,
2022 S.D. 37,977 N.W.2d 327; Cleveland v. BDL Enters., Inc. 2003 S.D. 54, 663

N.W.2d 212; and Gades v. Meyer Modernizing Co., Inc., 2015 S.D. 126, 866
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N.W.2d 155. None of these cases addressed the mandatory rules that governed
Banner’s professional conduct. All of the cases Banner cites are factually
inapposite.

Even if Banner could ignore the mandatory rules of professional conduct
that informed its duty to its clients, a duty to disclose such pertinent and material
information to its clients nevertheless arose under the common law. Under
subsection 2 of the Restatement (Second) of Torts 8551 (1977), even parties to an
arm’s length business transaction have a duty to disclose the following:

(a) matters known to him that the other is entitled to know because of a
fiduciary or other similar relation of trust and confidence between them;
and

(b) matters known to him that he knows to be necessary to prevent his

partial or ambiguous statement of the facts from being misled; and

(e) facts basic to the transaction, if he knows that the other is about to enter
it under a mistake as to them, and that the other, because of the relationship
between them, the customs of the trade, or other objective circumstances,
would reasonably expect a disclosure of those facts.

The Hovens clearly put their trust and confidence in Banner and its
professional land surveyors. Providing correct elevations in a vertical datum that
IS inappropriate for a client’s purpose is not enough. A comment to the
Restatement (Second) of Torts 8551 addresses those “facts basic to the
transaction” and states in relevant part as follows:

29

“Facts basic to the transaction.” A basic fact is a fact that is assumed by
the parties as a basis for the transaction itself. It is a fact that goes to the
basis, or essence of the transaction, and is an important part of the
substance of what is bargained for or dealt with. Other facts may serve as
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Important and persuasive inducements to enter into the transaction, but no
go to its essence.

The single object of these parties’ relationship and transactions was ensuring that
they got the elevation right for the construction in this area of special flood hazard.
After providing the elevation benchmark in the inappropriate vertical datum,
without the appropriate datum conversion mandated by law, when the Hovens
asked Banner to verify the proper elevation, Banner was not free to remain silent
and withhold such critical information from its clients. In Schwartz v. Morgan, the
“absence of a special relationship between the parties and [the fact] that the
driveway encroachment at issue was discoverable” prevented imposition of any
duty to disclose, but the Supreme Court recognized that a duty can arise under the
Restatement (Second) of Torts 8551 (1977) in certain circumstances --even in an
arms-length transaction. Id. at 1 12-14, 776 N.W.2d at 831. Banner conceded
that the inadequate elevation of the Hovens’ home was not obvious. Even if this
were merely an arm’s length business transaction and the mandatory rules of
professional conduct could be ignored, the facts of this case present a
circumstance where a duty to disclose also existed under the common law.

Banner attempts to justify its failure to disclose by suggesting the damage
was already done by the spring of 2010. (Banner Br. p. 17). Yet Banner had to
have known that the Hovens remained unaware and would therefore continue
completing their construction if they were not advised of the fact that their home is

too low. Banner opted to let them finish, in violation of a law enacted by the City
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of Waubay after it had experienced tremendous losses due to flooding and a
substantial loss of its tax base, to promote safety and protect health and property in
this area of special flood hazard. When the evidence is viewed in a light most
favorable to the Hovens, material issues of fact support their claim of fraudulent
concealment against Banner and precluded summary judgment in Banner’s favor,
regardless of which time limit would otherwise apply.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Hovens respectfully submit that the circuit
court’s denial of Banner’s summary judgment motion was correct and should be
affirmed. Even if the circuit court erred in suggesting that SDCL 15-2-13 cannot
apply where SDCL 15-2A-3 does, the Supreme Court should affirm its denial of
Banner’s motion because result was correct. Oldham-Ramona Sch. Dist. v.
Jensen, 503 N.W.2d 260, 264 (S.D. 1993). This matter should be remanded for a
trial and a jury’s proper resolution of all factual issues.

Respectfully submitted this 11" day of October, 2022.

LYNN, JACKSON, SHULTZ & LEBRUN,
P.C.

/sl Steven J. Oberg
Steven J. Oberg
110 N. Minnesota Avenue, Suite 400
Sioux Falls, SD 57104
Telephone: (605) 332-5999
sobjerg@Ilynnjackson.com

Attorneys for Plaintiffs and Appellees

23


mailto:mnadolski@lynnjackson.com

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE

This Brief is compliant with the length requirements of SDCL § 15-
26A66(b). Proportionally spaced font Times New Roman 13 point has been used.
Excluding the cover page, Table of Contents, Table of Authorities, Certificate of
Service and Certificate of Compliance, Appellees’ Brief contains 6,090 words as
counted by Microsoft Word.

LYNN, JACKSON, SHULTZ & LEBRUN,
P.C.

/sl Steven J. Oberg
Steven J. Oberg

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

Steven J. Oberg, of Lynn, Jackson, Shultz & Lebrun, P.C. hereby certifies
that on the 11" day of October, 2022, he electronically filed the foregoing
document with the Clerk of Court through Odyssey File & Serve, and that
Odyssey File & Serve will serve an electronic copy upon the following:

Gregory H. Wheeler

Boyce Law Firm, L.L.P.

300 S. Main Avenue

PO Box 5015

Sioux Falls, SD 57117-5015

Telephone: (605) 336-2424

E-mail: ghwheeler@boycelaw.com
Attorneys for Defendant and Appellant

The undersigned further certifies that the original and two (2) copies of the
foregoing in the above-entitled action were mailed by United States mail, postage
prepaid to Ms. Shirley A. Jameson-Fergel, Clerk of the Supreme Court, State
Capitol, 500 East Capitol, Pierre, SD 57501 on the above-written date.

/s/ Steven J. Oberg
Steven J. Oberg

24



IN THE SUPREME COURT
OF THE
STATE OF SOUTH DAKOTA

No. 30004

MICHAEL HOVEN AND MADELYNN HOVEN,
Plaintiffs and Appellees

VS.

BANNER ASSOCIATES, INC,,
Defendant and Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
DAY COUNTY, SOUTH DAKOTA

THE HONORABLE JON S. FLEMMER
CIrcUIT COURT JUDGE

APPELLANT’S REPLY BRIEF

Gregory H. Wheeler Steven J. Oberg

Boyce Law Firm, L.L.P. Lynn, Jackson, Shultz & Lebrun, P.C.
300 S. Main Avenue 110 N. Minnesota Avenue, Suite 400
Sioux Falls, SD 57104 Sioux Falls, SD 57104

{605) 336-2424 (605) 332-5999

Attorney for Defendant Banner Associates,  Attorney for Plaintiffs Michael and
Inc. Madelynn Hoven

Filed: 11/3/2022 10:15 AM CST Supreme Court, State of South Dakota #30004



TABLE OF CONTENTS,

TABLE OF AUTHORTTIES wummmunsmanmmmmssssiens in s e ii
RESPONSE. TO THE HOVENS? STATEMENT OF FACTS ..omwmmimmmsmmmmiveives 1
ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITIES. ...t s s 5

A. The Circuit Court Erred in Not Properly Applying the Statute of Limitations
in SDCL 15-2-13 and the Statute of Repose in SDCL 15-2A-3 to the Claims

Asserted Against BAnNET. ... e e 5
1. The Hovens Have Not Really Disputed the Applicable Law. ............... 5

2. The Relevant Facts, Rather Than Those Argued by the Hovens, Show
That Banner was Entitled to Summary Judgment. .........cccooveininien. 6
0 ——— 16
CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE ..ot e enn e s 17
CERTIFICATEGF SERNICE .ccommmmuenmmmnmm s iy mes s sy mias s 17




TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

South Dakota Case Law

East Side Lutheran Church of Sioux Falls v. NEXT, Inc., 2014 S.D. 59, 852 N.W.2d 434

LN R A 6
Gades v. Meyer Modernizing Co., Inc. 2015 S8.D. 42,

860 NeW.2d 155 (2018 mmumusonsrossmmmmmss i s e o s s s s e s s gsis 5
Huron Center, Inc. v. Henry Carlson Co., 2002 8.D. 103,

650 N.W.2d 544 (8.D, 2002).uiiininiriinimimriiiiisssismesmnesss s 6
Peterson v. Bruns, 2001 S.D. 126, 635 N.W.2d 556 (S.D. 2001) c..ocoviviininicinnirirnnens 5
Zacher v. Budd Co. 396 N.W.2d 122 (SD 1986)...ccccivniininiiiiinvinisninicsn i 5
South Dakota Statutes

B LR T T oo et RS 6
SDUL: 15-2-13 siennsununnmnsnisminmneisnmiism bbb s 5,6, 10, 13,16, 17
] B T ————— 5, 6,10, 13,16, 17
SDICL 15-2A-T i iiiiiiiviiiinieiiicsiiisrnessssssniss e ssasssssssssessasassosesiasssssssiaseassasssessesnes 16
Other Authorities

ARSI 20:38:30:01 (22).0iniriirimiiiriemniarioneieriiri s s 15
A B L e L L I T — 15

ii



Banner Associates, Inc. (“Banner”) respectfully submits this Reply Brief, replying
to the Appellees’ Brief filed by Michael and Madelynn Hoven (the “Hovens™) in this
appeal.

RESPONSE TO THE HOVENS’ STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Hovens take issue with some of the facts outlined by Banner. Banner has
cited to the record for the facts that it has asserted but has also addressed some of the
references made by the Hovens below. It is important to note, however, that the Hovens
have, for the most part, taken issue with facts that have nothing to do with the running of
the statute of limitations, the running of the statue of repose, or the facts showing that
there was no fraudulent concealment on the part of Banner. The facts that are important
to those issues are addressed in the Argument and Authorities section of this Brief.

The Hovens claim that Banner has asserted for the first time, that the elevation of
the iron pin at issue came from the Gregerson survey. They claim that the statement is
inaccurate. There are, however, numerous pages within the deposition of Steve Rames
where Mr. Rames tried to explain that fact to the Hovens’ counsel. That testimony was:

A. Ishot the control point lake home on at least 6/9/2006.
Q. How --

A. So it would have been there -- that point would have physically been in
the ground there in order for me to shoot it.

Q. But the Hovens hadn't even begun discussing buying it with the
Gregersons until 2007. So why would you have been setting a benchmark
on the Hovens' property that they were going to buy in 20067

A. I don't know what type of work was going on at the time, but we
would have set that point there somewhere prior to that timeframe.

Q. The elevation certificate for the Gregersons' property is dated and
signed and stamped 7/24/2006.- Does that help you tell whether these
points were related to the Hoven property or the Gregerson property?
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A. It would have been the same point.

Q. So when you set a benchmark, would you pound in rebar or what
would you do?

A. Sometimes. To the extent this is called a control point, I would say,
yes, it was probably an 18-inch long, at -least, piece of steel, steel bar,
that would be driven into the ground.

Q. Okay.- And would you put some sort of lath by it then?
A. Yes,

Q. All right.- And on the lath, would you have written the elevation?

A. We would have most likely written the elevation.
(CR 203-204) (emphasis added). The testimony continued, with Mr. Rames saying:

A. I recall Mike contacting us, wanting us to -- what was -the elevation
for that point. That point was there, We had established that point at
some point in history; that year, 2006, whenever. Somewhere in that --
that pin was driven in the ground and that elevation was established
for that point.- He knew that that point was there, and had contacted
us to get the elevation of that point.- And that's about as much as I
recall.

Q. All right.- And so you think Ron Bergan would have been the guy
under you that actually went out and located the benchmark and put
a lath there so that people would know where it was and what the
elevation there was?

A. Yes.

(CR 205) (emphasis added). The elevation of the pin at issue came from the work
performed for the Gregersons, just as stated by Banner. (See also CR 66 where elevation
is noted in Gregerson Elevation Certificate).

The above exchange also shows that Mr. Hoven called up asking for the elevation
of that iron pin. The Hovens refer to it as a “benchmark,” which it was, but it was simply

the elevation of the iron pin that had previously been set at that location. Mr. Hoven




confirmed that they used the iron rebar pin and a lath stake showing the elevation at that
pin. (CR 185).

The Hovens also challenge the contention that the Hovens did not pay anything
for the 2007 work. Mr. Hoven went back and forth on that but testified that: “I think I let
Gregerson take care of it, if I remember right.” (CR 184). They could never produce any
proof of payment in 2007 and the affidavits from Banner confirm that there was no
payment. (CR 55).

The Hovens claim that Banner suggested that the vertical datum was listed on the
pin. Banner has never made that contention. Banner has said that the elevation of the iron
pin was listed on the lath stake placed next to the iron pin, which as outlined above, came
from the survey for the Gregersons, and was accurate. Moe’s used the elevation on the
pin and determined the height of the walls (CR 188). Mr. Hoven admitted that there was
never any discussion about what datum was used or to be used. (CR 188)

The Hovens try to use the significance of the 2007 document Mr. Rames provided
to them, which they call the “2007 survey,” and also the 2010 letter from Mr. Rames to
the Hovens. The record is clear, however, that the Hovens never relied on either
document. They (or more accurately Moe’s) used top of the iron pin to set the finished
floor elevation for the house. (CR 189). The “2007 Survey” was never provided to Moe’s
or used in setting the elevations. (CR 189). The Hovens claimed that they never even saw
the 2010 letter, stating: “I don’t know if I ever seen this letter.” (CR 192; CR 197 for
Madelyn Hoven). Neither have any significance when determining whether the Hovens
detrimentally relied upon the information provided by Banner, which is what they had to

show to prove fraud.



The Hovens repeatedly refer generally throughout their Brief to “an inappropriate
datum.” There is absolutely no support for that contention or suggestion. The only
competent or expert testimony (from Banner) in the case shows that that the datums are
different, due to the time at which they were formed, but neither is “inappropriate.” They
are both recognized, but NAVD 88 is the newer, more accurate and widely used datum.
There are conversions between the two datums for those who know what they are doing.
Neither datum is “inappropriate.” The Elevation Certificates contain conversions between
the two for a reason. (CR 71; 78). Neither is right, or wrong. NAVD 88 is newer, more
accurate and is currently used by almost everyone in the industry. The Hovens
completely failed to prove that there was anything improper or a violation of the standard
of care in any of the elevation or benchmark information provided by Banner. The fact
that they may have believed that a certain datum was used does not make the use of
another datum improper. The problem is that the Hovens did not know what they were
doing with the information and refused to pay anyone to help them.

The Hovens dispute that the house was constructed, and the finished floor
elevation was set, in the fall of 2007. The photographs and the testimony of Mr. Hoven
show that they were set at that time. (CR 73-75). Banner has provided these citations,
photographs, and evidence in the record and in its appellate briefs. It is immaterial that
the Hovens may have added a kitchen countertop at a later time.

As mentioned, most of these facts have very little to do with the accrual of the
statute of limitations or statute of repose, nor do any of them show any fraudulent

concealment by Banner.




ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITIES
A. The Circuit Court erred in not properly applying the statute of limitations in

SDCL 15-2-13 and the statute of repose in SDCL 15-2A-3 to the claims
asserted against Banner.

Banner was entitled to summary judgment under SDCL 15-2-13 and 15-2A-3, and
Banner did not fraudulently conceal from the Hovens the existence of their claims.

1s The Hovens have not really disputed the applicable law.

The Hovens raise very few issues with the statutory and case law referenced by
Banner. The issues they have raised are addressed below.

There is a suggestion that SDCL 15-2A-3 operates as a statute of limitations and
should be applied in place of the statute of limitations in SDCL 15-2-13. The Hovens
have conceded that: “The Supreme Court has referred to SDCL 15-2A-3 as a statute of
repose and has indicated that its application does not exclude the operation of the statute
of limitations in SDCL 15-2-13.” (Hoven Brief of Appellees, p. 15). The Hovens do not
provide a cite, but Banner has provided the quote and the citations. “SDCL 15-2A-3 does
not operate to extend the time for filing an action otherwise barred by the running of the
applicable period of limitation.” Gades v. Meyer Modernizing Co., Inc. 2015 S.D. 42, n.
6, 865 N.W.2d 155, 160,n. 6 (2015), referencing Peterson v. Bruns, 2001 S.D. 126, 635
N.W.2d 556, 570 (SD 2001), quoting Zacher v. Budd Co. 396 N.W.2d at 129, n. 5 (SD
1986).

Furthermore, as pointed out by Banner, the statute of limitations in SDCL 15-2-13
has been applied in other construction cases. See, East Side Lutheran Church of Sioux
Falls v. NEXT, Inc., 2014 S.D. 59, 852 N.W.2d 434 (2014); Huron Center, Inc. v. Henry
Carison Co., 2002 S.D. 103, 650 N.W.2d 544 (8.D. 2002). (Cites). This Court did not
rule that SDCL 15-2-13 was inapplicable because of the existence of SDCL 15-2A-3 in
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any of those cases. Both can, and do, apply to limit the time within which the suit can be
filed. As argued in Banner’s prior briefs, the Hovens did not meet either statute.

The Hovens refer to statements made in regard to SDCL 15-2-9 that predated
SDCL 15-2A-3 (SDCL 15-2-9 was unconstitutional), in cases referring to SDCL 15-2-9.
They are not applicable to SDCL 15-2A-3,

SDCL 15-2A-3 and SDCL 15-2-13 are not mutually exclusive and both, or either,
can apply to bar a claim. For a claim filed 15 years after completion of a project, SDCL
15-2A-3 would operate to bar the claim, even though the statute of limitations in SDCL
15-2-13 may not have run if the property damage occurred within six years of the filing
of the lawsuit. Conversely, the statute of limitations could run before the statute of repose
if the property damage occurs more than six years after the claim accrues, but before the
ten-year statute of repose runs. There is no reason the two statutes cannot work together,
and separately, depending on the timing of the claim and the filing of the lawsuit. The
difference between the statutes is also significant when claims for contribution or
indemnification come into play for crossclaims or third-party claims.

2. The relevant facts, rather than those argued by the Hovens, show that
Banner was entitled to summary judgment.

The Hovens have made their arguments using inaccurate factual generalities,
choosing to move between issues and timeframes as if they are the same. They talk about
“providing the wrong” information. There is no proof that any information was “wrong.”
They talk very generally about “a duty to disclose” without identifying what was not
disclosed and ignoring that all of the relevant information was provided to them at the

latest nine years before they filed suit. They try to distort the facts to paint Banner in an




unfavorable light, while ignoring the actual chronology that is crucial to the issues in this
case, and the application of those facts to the applicable legal standards.

The Hovens appear to argue that the elevation provided to them by Banner in
2007 was to con them into building their house lower than the base flood elevation. That
is the only way their arguments work. They then try to show that Banner knew the
elevations of the house between 2007 and 2010 and fraudulently concealed that fact from
the Hovens. Neither argument is true, and as shown below, they do not change the fact
that the claims related to the 2007 work accrued in 2007, or that the Hovens had the very
information used to support their claims for more than nine years before they filed suit.
There was no contact whatsoever between Banner and the Hovens over those nine years.
Therefore, the undisputed facts, demonstrate that the claims were barred by the statute of
limitations and the statute of repose and there was no fraud that would prevent either
from barring the claims.

2007:

Banner 2007 Work:

In 2007, the Hovens asked Banner for the elevation of the pin on the property they
purchased from the Gregersons. (CR 184-185). Mr. Hoven had talked to the City and
others about the flood elevations and had tried to figure out himself what he needed to do
to build his house at the right elevation. (CR 185; 187-188). Unfortunately, he did not
know what he was doing. So, he asked for the elevation of the pin to be marked. As
outlined earlier in this Brief, that was done using the ¢levation from the Gregerson

Elevation Certificate. Banner provided that elevation on a lath stake.




The elevation provided to the Hovens was accurate and complied with the
standard of care. There is no credible evidence in the record to show that what was
provided was not accurate or did not comply with the standard of care. The Hovens
apparently had access to, and knew that, the Gregerson Elevation Certificate had been
filed with the City of Waubay. The Hovens simply did not know what they were doing.

In their briefs, the Hovens act as if, and even suggest, that Banner was setting the
finished floor elevation or assisting them with that process. The record reflects only that
Banner provided the Hovens with the elevation of the pin, and all of the mistakes made in
the use of the pin were made without any involvement of Banner. Banner was never hired
by the Hovens for the purpose of setting the finished floor elevation or any other
elevation for the house. Banner, or a similar professional firm, should have been hired for
that purpose, but the Hovens did not actually hire Banner, or a similar firm, for anything
until 2010.

In their Briefs, the Hovens also make reference to a sketch provided to the
Hovens in 2007, calling it a survey. As referenced above, the referenced document was
ot even used by the Hovens. They did not use it, look at it and any issues or arguments
concerning it are inapposite.

The bottom line is that the Hovens did not hire or retain Banner for any purpose,
but instead wanted free information that Banner had provided to the Gregersons. They
got exactly the information that had been provided to the Gregersons. The Hovens then
went on their merry way building their house without any involvement of Banner. Banner
did not know what the Hovens actually did with the elevation, did not see the house until

at least two years after it was constructed and had no obligation to look at the house,



survey the property or otherwise determine that the house was built too low until 2009 or
2010. The Hovens cannot prove that Banner knew anything about the finished floor
elevation until at least two years after the elevation was provided.

Hoven Work in 2007:

The Hovens (or Moe’s) took the elevation of the pin, did their own math and
came up with an elevation for their house. The Hovens built their house in the fall of
2007. This is undisputed, shown in the photographs and admitted in the deposition
testimony. The house was in place, constructed, closed in with a roof, siding, windows
and doors, and most importantly, with a finished floor elevation, in the fall of 2007.
Banner was nowhere near the Hoven property while that work was taking place and
would not be near that property until at least 2009, long after the building and finished
floor elevations were in place.

2007 Summary:

There was no contractual or other business relationship between the Hovens and
Banner in 2007. Banner did a favor for the Hovens and the Hovens improperly used the
information provided by Banner. There certainly was no fiduciary or confidential
relationship between Banner and the Hovens in 2007. The damages claimed by the
Hovens (having a house with a finished floor elevation below the base flood elevation)
were set in place in 2007, when they completed the finished floor and the house. That
was twelve years before the Hovens filed suit. Any issues from the 2007 elevation were
barred by the six-year statute of limitations in SDCL 15-2-13 and the statute of repose in
SDCL 15-2A-3. There was no fraud associated with providing the correct elevation for

the pin.




2010:

The Hovens finally hired Banner to do work for them in May 2010. The Elevation
Certificate was requested by the Hovens and provided to them by Banner in May 2010.
Again, the information in the Elevation Certificate was accurate and complied with the
standard of care.

The Elevation Certificate clearly shows the finished floor elevation and the base
flood elevation in each of the two datums (CR 76), and contains the conversion used
between the two datums (CR 71; 78). There is nice sketch showing the house and all of
those elevations. (CR 76). It is easy to read and follow for anyone who looks at it. Again,
that sketch was attached by the Hovens to their Complaint and used to form the bases for
the Hovens’ claims. They now want to run from it and claim that it did not mean anything
to them. They thought they knew enough about the elevations, the base flood elevation
and finished floor elevations in 2007 to determine those issues for themselves without
hiring a professional such as Banner to explain the information to them. That is how they
ended up with their problem. Yet, they claim that they were incapable of understanding
the information provided to them in 2010. The reality is that they did not read it or pay
any attention to it. They simply sent it to their insurance company and never thought
anything of it.

The Hovens claim that they should have been told about the issues with the
finished floor elevation being below the base flood elevation. They were told exactly that.
All of the information was before them and clearly spelled out. They simply ignored it.
They suggest that Mr, Johnson did something devious by not filing the Elevation

Certificate with the City. Yet, they cannot show any obligation to do so. He gave to the
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Hovens to decide what they wanted to do with it. If they thought it needed to be filed
with the City, they could have filed it. Apparently, they knew that the Gregerson
Elevation Certificate was filed with the City.

In their latest briefs the Hovens try to make something out of the 2009 elevation,
provided in 2010. As pointed out, this is a non-issue because Mike Hoven testified that he
never saw it. They also act as if the house was not complete in 2010. The photographs
from the Elevation Certificate show a different story. The house was completed long
before May 2010.

2010 Summary:

The Hovens actually hired Banner to perform work in May 2010. The work was
performed properly and provided the Hovens with all of the information needed to
determine the problems with the finished floor elevation that had been set in 2007. The
transaction between the Hovens and Banner was a typical arm’s-length business
transaction. There was no fiduciary or confidential relationship.

Furthermore, Banner did not fraudulently, or otherwise, conceal anything from
the Hovens. Banner provided the Hovens with exactly what they asked for, including all
of the data that eventually was used to support their lawsuit. The Hovens were not
prevented from determining the existence of their claims related to the 2007 work, the
2009 work, or the 2010 work. They were not prevented from discovering the information
used to support the lawsuit they eventually filed. That information was provided directly

to them.
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After May 2010:

There was absolutely no contact between the Hovens and Banner between 2010
and 2019, Banner did not do anything during that nine-year period to prevent the Hovens
from discovering the existence of their claims.

Overall Summary:

All of the work performed by Banner was performed properly and within the
standard of care. Banner gave the Hovens the elevation for the iron pin on their property
in 2007. The Hovens took it, ran with it, and built their house without any involvement of
Banner, They used the elevation wrong and set the finished floor elevation below the
base flood elevation. The house, including the final finished floor elevation were
constructed and set in place in 2007. Banner had no involvement with the Hovens until
2009, and most of the subsequent involvement took place in 2010. The house had been
constructed for at least two years by then.

There was never a fiduciary or confidential relationship between Banner and the
Hovens. At most, there was an arm’s-length business transaction. Banner did not owe a
heightened standard or duty to the Hovens. The Hovens had to show that Banner
fraudulently concealed from them the existence of their claims. That did not happen.

The May 2010 Elevation Certificate told the Hovens everything they needed to
know about the elevation of the finished floor in their house, the base flood elevation, the
conversions between the different datums and provided the Hovens with a nice sketch
showing all of that information.

In May 2010, the Hovens had everything they needed to know about the claims

they eventually filed in 2019. They missed the six-year statute of limitations in SDCL 15-
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2-13 and the ten-year statute of repose in SCL 15-2A-3. There was no fraud, or
fraudulent concealment on the part of Banner. There is no support for tolling the statute
of limitations or avoiding the application of the statue of repose. The claims were barred
by the statute of limitations in SDCL 15-2-13 and the statue of repose in SDCL 15-2A-3.

Other Arguments Made by the Hovens.

The arguments about the house needing to have all of the finishing touches to be
“substantially complete” are inaccurate. First of all, the house, the finished floor elevation
and the problems at issue were set in place in the fall of 2007 — 12 years before suit was
filed. They were not changed after 2007. The kitchen countertop or interior fixtures, even
if added later, had nothing to do with the finished floor elevation of the house. The work
that was supposedly based on the 2007 information provided by Banner was substantially
complete in 2007.

The Hovens claim that Banner’s sole argument is that it had “no duty to disclose
anything.” That is not true. The argument, which has been proven, is that Banner
disclosed everything to the Hovens. Everything was disclosed to the Hovens at least nine
years before they filed suit against Banner. Nothing was fraudulently concealed from the
Hovens. Everything was available for them to see with their own eyes.

Similarly, they refer to “Banner’s motive for not speaking.” Banner told the
Hovens everything they needed to know about their claim in May 2010. Banner did not
prevent the Hovens from looking at the Elevation Certificate. In fact, it was provided to
them to for that purpose and use. There was no fraudulent concealment.

The Hovens make general references to the ordinance enacted by the City of

Waubay, yet there is nothing in that ordinance that has any bearing on the case other than
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the fact that the Hovens built their house with a finished floor elevation below the base
flood elevation. In fact, the ordinance reveals that the Hovens may have violated the
ordinance when they built their house. There were requirements under the ordinance to
submit a variety of things to the City “before construction or development begins” for
purposes of obtaining a development permit. Included in these requirements was the
finished floor elevation, the base flood elevation, a certificate by a registered professional
engineer or architect that the floodproofing methods meet the criteria in the ordinance.
Had the Hovens hired Banner or another qualified entity to provide that information in
2007, they would likely not be in this predicament. It is undisputed that Banner was not
hired to perform those services in 2007.

There are no requirements in the ordinance pertaining to the Elevation Certificate
Banner provided to the Hovens three years after they began construction. There are no
references in the ordinance to a particular datum that was to be used. There is nothing in
the ordinance that places any duties or obligations on Banner at any time.

Finally, the Hovens refer to professional regulation standards for professional
licensees under the Board for Technical Professions in an attempt to establish a
heightened relationship or standard for Banner’s services. They claim that these
regulations gave rise to a “duty to disclose information” on the part of Banner. It is
entirely unclear what Banner was supposed to disclose that wasn’t disclosed when
learned by Banner. Also, there is no context for the application of the standards to the
current situation. There is not expert testimony presented by the Hovens that support any
violation of the standards of professional conduct or how there was a violation under

these circumstances.
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The Hovens cite to the requirement that professionals be truthful in the
preparation of reports, under A.R.S.D. 20:38:36:01 (25). There is no indication that there
is anything wrong in the reports prepared by Banner. As mentioned, the Hovens rely
upon the information in the Elevation Certificate in trying to prove their claims. They
claim that Banner should have told them that they were constructing their home in
violation of the law under A.R.S.D. 20:38:36:01 (22). The evidence shows, however, that
Banner saw the property when it was empty, with nothing but an iron pin 2007. The
house was, by the Hovens’ own testimony, not built yet. The evidence then shows that
Banner did not see the property again until at least 2009 — long after the house had been
built in late 2007. Again, the Hovens’ own testimony and their photographs show that the
house was built by the end of 2007. Finally, the elevation certificate was accurate, met
the standard of care, and told the Hovens everything they needed to know about their
situation, All of the information provided was “truthful.”

Finally, the Hovens cite to a lack of “fidelity” on the part of Banner, again with no
context, no supporting expert evidence or anything showing what is required for
professional land surveyors or professional engineers under the circumstances. Banner,
on the other hand provided the sworn testimony of a registered land surveyor and a
registered professional engineer that Banner complied with the professional standards of
care applicable to those professions. Also, and at the risk of again repeating the obvious,
in May 2010, Banner gave the Hovens everything they eventually used to assert their
claims in 2019, There was no “lack of “fidelity” on the part of Banner.

The references to the professional rules of conduct do nothing to change the fact

that there is no evidence to support any fraud, fraudulent concealment or similar claim
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against Banner that would toll the statute of limitations, prevent the application of SDCL
15-2A-3 or that would support a fraud claim that is not barred by the statute of
limitations. The fraudulent scheme alleged by the Hovens is a fallacy. If Banner was
actually trying to cover up something, it did not do a very good job of it when it provided
all of the information to the Hovens in the Elevation Certificate.

The statute of limitations in SDCL 15-2-13 applied, as did the statute of repose in
SDCL 15-2A-3, and they barred the Hovens’ claims. There was no fraud, fraudulent
concealment, fraudulent misrepresentation, or any other misconduct on the part of Banner
that would toll the statute of limitations in SDCL 15-2-13, or that would invoke SDCL
15-2A-7, or otherwise support a claim for frand. Banner was entitled to summary
judgment as to all of the Hovens’ claims.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Banner respectfully requests that this Court rule that
the Hovens’ claims were barred by the statute of limitation sin SDCL 15-2-13 and the
statue of repose in SDCL 15-2A-3. Banner also requests that this Court affirm the finding
of the Circuit Court that there was no fraud or fraudulent concealment on the part of
Banner and that Banner was entitled to summary judgment as to all of the claims.

Respectfully submitted this Mday of November 2022,
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Jurisdictional Statement

Pursuant to SDCL 815-26A-13, the parties separately petitioned this

Honorable Court to accept a Discretionary Appeal of the Order of the Circuit

Court dated May 13, 2022, which denied in part and granted in part Banner

Associates, Inc.’s Motion for Summary Judgment. The South Dakota Supreme

Court entered an Order Granting this Petition for Allowance of Appeal from

Intermediate Order #30005 on June 17, 2022.

LEGAL ISSUES

Does a professional land surveying firm that has provided a client
an elevation benchmark for construction in a datum inappropriate
for such use have any duty to later disclose that the resulting
improvement is inadequately elevated?

The Circuit Court answered in the negative.

SDCL 36-18A-48
A.R.S.D. 20:38:36:01(25)
AR.S.D. 20:38:36:01(22)

Did the trial court error in determining as a matter of law that
Banner Associates, Inc. had not fraudulently concealed from
Hovens the fact that their lake home is inadequately elevated.

The Circuit court determined as a matter of law that Banner Associates,
Inc. had not fraudulently concealed the inadequate elevation of the
home.

SDCL 15-2A-7

SDCL 20-10-2(3)

Olson v. Berggren, 2021 S.D. 58, 965 N.W.2d 442

Hanna v. Landsman, 2020 S.D. S.D. 33, 945 N.W.2d 534

Commercial Credit Equipment Corp. v. Johnson, 209 N.W.2d 548 (S.D.
1973)



STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Michael and Madelynn Hoven (“Hovens”) brought this action against
Banner Associates, Inc. (“Banner”) alleging that it was negligent in providing
them an elevation benchmark for the construction of their lake home, and that
Banner had later fraudulently concealed the fact that their home is inadequately
elevated. Banner moved for summary judgment asserting that Hovens’ claim is
time-barred under SDCL 815-2A-3 or under one or more statutes of limitation and
that no material issues of fact exist to support their claim of fraudulent
concealment. In an Order dated May 13, 2022, the circuit court granted partial
summary judgment to Banner on Hovens’ claim of fraudulent concealment. This
appeal followed.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In 2002, the City of Waubay (“City”) enacted a Flood Damage Prevention
Ordinance (“Ordinance”) to address flooding concerns in Waubay. CR 156; App.
3-18. The City found that flood hazard areas subject to periodic inundation had
resulted in a loss of life and property, public expenditures for flood protection, and
impairment of the tax base, all of which adversely affect public health, safety and
the general welfare. The City found these losses were caused in part by
“inadequately elevated” structures. Id. To promote public health and safety and
minimize public and private losses due to flooding in areas of special flood hazard
identified by FEMA, the Ordinance prohibited construction of structures that did

not fully comply with its provisions. CR 160-161. It established “minimum



requirements” and for all new residential construction, required that the lowest
floor elevation must meet or exceed the base flood elevation (BFE). CR 1609.
The Ordinance also required that this critical elevation be recorded with the City.
CR 163. FEMA'’s Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) was designated as the
source of the BFE. CR 161-162.

Banner was familiar with the Waubay area. Kent Johnson, a professional
engineer and land surveyor at Banner, had been involved in modeling work to
establish the BFE in the area. CR 197. Banner had also done engineering and
surveying work for the City and for private property owners in Waubay. In 2006
and 2007, Banner platted lots for Dennis and Carol Gregerson on Blue Dog Lake
in the City of Waubay. CR 150-151. Banner had prepared an Elevation
Certificate for their cabin on one of the platted lots. CR 54. Kent Johnson had
signed, sealed and dated this Elevation Certificate. CR 54. He had sent it to the
City of Waubay on July 24, 2006, presumably for recording purposes as required
by the Ordinance. CR 342. In his cover letter addressed to a City official and
copied to the Gregersons, Mr. Johnson had taken care to point out that the vertical
datum Banner had used in the survey differed from the datum reflected in the
FIRM for the BFE, stating as follows:

The Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) Base Flood

Elevation (BFE) was taken from the City’s effective FEMA map

(enclosed). Please note the survey datum and the FEMA BFE datum are
different and the appropriate datum conversion is noted on the form.



Id. [emphasis supplied]. On the referenced form, “the appropriate datum
conversion” was completed for a point designated “CP LAKE HOME.” The form
showed its elevation in the datum of NAVD 88 that Banner had used and the
elevation when converted to the appropriate datum of NGVD 1929, as follows:

Latitude: 45 20 36.1237

Longitude: 97 18 58.66110

NAVD 88 height: 1806.959 FT

Datum shift (NAVD 88 minus NGVD 29): 0.915 feet

Converted to NGVD 29 height: 1806.044 feet
CR 347. The elevation of CP Lake Home in NAVD 1988 was 1806.959 feet, but
after “the appropriate datum conversion” to NGVD 1929 (the appropriate datum),
its elevation was only 1806.044 feet. Id.

This “appropriate datum conversion” is required for all surveyed structures
and ground elevations at this location. The FIRM mandates a comparison between

the BFE and all elevations in the same datum, stating as follows:

“These flood elevations must be compared to structures and ground
elevations referenced to the same datum.”

CR 345. [emphasis added]. The “datum shift” for any elevation in NAVD 1988
at this location is exactly .915 feet (or 10.8 inches) less when converted to NGVD
1929 for the mandatory comparison to the BFE. CR 198.

In the summer of 2007, Mike and Madelynn Hoven purchased a lot from
the Gregersons to construct their home on Blue Dog Lake. They lived in lowa
where Madelynn managed an optical store and Mike worked as a construction

foreman, often traveling away from home for his work. Whenever possible, they



traveled to Waubay to enjoy the excellent recreational fishing and hunting
opportunities in the area. CR 177. When they learned that Gregersons may have
lots for sale on Blue Dog Lake, they approached the Gregersons and discussed
their purchase of a lot for the construction of a lake home. CR 177-178.

The Gregersons had already begun subdividing their property, utilizing
Banner’s professional land surveying services to plat the lots. CR 178. Hovens
negotiated with Gregersons for purchase of a lot comprised of two or more of the
original lots. Id. Banner re-platted the Hovens’ lot and Mike Hoven believes he
and Madelynn shared with Gregersons in the cost of Banner’s re-surveying work.
CR 180.

Hovens closed on their lot in late summer of 2007 and quickly began their
construction. CR 178. They started by getting sewer and water lines trenched into
the lot and having a temporary electric power pedestal installed for their
construction. 1d. Hovens then laid out the perimeter of their lake home on the lot,
dug trenches around the home-site, and poured concrete footings to a depth below
the frost-line. Id.

Before Hovens could proceed, however, they needed a professionally
surveyed elevation benchmark. CR 179. Mike Hoven knew the City of Waubay
required a minimum floor elevation of 1810 for all new residential construction.
CR 180. Because the proper floor elevation would depend on the proper height of
the foundation walls, Hovens and their cement contractor needed a surveyed

elevation benchmark so that that the elevation could be transferred to forms used



to pour the walls to the correct height. CR 180-181. Mike Hoven and the cement
contractor calculated the thickness of a plate that would sit atop the concrete walls,
the added height of the floor trusses, and the added thickness of the flooring
material. CR 182-183. The only thing needed before the walls were poured was a
surveyed elevation benchmark. Construction could not proceed without it. CR
182.

Mike Hoven contacted Banner to request a surveyed elevation benchmark
for the continued construction of their lake home. He was directed to Steven
Rames, a professional engineer and land surveyor then employed by Banner.
Mike explained to Mr. Rames their need for the surveyed elevation benchmark to
ensure that the walls were poured high enough so that the floor, when constructed,
would meet or exceed the City’s 1810 minimum elevation requirement. CR 180-
181. Mr. Rames expressed an understanding of their need for the elevation
benchmark for their construction.

In response to Mike Hoven’s request, Mr. Rames sent the Hovens a survey
labeled “Mike Hove[n] Bench Mark,” showing both the location and elevation of
the benchmark. He signed, sealed, and dated the survey on September 5, 2007.
CR 199; CR 274; App. 19.

Mr. Rames does not know if the “Mike Hove[n] Bench Mark™ was actually
set that day or not. CR 199. He believes it may have been the same point
previously designated as “CP-Lake Home” in connection with the Gregersons’

elevation survey in 2006. Id. Mike Hoven did not know if Banner had previously



set a pin anywhere on their lot. CR 185. If a benchmark previously existed, he
was unaware. CR 150-151.

Mr. Rames did not actually set the “Mike Hove[n] Bench Mark.” Instead,
he sent Ron Bergen, a “field surveyor” then employed by Banner to locate and
“monument” a benchmark on Hovens’ property with a wooden lathe. CR 200. At
the time, Hovens’ ongoing construction activity on-site was obvious. The trenches
with the poured footing were open and trailers with construction equipment or
materials were parked on-site, reflecting ongoing construction activity to start the
build. CR 152; CR 181-182.

Locating and setting an elevation benchmark is a function of professional
land surveying. CR 201-202. Ron Bergen was not licensed to survey on his own
nor qualified to sign or seal such documents. CR 201. Therefore, Steven Rames
stamped, signed, and dated the “Mike Hove[n] Bench Mark” to certify that he had
done the work or that it had been done under his responsible charge, in accordance
with SDCL 36-18A-44. CR 202. A professional surveyor’s seal, signature, and a
date are required on any professional survey “submitted to a client or [to] any
public or governmental agency.” SDCL 36-18A-45.

Banner is routinely called upon to provide surveyed elevation benchmarks
for construction. CR 325. Banner knew the importance of datums related to such
benchmarks. In response to Requests for Admissions, Banner admitted as follows:

[17t was necessary for the owner of the property in question to obtain

benchmark information, including information such as the datum upon
which the benchmark was determined, base flood elevation and other



pertinent information for use in establishing the finished floor elevation of
any structure or property prior to constructing on that property or the owner
of the structure on the property would potentially build the house at an
elevation that could lead to increased risk for flooding, just as one or both
of the plaintiffs did here.
CR 325. Yet Banner provided no datum information for the “Mike Hove[n]
Benchmark.” Banner never advised them that its stated elevation was in a datum
that could not be compared to the BFE or used for their construction at this
location without the appropriate datum conversion. CR 202. Hovens knew
nothing about datums. CR 151.

Every surveyed elevation or benchmark has a datum plane associated with
it. CR 204. When asked if a surveyed elevation benchmark should have the
datum associated with it indicated, Mr. Rames stated, “There’s certainly a clarity
component to a datum.” Id. When asked if the datum for the “Mike Hove[n]
Bench Mark” should have been provided, he stated, “l would agree it would be

helpful to be on there.” CR 207. Mr. Rames further testified as follows:

Q. Do you know why no vertical datum was indicated on this document
that you signed and sealed?

A. He was asking — no.”
CR 204.

Banner knew the FIRM adopted by the City of Waubay states the BFE of
1810 feet in the datum NGVD 1929. CR 205. Yet Banner stated the “Mike
Hove[n] Bench Mark” elevation in the datum NAVD 1988. Id. Banner knew that

if “the appropriate datum conversion” were not done for the “Mike Hove[n] Bench



Mark,” then it would overstate the elevation by .915 feet (10.98 inches) when
compared to the BFE in NGVD 1929. CR 204. Rames knew the difference in
elevations in the two datums is 10.98 inches. Id. Yet Banner did not do the
appropriate datum conversion and never advised Hovens that the “Mike Hove[n]
Bench Mark” was in a datum inappropriate for construction at this location. CR
152; CR 202. SDCL 36-18A-45(2) required a note or some explanation if a
survey is preliminary or cannot be used for construction. CR 201-202. The
survey of the “Mike Hove[n] Bench Mark™ gave no such explanation or
indication. CR 185; CR 274.

If as Banner suggested, the “Mike Hove[n] Bench Mark” was the same
point previously designated as “CP Lake Home” in connection with the Gregerson
elevation survey back in 2006, then Banner had already completed “the
appropriate datum conversion” for it and knew its elevation was not actually
1806.96 feet in the appropriate datum, but only 1806.044 feet when converted to
the appropriate datum NGVD 1929 for comparison to the BFE and the City’s
minimum elevation requirement. CR 63. Although the FIRM mandates the
comparison in the same vertical datum, Banner never provided this information to
the Hovens when it provided them the benchmark for their construction. CR 190.

Hovens’ construction proceeded using the “Mike Hove[n] Bench Mark”
without the appropriate datum conversion. The benchmark elevation was
transferred directly to forms used to pour the foundation walls. CR 152. Mike

Hoven directed the concrete contractor to add a couple of inches for safety to



ensure the floor when constructed would meet or exceed the City’s critical 1810’
minimum-elevation requirement. CR 153; CR 183.

Hovens documented their construction in 2007 in photographs. CR 208;
CR 178-179. By the end of the year, the home had been “roughed-in” and was
enclosed. The house was “wrapped” but it remained un-sided, uninsulated, and
unheated. No interior walls had been framed. No wiring had been completed. No
fixtures had been installed. 1d. Hovens completed the lake home as time and
money allowed, without outside financing, while both continued to reside in lowa
and work full-time. They did ninety percent (90%) of the work themselves, with
some help from friends and family and with some hired help. CR 178.

Hovens knew the critical floor elevation had to be recorded with the City.
Hovens hired Banner in 2009 to verify the proper floor elevation of their home
while it was still under construction. CR 187-188. In January of 2010, Steven
Rames confirmed in a letter that Banner had “shot the first floor of the
house/structure” on February 2, 2009 at an elevation of “1810.19’ in the Datum of
NAVS88.” CR 187-188; CR 279; App. 20. This was Banner’s first mention of a
“datum” to the Hovens. Again, Mr. Rames did not do “the appropriate datum
conversion” to NGVD 1929 for comparison of this critical floor elevation to the
BFE and the City’s requirement. Hovens assumed that at a surveyed elevation of
1810.19 feet, Mr. Rames had confirmed in writing that they had exceeded the
City’s minimum elevation requirement by more than a couple of inches. This also

confirmed that the cement contractor had followed Mike Hoven’s request that the
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contractor add a couple of inches to the walls for safety. CR 181; CR 183-184;
CR 188.

In 2010, Mike Hoven secured a “Home-Owner Wiring Permit” from the SD
Electrical Commission to do electrical wiring in the home. He had secured an
earlier permit, but it had expired before he could get the work done. CR 186.

In March of 2010, Hovens hired Banner again to complete an Elevation Certificate
so they could apply for flood insurance. Kent Johnson completed the Elevation
Certificate, signed it, and sealed it. CR 280; App. 21-22. He certified the floor
elevation at exactly 1810.0 feet in NAVD 1988. Id. He attached a “datum
conversion” reflecting the appropriate datum conversion for a point other than the
critical floor elevation. CR 74. Mr. Johnson apparently did not send the Hoven
Elevation Certificate to the City as he had with the Gregerson Elevation Certificate
for their cabin next door. Mr. Johnson did not explain anything to the Hovens
about datums, as he had for the Gregersons with their Elevation Certificate. No
one advised the Hovens or the City that they were completing the lake home at an
inadequate elevation. CR 153.

Steven Rames attempted to deny that Banner knew from these elevation
surveys that Hovens’ lake home is inadequately elevated. He testified:

Q. Banner Associates would have known by that time that this cabin had

been built to an elevation that was less than the BFE at that location,

correct?

[objection omitted]

A. T don’t know —I don’t know. I don’t know how they would know that.
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Unless somebody would have specifically pointed it out to us, we wouldn’t
know.

CR 206. Mr. Rames also testified as follows:

Q. So being aware of the conversion at this location, the elevation reflected

in your letter to Mike Hoven, Banner Associates could have easily

determined that the cabin had been built to an elevation lower than the base
flood elevation at that location, correct?

A. 1 would say no.

CR 207. Notwithstanding his testimony, Banner had already admitted as follows:
“Banner admits that it knew by May 11, 2010 the elevation of the finished
floor of the house at the subject property was below the Base Flood
Elevation from FEMA.”

CR 329.

Hovens did not know. When they submitted the Elevation Certificate with
an application for flood insurance in 2010, FEMA said nothing. CR 193-194. No
one advised them that they were completing their lake home at an inadequate
elevation that did not meet the BFE and the City’s elevation requirement.

The Hovens continued working to complete the home. They ordered
fixtures for the home in 2012, including a kitchen countertop and a bathroom
vanity. Mike Hoven installed showers about that time. CR 189; CR 364-369. By
that time, there was still interior wiring and follow-up sheetrock left to complete.
CR 188-189. The house was not substantially completed or livable until around

2013. CR 178. A final electrical inspection was completed in 2015. CR 153.

Mike Hoven added exterior decks to the home in 2015. Id.
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In the spring of 2019, following heavy winter snows, lake levels began to
rise again. Hovens applied for flood insurance for only the second time. CR 191,
CR 194. Once again, they submitted the Elevation Certificate with their
application. This time around, FEMA discerned that the stated floor elevation,
when converted to the appropriate datum NGVD 1929, did not meet the BFE or
the City’s minimum elevation requirement. CR 191. As a result, FEMA advised
Hovens that their flood insurance premium would be approximately twice the sum
previously paid. Id.

When the Hovens learned that the home is inadequately elevated and that
Banner had likely known this since 2009 or 2010, they promptly filed their lawsuit
against Banner, asserting claims of both negligence and fraudulent concealment.
CR 154. Following limited discovery, Banner moved for summary judgment,
asserting that their lawsuit is untimely and that their claim of fraudulent
concealment presents no material issue of fact. CR 154. Hovens submitted their
responses to Banner’s statement of undisputed fact. CR 131; App. 23-41.

The circuit court found that genuine issues of material fact exist regarding
when substantial completion occurred and when their cause of action accrued but
determined as a matter of law that Hovens failed to raise a genuine issue and that
Banner is entitled to partial summary judgment as a matter of law on their claim of

fraudulent concealment. CR 434-43.
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STANDARD OF REVIEW

Summary judgment is only appropriate “if the pleadings, depositions,
answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits ...
show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving
party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.” SDCL 815-6-56(c).

The South Dakota Supreme Court reviews summary judgments de novo. Godbe v.
City of Rapid City, 2022 S.D. 1, 1 19, 969 N.W.2d 208, 213. The existence of a
duty is a question of law also subject to a de novo review. Id. "[SJummary
judgment is not a substitute for trial; [and] a belief that the non-moving party will
not prevail at trial is not an appropriate basis for granting the motion on issues not
shown to be a sham, frivolous or unsubstantiated.” Toben v. Jeske, 2006 S.D. 57,
16, 718 N.W.2d 32, 37 (citation omitted). On summary judgment involving
questions of fraud, a court is not free “to weigh the evidence and determine the
matters' truth.” Olson v. Berggren, 2021 S.D. 58, { 29, 965 N.W.2d 442, 452;
quoting Hanna v. Landsman, 2020 S.D. S.D. 33, 37, 945 N.W.2d 534, 545
(citation omitted). “Questions of fraud and deceit are normally questions of fact
and as such are to be determined by a jury.” Commercial Credit Equipment Corp.
v. Johnson, 209 N.W.2d 548, 551 (S.D. 1973). All reasonable inferences that may
be drawn from the facts must be viewed in the light most favorable to the non-
moving party. Luther v. City of Winner, 2004 S.D. 1, 6, 674 N.W.2d 339, 343.
SDCL 15-6-56(c). The South Dakota Supreme Court will affirm a summary

judgment only when all legal questions have been decided correctly and there are

14



no genuine issues of material fact. McGill v. American Life & Cas. Ins. Co., 200
S.D. 153, 17,619 N.w.2d 874, 877.

ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITIES

The South Dakota Supreme Court has indicated that only when a defendant
has presumptively established that an action has been brought beyond the statutory
period does the burden then shift to the plaintiff to demonstrate the existence of
material facts in avoidance of the defense. See Clark County v. Sioux Equipment
Corp., 2008 S.D. 60, § 17, 753 N.W.2d 406, 412. Despite finding issues of fact
regarding when substantial completion occurred and when Hovens’ cause of
action accrued, the trial court shifted the burden to them and determined as a
matter of law that they had failed to raise a genuine issue of material fact to
support their claim of fraudulent concealment. CR 422-423. Hovens respectfully
submit that the trial court erred in failing to consider the mandatory professional
duties that professional land surveyors and surveying firms owe their clients and in
failing to view the evidence in a light most favorable to the Hovens as the non-
moving parties.

A. The Trial Court Erred in Accepting Banner’s Argument that it

had No Duty to Disclose to Hovens that Their Lake Home is Inadequately
Elevated after it had Verified the Fact Midway Through Their Construction

Banner argues it had no duty to disclose to Hovens that they were
completing their home at an inadequate elevation in violation of the law. Banner
argues it had no duty to disclose because it was not in a confidential relationship

with the Hovens, it was not acting as their fiduciary, and because this was an
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“arm’s length transaction.” Relying on Cleveland v. BDL Enterprises, Inc., 2003
S.D. 54, 663 N.W.2d 212 and Gades v. Meyer Modernizing Co., Inc. 2015 S.D.
42, 865 N.W.2d 155, Banner argues that Hovens must therefore demonstrate
“active concealment” on its part that prevented their discovery of the material fact.
CR 37-40; CR 381; CR 398-400. The trial court erred in accepting this argument.

The facts in Cleveland and Gades are inapposite. The problems that arose
with the properties in each of those cases were obvious and could not be concealed
by the defendants. In contrast, here the inadequate elevation of the Hovens’ home
could not be readily detected or discerned. Banner admitted this in open court.
See CR 399-400.

More importantly, the parties’ relationship here differed markedly from the
relationships in either of those cases. In Cleveland, there was no professional
relationship between the homeowners and the engineering firm involved. In both
Cleveland and Gades, there was no claim or any evidence to support a claim of a
“relationship of trust or confidence” between the parties. See Cleveland, 2003
S.D. 54 at 11 20-21, 663 N.W.2d at 218; see also, Gades, 2015 S.D. 42 at | 12,
865 N.W.2d at 160. In contrast, here the Hovens hired Banner to provide a
surveyed elevation benchmark critical to construction at or above a minimum
elevation required by law for this area of special flood hazard. After providing the
requested elevation benchmark in an inappropriate datum that could not be used
for this purpose without “the appropriate datum conversion,” Hovens re-hired

Banner and Mr. Rames to verify the correct floor elevation of their home midway
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through its construction. They clearly put their trust and confidence in Banner and
Mr. Rames and relied upon them to ensure that they started their construction at
the proper elevation, and then to confirm that they had achieved the correct
minimum elevation. Achieving and confirming the critical minimum elevation in
this area of special flood hazard was the sole reason for and object of the parties’
relationship with Banner.

Under these circumstances, the relationship between professional land
surveyor and client cannot be reasonably equated to an arms-length transaction.
Under the common law doctrine of caveat emptor, a seller of property had no duty
to disclose to his buyer because they were deemed equal in relative bargaining
power and fully able to protect themselves. See Waggoner v. Midwestern
Development, Inc., 154 N.W.2d 803 (S.D. 1967). The Hovens knew they had to
meet the City’s minimum elevation requirement, but they were necessarily reliant
on professional land surveyors to assist them in achieving and confirming the
proper elevation of their improvement.

Even in an “arms-length transaction,” a duty to disclose a material fact can
arise. The South Dakota Supreme Court has stated as follows:

[A]nyone, including those in an arms-length transactions, could have a duty

to disclose under SDCL 20-10-2(3) “facts basic to the transaction, if he

knows that the other is about to enter into it under a mistake as to them, and
that the other, because of the relationship between them, the customs of the

trade or other objective circumstances, would reasonably expect a
disclosure of those facts.”
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Schwartz v. Morgan, 2009 S.D. 110, 112, 776 N.W.2d 827, 831, citing
Ducheneaux v. Miller, 488 N.W.2d 902, 913 (S.D. 1992) (quoting Restatement
(Second) Torts 8551(2)(e)(cmt. 1)). Under the objective circumstance presented
here, Banner had a duty under to inform Hovens that they were completing their
home at an inadequate elevation, when they asked Mr. Rames to verify the critical
floor elevation midway through their construction. Steven Rames, who had
provided the “Mike Hove[n] Bench Mark” for the start of their construction,
clearly would have known that Hovens would expect him to tell them if their floor
elevation did not meet the minimum legal requirement.

Under SDCL 36-18A-48, Banner is responsible for the conduct or actions
of its agents in providing professional land surveying services. The duty of
Banner and its agents to disclose under the objective circumstances is clear.
Furthermore, their duty to disclose is mandated by Rules of Professional Conduct
that govern their profession. The Rules of Professional Conduct apply to all
licensed land surveyors and to all businesses that offer such services. See,
A.R.S.D. 20:38:36:01. In Guidelines for the Professional Practice of Surveying in
the State of South Dakota, the South Dakota Society of Professional Land
Surveyors has expressly recognized that, by law, all professional land surveyors
must adhere to these Rules of Professional Conduct. See CR 289; 292. Under
these mandatory Rules, Banner and its professional land surveyors had a duty to
maintain a high standard of integrity, skill and practice, and to safeguard the life,

health, safety, welfare, and property of the public. They were also obligated to
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know and to take into account all applicable state and municipal laws, ordinances
and regulations, and to not knowingly execute any project in violation of them.
A.R.S.D. 20:38:36:01(21).

Under these mandatory Rules, Banner and its professional surveyors also
owed Hovens as clients their duty of fidelity. See A.R.S.D. 20:38:36:01(4). In
addressing the duty of fidelity that attorneys owe clients, one court observed that
“[t]he duty of loyalty, or sometimes, the duty of fidelity speaks to the fiduciary
nature of the lawyer’s duties to his client, of confidentiality and of candor and
disclosure.” Wilbourn v. Stennett, Wilkinson & Ward, 687 So.2d 1205, 1215
(Miss. 1996). Webster’s II New Riverside University Dictionary (1984) defines
“fidelity” as:

1. Faithfulness to obligations, duties, or observances. 2. Exact
correspondence with fact or a given quality, condition, or event; Accuracy.

Even if the duty of fidelity that a professional land surveyor owes a client does not
equate to a fiduciary duty, it does seem to reflect the confidence that the client
necessarily places in such professionals and the services they provide. Even if the
duty of fidelity only requires accuracy and exactness, given the disparity in the
datum Banner used for the benchmark and for verification of the critical floor
elevation, Banner had a duty to convey the elevation information in a clear and
meaningful manner. Providing confusing information regarding such critical

information arguably does not satisfy the surveyor’s mandatory duty of fidelity.
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Furthermore, the mandatory Rules of Professional Conduct required that
Banner and its professional surveyors be “completely objective and truthful in all
professional reports [or] statements ... and [that they] include all relevant and
pertinent information in those reports [or] statements.” A.R.S.D. 20:38:36:01(25).
Even if the information that Banner and its agents provided was accurate, by
omitting the fact that the home is inadequately elevated, they failed to provide “all
relevant and pertinent information.” Finally, Banner and its agents had a
mandatory duty to disclose to the Hovens their inadvertent violation of the law.
The mandatory Rules of Professional Conduct provide that if “in the course of
work on a project, [the professional land surveyor] becomes aware of an action
taken by the client against [his] advice, which violates applicable ... municipal
laws and regulations and which will ... adversely affect the life, health, safety,
welfare and property of the public,” the client must be advised and if the client
persists, the professional must terminate his services and notify the public
authority. A.R.S.D. 20:38:36:01(22).

The mandatory Rules of Professional Conduct clearly required that Banner
and its professional land surveyors disclose to Hovens that they were constructing
their home in violation of the law. Banner and its agents chose to ignore their
professional duties. The trial court erred in accepting Banner’s argument and in
ruling as a matter of law that Banner had not fraudulently concealed this material

and pertinent fact.
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B. In Determining as a Matter of Law that Banner had Not
Fraudulently Concealed a Material Fact from the Hovens, the Trial Court
Erred in Failing to View the Evidence in a Light Most Favorable to Them

In granting partial summary judgment on the claim of fraudulent
concealment, the trial court indicated that while the information Banner provided
the Hovens “may have been confusing due to the difference[s] in datum|[s] used,”
there did not appear to be any evidence that Banner had intended to deceive the
Hovens. CR 423. In making this determination, the trial court not only
overlooked Banner’s mandatory duties, but also failed to view the evidence in a
light most favorable to the Hovens. When viewed under the correct standard,
genuine issues of material fact clearly emerge in support of each element of their
claim.

Fraudulent concealment is a form of deceit, defined in SDCL 20-10-2(3) as
“[t]he suppression of a fact by one who is bound to disclose it, or who gives
information of other facts which are likely to mislead for want of communication
of that fact[.]” Olson v. Berggren, 2021 S.D. 58, 965 N.W.2d 442, n. 10. The
elements are:

(1) The defendant had a duty to disclose a material fact to the plaintiff;

(2) The defendant [willfully concealed or suppressed the fact][willfully

gave information of other facts which were likely to mislead because of the

defendant's failure to communicate the material fact].

(3) The defendant acted with the intent to induce the plaintiff to alter the
plaintiff's position to the plaintiff's injury or risk.

(4) The undisclosed information was something the plaintiff could not
discover by acting with reasonable care.
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(5) The plaintiff relied on the misrepresentation to the plaintiff's detriment.

(6) The plaintiff suffered damage as a result.

SDCPJI No. 20-110-25. Beyond the legal question of Banner’s duty to disclose,
there are issues of fact for a jury to resolve.

Regarding the second element, the evidence supports Hovens’ claim that
Banner and its professional land surveyors willfully concealed or suppressed the
fact that their home is inadequately elevated or gave information of other facts
likely to mislead them because of their failure to communicate the material fact.
After Mr. Rames had provided the “Mike Hove[n] Bench Mark” to Hovens for the
start of their construction, when Hovens hired him back to verify the critical floor
elevation to ensure their compliance with the law midway through their
construction, he must have known they would expect him to tell them if the floor
elevation was too low. Mr. Rames verified the critical floor elevation but then
stated its elevation in the inappropriate datum that could not be compared directly
to the BFE. Naturally, this misled the Hovens into believing that he had
confirmed that their floor elevation had not only met but had exceeded the
minimum requirement.

On the third element, the Hovens must prove that Banner or its agents
intended to induce them to alter their position to their injury or damage. Banner
and Mr. Rames knew the “datum shift” at this location is .915 feet (10.98 inches).

After providing the elevation benchmark at the start, Mr. Rames must have
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realized the floor elevation he surveyed in 2009 was inadequate, by nearly the
same amount as the “datum shift.” He must have also realized that the Hovens
were unaware, yet he said nothing and provided the critical floor elevation in the
same inappropriate datum. Mr. Rames had to have known that the Hovens were
unaware of the datum shift, or of the need for the appropriate datum conversion.
He also had to have known that, unless he told them, they would continue their
construction unaware of the fact that their home is inadequately elevated.

Even if a jury could accept Mr. Rames’s claim that he did not realize that
their home is inadequately elevated after he verified its critical floor elevation,
Banner admitted it knew by May, 2010. Yet Banner did not disclose this material
fact to the Hovens. In the Elevation Certificate, Mr. Johnson again stated the
critical floor elevation in the inappropriate datum that could not be compared
directly to the BFE and he did not send the Elevation Certificate to the City for
recording as he done with the Gregerson Elevation Certificate. Recording this
critical floor elevation is required. He did not explain the datum shift to the City
or to the Hovens as he had with the Gregerson Elevation Certificate. He clearly
knew that the Hovens’ home was too low. He must have realized they were
unaware and that unless they were told, they would continue construction of their
home to completion at its inadequate elevation.

When viewed in a light most favorable to the Hovens, the evidence
suggests that Banner and its professional surveyors knew but chose not to disclose

the truth to the Hovens or to the City of Waubay. The reasonable inference to be
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drawn from the evidence is that Banner and its professional surveyors knew the
home was being completed at an inadequate elevation but did not wish to disclose
this because doing so would expose its own error in providing the elevation
benchmark for construction in the inappropriate datum. The evidence suggests
that Banner did not wish to invite a lawsuit so it opted instead to let Hovens
continue completing their inadequately elevated lake home. Banner and its
professional surveyors not only induced Hovens to continue their construction, but
also delayed their discovery of the truth. The evidence presents an issue of fact
regarding the third element of their claim of fraudulent concealment.

In regard to the fourth element, Banner argues that Hovens could have
readily determined that the home was inadequately elevated from information
provided in the Elevation Certificate. However, the argument ignores the fact that
by the time the Elevation Certificate was provided to the Hovens, they reasonably
believed that Banner had already confirmed the proper elevation of their home.
They simply requested the Elevation Certificate because it is necessary when
applying for flood insurance. Although Banner provided some additional
information regarding datums, the critical floor elevation was never stated in the
appropriate datum and nothing was done to clarify the facts for the Hovens.

When Hovens submitted the Elevation Certificate with their application for
flood insurance in 2010, FEMA did not catch the problem. FEMA said nothing.
FEMA only discerned the problem when Hovens submitted the Elevation

Certificate for a second time in 2019. FEMA then realized that the stated floor
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elevation in NAVD 88, when converted to the appropriate datum, does not meet
the BFE in NGVD 1929.

While Banner claims that Hovens should have realized their home was too
low by 2010, Mr. Rames suggested that even he did not realize this and he
attempted to suggest that Banner likely did not know. He disputed an assertion
that Banner could have easily determined this from the elevation surveys
completed in 2009 and 2010. While Mr. Rames’s credibility is in question and
Banner has now admitted it knew by May of 2010, his testimony supports Hovens’
assertion that they could not reasonably be expected to discover the fact for
themselves under the circumstances. At minimum, an issue of fact remains for a
jury to resolve.

Finally, the evidence clearly supports the remaining two elements of their
claim. The Hovens clearly relied on Banner to verify the proper floor elevation of
their home and they reasonably believed that Mr. Rames had confirmed its proper
elevation. If they had known the truth in 2010, as Banner admittedly did, they
would have ceased construction immediately until the was addressed and resolved.
They would have never installed fixtures, attached exterior decks, or completed
the home had they known it needs to be raised. If FEMA had not brought this to
their attention in 2019, Hovens would likely still be unaware. Only Banner would
know the truth. Banner has known since at least 2010 that this home stands in
violation of an Ordinance enacted by the City of Waubay to protect health, safety,

and property. Banner has also known that the home is at an increased risk of
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flooding. When viewed in a light most favorable to the Hovens, the evidence
raises material issues of fact that support the claim. The trial court erred in
granting a partial summary judgment to Banner.

CONCLUSION

Mike and Madelynn Hoven respectfully submit that the trial court erred in
granting partial summary judgment on their claim of fraudulent concealment.
After setting the benchmark, when Banner was asked to verify the proper floor
elevation midway through construction, it had a duty to disclose that the home was
inadequately elevated. Banner now admits it has known since May of 2010 that
the home is too low. The evidence suggests that Banner also knew how this
happened. While mistakes can and do happen, professional land surveyors have a
duty of fidelity to their clients, a duty to be completely truthful and to provide their
client with all pertinent and relevant information, and a duty to advise their clients
of their violation of such laws. If Banner had disclosed the truth, this matter could
have been addressed long ago. Because Banner chose to not disclose the truth,
however, a jury should now determine not only its liability for providing the
benchmark in the inappropriate datum, but also its liability for fraudulently
concealing the truth from its clients. The Hovens respectfully request that this
Honorable Court reverse the partial summary judgment and remand the claim of

fraudulent concealment for trial by a jury.
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/sl Steven J. Oberg

Steven J. Oberg

110 N. Minnesota Ave., Ste. 400

Sioux Falls, SD 57104-6475

Telephone: (605) 332-5999

E-mail: soberg@lynnjackson.com
Attorney for Plaintiffs / Appellants

REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

Appellants respectfully request oral argument on this matter.

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE

This Brief is compliant with the length requirements of SDCL 8 15-26A-
66(b). Proportionally spaced font Times New Roman 13 point has been used.
Excluding the cover page, Table of Contents, Table of Authorities, Certificate of
Service and Certificate of Compliance, Appellants’ Brief contains 6,746 words as
counted by Microsoft Word.

[s/ Steven J. Oberg
Steven J. Oberg
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Steven J. Oberg, of Lynn, Jackson, Shultz & Lebrun, P.C. hereby certifies
that on the 16" day of August, 2022, he electronically filed the foregoing
document with the Clerk of the Supreme Court via e-mail at
SCClerkBriefs@ujs.state.sd.us, and further certifies that the foregoing document
was also e-mailed to:

Gregory H. Wheeler

Boyce Law Firm, L.L.P.

300 S. Main Ave.

Sioux Falls, SD 57104

(605) 336-2424

gwheeler@boycelawfirm.com
Attorneys for Defendant / Appellee

The undersigned further certifies that the original and two (2) copies of the
Brief of Appellants in the above-entitled action were mailed by United States mail,
postage prepaid to Ms. Shirley A. Jameson-Fergel, Clerk of the Supreme Court,
State Capitol, 500 East Capitol, Pierre, SD 57501 on the above-written date.

[s/ Steven J. Oberg
Steven J. Oberg
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STATE OF SOUTH DAKOTA ) MAY 130  IN CIRCUIT COURT
. SS CLAUDETTE

COUNTY OF DAY C0. GLERK OF oy ST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
MICHAEL HOVEN AND MADELYNN 18CIV19-000037
HOVEN,
Plaintiffs, ORDER DENYING IN PARTAND
GRANTING IN PART
DEFENDANT’S MOTION FOR
SUMMARY JUDGMENT
VS.
BANNER ASSOCIATES, INC.,
Defendant.

This matter having come before the Court on April 20, 2022, on Defendant
Banner Associates, Inc.’s Motion for Summary Judgment; and Defendant Banner
Associates, Inc., having appeared through a representative, Greg Jorgenson, and with its
counsel, Gregory H. Wheeler, and Plaintiffs Michael Hoven and Madelynn Hoven having
appeared personally and with their counsel, Steven J. Oberg, and; and the Court having
read and considered the motion and all pleadings herein; and having heard and
considered the arguments of counsel; and having reviewed the evidence in a light most
favorable to Plaintiffs, and having determined that genuine issues of material fact exist
regarding when substantial completion occurred and when the cause of action accrued,;
Now Therefore, it is HEREBY:

ORDERED that Defendant Banner Associates, Inc.’s Motion for Summary
Judgment should be and is DENIED in part and GRANTED in part. The Court finds that
material questions of fact remain as to whether the Plaintiffs’ claims are barred by the
statute of repose in SDCL 15-2A-3, and the Court, therefore, DENIES that part of

Banner’s Motion. The Court finds that there are no material issues of fact relat'mgptolthe



Plaintiffs’ claims of fraudulent concealment and the Court, therefore, GRANTS the motion
for summary judgment on the issue of fraudulent concealment. Finally, the Court finds that
the statute of limitations in SDCL 15-2-13 does not apply to the Plaintiffs’ claims and the
Court, therefore, DENIES the motion for summary judgment as it relates to the issues
involving SDCL 15-2-13. 9

Dated May \i, 2022. > Q ‘

5 <] Niparial
N

Hono@e J on S. Flemmer
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BANNER

Engineering | Architecture | Surveying

Bonnur Associates, inc. | 409 22nd Ave So | PO Bow 299
Brookings, South Dekota 57006 | 605.662.6342
WwWwbannerassocistescom

Januery 25, 2010

Mike Hoven

618 W. Lakeshore Dr
Waubay, SD
205-702-4313

Re: Bullding Elevation
618 W. Lakeshore Dr

Dear Mr. Hoven,

On February 2, 2009, Banner Assoclates shot the first floor of the house/structure located at
618 W. Lakeshore Dr., in Waubay, South Dakota,

The floor elevation was 1810.19 In the Datum of NAVDSS.

LT
‘\\“ n 2
SRONAL ENyy s,
(:ﬁ . ok8 P .5

Sincerely, DA
W
(] N
W '}r,' 'ﬁ‘ ““\\
Steven D, Rames, PE,LS
Banner Associates, Inc,

Brookings, SO | Sioux Falls, SD | Rapld Clty, SD | Pipestons, MN | St. Petar, M
Exhibit C - Page 000017

App. 20
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AFFI DAVI T: OF STEVEN J. OBERG & CERTI FI CATE OF SERVICE - Scan 4 - Page 8 of 49

Service Only: 10/7/2019 4:27 PM

IMPORTANT: In these spaces, copy the cerresponding information from Section A, For insurance Company e
Building Sireet Address (inciuding Apt, Unit, Sulle, and/or Bidg Mo of P.0. Reyte and Box No Policy Nizaber

18 W Lakeshoré Drive

City Waubay State S0 ZIP Code 57273 Company NAIC Nimbar

SECTION D - SURVEYOR, ENGINEER, OR ARCHITECT CERTIFICATION (CONTINUED}

Copy both sldes of this Elavation Certificate for (1) community officiai, (2) insurance agent/company, and (3) building owner,
Comments Machinery in C2.e is ap Air Conditionersupport structure

mvgﬂfk 5_-//“{0

. Signature Daia
[ﬁ Check here if attachments

SECTION E - BUILDING ELEVATION INFORMATION (SURVEY NOT REQUIRED) FOR ZONE AO AND ZONE A (WITHOUT BFE}

For Zones AD and A (without BFE), complate items E1-E5 If the Certificate is intended to support a LOMA or LOMR-F request, camplete Sections A, B,

and C. For lterns E1-E4, use patural grade, if available. Check the measurement used. in Puerto Rico only, enter meters.

E1.  Provide alevation infornation for the following and check the appropriate boxes to show whether the elevatian is above or befow the highest adjacent
grade (HAG) and the jowest adjacent grade (LAG).
a) Top of bottom floor (including basement, crawlspace, or enclosure) is . {0 feet [ meiers [J above or [] below the HAG.
b} Top of bottom floor (including basement, crawlspace, or enclosure) is N [ feet [ meters [] abave or ] below the LAG.

E2. For Building Diagramns 8-9 with permanent flood epenings provided in Section A #teme 8 andfor § (see pagés 8-9 of Instruciions), the next higher floor
(elevation C2.b in the diagrams) of the building is . ] feet [ metars [J above or [] below the HAG.

E3. Attached garage (top of slab) is ) [ feet O meters [ above or [ below the HAG.

E4. Top of platform of machinery and/or equipment servicing the buiiding is . [ feet [] meters [J above or [] below the HAG.

E5. Zona AQ enly: If no flood depth number is available, is the top of the bottom floor elavated in aceordance with the community's floodplain management
ordinance? [JYes [0 No [] Unknown. The local official must certify this information in Section G.

SECTION F - PROPERTY OWNER (OR OWNER'S REPRESENTATIVE) CERTIFICATION

The praperty owner or cwner's authorized representative who completes Sections A, B, and E for Zone A (without a FEMA-issued or community-issuad BFE)
or Zone AQ must sign here. The statements in Sections A, B, and E are corract to the bes! of my knowledge.

Property Owner's ar Owner's Authorized Representative’s Name

Addrass City State ZIP Code
Signature ’ Date Telephone
Comments
= — [ i h j it

SECTION G - COMMUNITY INFORMATION (OPTIONAL)

The locai official who s autheeized Dy law or ordinance to administer the community's ficodplain management ordinance can complete Sections A, B, G.(er E),
and G of this Elevation Certificate. Complete the applicable itern{s} and sign below. Check the measurement used in Items G8 and G9.

G1.[d Theinformatlon in Section C was taken fiom other documentation that has been signed and sealed by a icensed surveyer, engineer, or architect who
is authorized by law ta certify elevation information. (Indicate the source and date of the elevation data in the Comments area below.)

G2.[0 A community official compieted Section E for a bullding located in Zone A (without a FEMA-issued or community-issuad BFE) or Zone AQ,
G3.[0  The following information (ltems G4-G9) is provided for communily floodplaln management purposes.

G4. Permit Number G5. Dale Pemnit Issued G6. Date Certificate Of Compliance/QOccupancy Issued
G7. This pemnit has been issued for: [ Mew Construction [ Substantial improvement
G8. Elevation of as-bullt lowest flogr (including basement) of the building: 3 feet TJ meters (PR) Datum _____
GY9 BFE or {in Zane AQ) depth of londing at the building site: ) [0 feet [J meters (PR} Datum
G10. Community's design fiood elevation , [ feet [] meters {PR) Daium
Locai Official's Nama Title
Cornmunity Nama Telaphone
~ Signature Date
Comments

Exhiliitchcx et extpgedifiins

FEMA Form 81-31, Mar 09 Exhibit kbpiddegall(positiiss editions

Filed: 4/6/2022 3:37 PM CST Day.County, South Dakota 18CIV19-000037"\PP- 22
- Page 281 -
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JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

Defendant/Appellee Banner Associates, Inc. (“Banner”) references its
Jurisdictional Statement in the related appeal in Appeal No. 30004 and Banner also does
not disagree with the Jurisdictional Statement offered by Plaintiffs/Appellants Michael

and Madeline Hoven (“Hovens™) in this appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

I. Whether the Circuit Court properly granted summary judgment to
Banner on the Hovens’ fraudulent concealment claims.

Summary judgment was properly granted to Banner because there was no
fiduciary relationship between Banner and the Hovens, and the Hovens did not,
and cannot, prove that Banner actively fraudulently concealed the existence of the
claims they are now pursuing against Banner. The statute of limitations in SDCL
15-2-13 and the statute of repose in SDCL 15-2A-3 were not tolled and are
applicable to bar the Hovens’ claims for the reasons argued in related appeal,
Appeal No. 30004.

SDCL 15-2-13

SDCL 15-2A-3

SDCL 15-2A-7

Yankton County v. McAllister, 2022 S.D. 37,977 N.W.2d 327 (S.D. 22, 2022).
Gades v. Meyer Modernizing Co., Inc. 2015 S.D. 42, 865 N.W.2d 155, 160,

(2015)
East Side Lutheran Church of Sioux Falls v. NEXT, Inc., 2014 S.D. 59, 852

N.W.2d 434 (2014)

Cleveland v. BDL Enters., Inc., 2003 S.D. 54, 663 N.W.2d 212 (2003)
Strassburg v. Citizens State Bank, 1998 8.D. 72, 581 NW.2d 510, 514 (1998)
Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. v. Fonder, 868 N.W.2d 409, 2015 S.D. 66 (2015).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Banner filed a motion for summary judgment in the Circuit Court on March 16,
2022. (CR 28-104). The Hovens filed their responsive pleadings on April 6, 2022. (CR
105-373). A hearing was held before the Circuit Court on April 20, 2022. (CR 374-375).

The Circuit Court entered an Order dated May 17, 2022, denying in part, and granting in



part, Banner’s motion for summary judgment. The Order granted summary judgment to
Banner on all of the Hovens’ claims and allegations for fraudulent concealment. Notice
of the Entry of the Order was filed on May 17, 2022. (CR 438-441). This Honorable
Court granted the Petition for Discretionary Appeal on May 25, 2022, and this appeal has

followed.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The facts of this case arise out of certain services provided by Banner in relation
to properties at Blue Dog Lake in Day County, South Dakota, near the city of Waubay.
{CR 30). The services were performed at various times, but the plaintiffs’ claims relate to
surveying and engineering services provided by Banner for Dennis and Carol Gregerson
(*Gregersons™) in 2006 and 2007, and certain professional surveying and engineering

services that were provided by Banner for the Hovens in 2009 and 2010. (CR 50-52; 75).

The Gregersons, who were not parties to this case, retained Banner to perform
certain surveying services in relation to their property in 2006. (CR 50). The Gregersons
were planning to subdivide their property and sell portions of it, one piece of which was
sold to Madelynn Hoven in 2007. (CR 83). One of the services performed by Banner for
the Gregersons was the preparation of an Elevation Certificate for the house they built on
a portion of their property. (CR 50; 54-66). The elevation Certificate was prepared for the

Gregersons in 2006. (CR 50; 54-66).

In performing the professional services for the Gregersons, Banner determined a
benchmark on the Gregerson property and set an iron pin at the location of the

benchmark on, or around, June 9, 2006. (CR 51; 93-94). The location of the iron pin




ended up being on the portion of the property that was subdivided and later sold to

Madelynn Hoven. (CR 51; 85).

In mid-2007, Mike Hoven contacted Steve Rames, a former employee of Banner,
regarding the benchmark. (CR 85). Mr. Hoven simply asked Mr. Rames for the clevation
of the benchmark. (CR 85). Banner sent a surveyor to mark the elevation of the iron pin
in early September 2007. (CR 87-88; 95). The elevation of 1806.96 was marked on a
lathe stake that was placed next to the iron pin. (CR 87-88; 95). There were no
improvements on the Hoven property at that time — the house had not yet been
constructed. (CR 85-86). The house was built by the end of 2007. (CR 83-84; 97-99).
Banner performed no work on the Hoven or Gregerson properties until 2009. (CR 51; 96;

104).

The elevation of the pin that was noted on the lathe stake was 1806.96 NAVDS8.
(CR 87-88; 95). It matched the elevation from the Elevation Certificate provided to the
Gregersons, and the lathe stake was marked using what had previously been determined
for the Gregersons. (CR 54-66; 93-95). Mr. Rames also sent a document to Mr. Hoven
showing the property lines for the subdivided Gregerson property and showing the
benchmark at 1806.96. (CR 100-103). The document was never used by Michael Hoven
and Madelynn Hoven (“Hovens”) in any way. (CR 86). Instead, they claim that they
believe that their concrete contractor, Moe’s Concrete, used the elevation noted on the

lathe stake next to the iron pin in setting the foundation for the house. (CR 86). The

testimony was:

Q. Did you provide this document to Moe’s, to the guys pouring the
concrete?




A. 1did not.
Q. Did you have someone provide it to them?

A. 1did not. The benchmark was set for them, and they shot off of that
and set the elevation of the form.

(CR 86).

Banner was never officially retained by the Hovens in 2007, did not bill the
Hovens for any work at that time, and the Hovens never paid for any services at that time.
(CR 51). The testimony was: “Q. Do you recall having a direct relationship with Banner
at the time? A. I think I let Gregerson take care of that, if I remember right.” (CR 51).
Banner was not involved in the staking, layout, or construction of the Hovens’ house.

(CR 51).

Over the next few months, the Hovens built the house on the property. (CR 83).
The house was constructed and enclosed by the end of 2007. (CR 83-84; 97-99). The
Hovens admitted that it was built by the end of 2007 and the photographs support that
admission. (CR 83-84; 97-99). All elevations of the house were set at that time, even
though the plaintiffs claim that they continued to work on the inside of the house over a

longer period of time. (CR 83-84; 97-99).

The first time Banner was actually retained and paid by the Hovens was in 2009.
(CR 51). In 2009, Banner shot an elevation for the first floor of the Hoven house that was
provided to the Hovens in early 2010, (CR 51; 96; 104). The house was obviously
constructed at that time. (CR 104). The floor elevation was listed at 1810.19 NAVDS8.

(CR 104).




Also in 2010, Banner provided the Hovens (Madelynn Hoven) with an Elevation
Certificate dated May 11, 2010, (CR 51; 67-74). It lists the various elevations of the
house, both in NAVD88 and NGVD29 datum. (CR 51; 67-74). On the sixth page of the
Elevation Certificate, there is a diagram showing all of the elevations at issue in each of
the datum, it lists the conversion, and it clearly shows the Base Flood Elevation (BFE) at
1810.0 (NGVD29) = 1810.9 (NAVDS8). (CR 17; 72). 1t also clearly shows the Finished
Floor Elevation (FFE) at 1810 (NAVDS88). (CR 17; 72). On its face, it shows that the
FFE is 0.9 feet (10.8 inches) below the BFE. (CR 17; 72). This information was
responsive to the request of the Hovens, it was open, obvious, and easy to understand on
the drawing included in the Elevation Certificate. (CR 17; 72). The Hovens used that
diagram, which showed those elevations and the conversion, to support their claims by
attaching it as Exhibit “C” to their Complaint. These elevations and conversions are also

included in the rest of the Elevation Certificate. (CR 67-74).

There is no expert or other evidence that there is anything wrong with the
Elevation Certificate. (CR 51). The elevations and conversions are accurate. (CR 51). In
fact, the plaintiffs rely upon those elevations being accurate in the pursuit of their claims.
(CR 3-9; 17). The affidavits provided by Banner established that the professional services
performed by Banner were performed in accordance with the professional standard of

care. (CR 50-53; 75-77). There is no expert evidence to the contrary. (CR 51).

Banner provided no other services for, or in relation to, the Hovens or their house
after May 11, 2010. (CR 50-51). Banner had no contact with the Hovens after May 11,
2010. (CR 89). Banner did not actively (or passively) conceal or withhold any

information from the plaintiffs and did not try to prevent them from knowing about any




potential claim they may have relating to any of the services provided by Banner. (CR 52;
76).
ARGUMENT

The Hovens argue two things in their appeal in this matter. First, they argue that
the circuit court erred in finding that Banner did not have a duty to disclose certain
unidentified information to the Hovens. It is not entirely clear what it is that Banner failed
to disclose. The second argument made by the Hovens in their brief is that the circuit
court erred in finding that Banner did not fraudulently conceal certain information.
Again, it is not entirely clear what Banner fraudulently concealed. Banner contends that
the circuit court properly ruled that the Hovens’ fraudulent concealment arguments, and
claims against Banner were barred as matter of law, and that Banner was entitled to

summary judgment as to those claims and issues.

The fraudulent concealment issues are really only relevant for a couple of reasons.
It was pled to get around the application and running of the statute of repose in SDCL 15-
2A-3. Under SDCL 15-2A-7, a party guilty of active fraudulent concealment cannot take
advantage of SDCL 15-2A-3. If the Hovens could prove that Banner actively and
fraudulently concealed from the Hovens the existence of their claims, the statute of
limitations in SDCL 15-2-13 would also be tolled. They did not, and cannot, show fraud
on the part of Banner and the Hovens claims are barred by the statute of limitations in

SDCL 15-2-13 and the statute of repose in SDCL 15-2A-3.

The analysis applied by this Court for those various issues is essentially the same.
To toll the statute of limitations in SDCL 15-2-13, absent a fiduciary relationship

between the parties, active fraudulent concealment of the existence of the claim has to be
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shown,. Fraud must also be shown for SDCL 15-2A-7 to prevent the running of the
statute of repose in SDCL 15-2A-3. It, too, involves first determining if there is a
confidential or fiduciary relationship between the plaintiffs and the defendant. If there is
no fiduciary relationship, the plaintiffs must prove that they were actively prevented from
determining the existence of their claim by the active fraudulent concealment by the
defendant. The defendant must conceal form the plaintiffs the existence of their claim. If
there is a fiduciary relationship, the plaintiffs must still show that there was fraudulent
concealment on the part of the defendant, but it does not have to be active concealment.
The fraud needed to toll the statute of limitations, or prevent the statute of repose from

being applied, are addressed below together.

L The Applicable Standards and the Requirement of a Fiduciary
Relationship Between the Parties.

“Fraudulent concealment may toll the statute of limitations.” Yarnkton County v.
MecAllister, 2022 S.D. 37, 977 N.W.2d 327, 339 (S.D. 2022). McAllister involved a notice
requirement under a different statute, but still involved the issue of the tolling of the
statute due to fraud. There, this Court held that: “In the absence of some trust or
confidential relationship between the parties there must be some affirmative act or
conduct on the part of the defendant designed to prevent, and which does prevent, the
discovery of the cause of action. Mere silence, in the absence of a duty to speak, is not
ordinarily sufficient.... [I]f a trust or confidential relationship exists between the parties,
which imposes a duty to disclose, mere silence by the one under that duty constitutes
fraudulent concealment.” Id. Generally, in such a relationship, the “property, interest or

authority of the other is placed in charge of the fiduciary.” /d. “Normally, in a fiduciary




relationship, one of the parties has a superior power over the other.” /d. “In the absence
of a fiduciary relationship, fraudulent concealment does not exist simply because a cause
of action remains undiscovered, but only when the defendant affirmatively prevents
discovery.” Id. “The existence of a fiduciary duty and the scope of that duty are questions
of law for the court.” /d.

This analysis has been applied in the context of the statute of limitations in SDCL
15-2-13 and the statute of repose in SDCL 15-2A-3 in cases involving construction
claims and claims against construction professionals, including registered professional
engineer;.

First, in Gades v. Meyer Modernizing Co., Inc. 2015 8.D. 42, 865 N.W.2d 155,
160, (2015), the plaintiffs asserted construction defect and water infiltration claims
against a subcontractor who installed siding, soffits and gutters on their home. They
claimed that the fraud on the part of the subcontractor prevented tﬁe running of the statute
of limitations in SDCL 15-2-13 (1) that barred their claims.

In evaluating those issues, this Court stated: “/n the absence of “a confidential or

fiduciary relationship,” a plaintiff alleging fraudulent concealment must allege “some
affirmative act or conduct on the part of the defendant designed to prevent, and which
does prevent, the discovery of the cause of action.” Id. (quoting Koenig v. Lambert, 527
N.W.2d 903, 905-06 (8.D.1995), overruled on other grounds, Stratmeyer v.

Stratmeyer, 1997 S.D. 97, 567 N.W.2d 220) (internal quotation marks omitted) (emphasis
added). This Court held that: “Here, the Gadeses do not claim, and the record does not
suggest, a relationship of trust or confidence between the Gadeses and Meyer. Fiduciary

duties ... are not inherent in normal arm's-length business relationship{s] and arise only




when one undertakes to act primarily for another's benefit.” Cleveland v. BDL Enters.,

Inc., 2003 S.D. 54, 9 18, 663 N.W.2d 212, 218 {(quoting Schwaiger v. Mitchell
Radiology, 2002 S.D. 97, 119, 652 N.W.2d 372, 380) (internal quotation marks omitted)
(emphasis added). “Therefore, the Gadeses are required to prove some affirmative act on
Meyer’s part, that Meyer designed such act to prevent the Gadeses to prevent the

Gadeses from detecting their cause of action and that they were actually prevented from

discovering their cause of action.” Gades, 865 N.W.2d at 160 (emphasis added).

Similarly, Cleveland v. BDL Enters., Inc., 2003 S.D. 54, 1 18, 663 N.W.2d 212
(2003), involved the statute of repose in SDCL 15-2A-3 and reports made by an
engineering firm. The plaintiffs in Cleveland were a group of homeowners who asserted
claims against a developer, BDL, and an engineering firm, FMG. Importantly, BDL also
asserted crossclaims against FMG. That is important because FMG was hired directly by
BDL to perform the engineering services. This Court upheld summary judgment to FMG
on all of the claims asserted against FMG by the homeowners and by BDL, holding that
all of the claims were barred by the statue of repose in SDCL 15-2A-3.

The plaintiffs and third-party plaintiffs in Cleveland claimed that SDCL 15-2A-3
was inapplicable because of fraud under SDCL 15-2A-7. This Court looked at whether
there was the type of relationship between the parties that led to a fiduciary duty on the
part of the engineering firm (FMG) to the homeowners. This Court held that: “[A]t no
time did FMG hold itself out as being in charge of the Homeowners' property rights or in
some manner representing their interests.” /d. at 219. “We find that no confidential or
fiduciary relationship existed between FMG and the Homeowners. FMG was employed

by BDL to conduct soil engineering work. FMG stood in the shoes of BDL and had an



arms-length relationship with the Homeowners. See Trouten v. Heritage Mut. Ins.

Co., 2001 SD 106, 732, 632 N.W.2d 856, 864.” Cleveland, 663 N.W.2d at 219. “Having
determined that no confidential relationship existed between FMG and the Homeowners,
we next turn to whether FMG ook affirmative steps to conceal the facts that supported
Homeowners' causes of action.” Cleveland, 663 N.W.2d at 219 (emphasis added). See
also, Klinker v. Beach, 1996 S.D. 56, 547 N.W.2d 572 (S.D. 1996). The Court also held
that summary judgment was properly granted to FMG on the claims asserted by BDL, the
party with whom FMG had a contractual and business relationship.

This Court has evaluated the fiduciary or confidential relationship issue in these
and several other cases. “Unlike professional negligence, breach of a fiduciary duty
requires a fiduciary relationship between the parties and not merely a foreseeable injury.”
Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. v. Fonder, 868 N.W.2d 409, 2015 S.D. 66 (2015). As noted in
Fonder, “The Fonders cannot show that WFFS was acting as their fiduciary when it made
the flood determination for the Bank because there was no fiduciary relationship.” /d.
“Fiduciary duties, which often produce the duty to disclose, ‘are not inherent in normal
arm's-length business relationship, and arise only when one undertakes to act primarily
for another's benefit.”” Schwaiger v. Mitchell Radiology, 2002 SD 97, 9 19, 652 N.W.2d
372, 380 (citing Dinsmore v. Piper Jaffray, 1999 SD 56, § 20, 593 N.W.2d 41, 47).
Fiduciary duties typically arise in trust relationships, attorney-client relationships and
arise out of the defendant’s representation of the plaintiff with respect to transactions for,
and on behalf of, the plaintiff, They do not arise out of this type of situation.

IL There Was No Fiduciary Relationship Between the Hovens and

Banner.
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Here, at no point was Banner acting as a fiduciary for the Hovens, acting on
behalf of the Hovens, or representing them in some way, which would have given rise to
a fiduciary relationship. Instead, at most, this was not an arm’s-length transaction. In fact,
there was no real “transaction” at all for the 2007 work.

For purposes of addressing this issue, it is important to focus on the timeline
reflected in the record. These facts are contained above, but for sake of simplicity and

clarity, these are the essential facts relating to the two issues raised by the Hovens in this

appeal.

Around September 5, 2007 — Michael Hoven asked Banner to provide the
elevation of an iron pin on the property the Hovens just purchased from
the Gregersons. Banner sent a surveyor to the property to mark the
elevation previously provided for the Gregersons on a lathe stake next to

the iron pin.

After September 5. 2007 and before the end of 2007 -- The Hoven house

was fully constructed and closed in with windows, doors a roof and other
envelope essentials. The finished floor elevation, final elevations of the
house were all set by the construction. Banner was not involved with the

construction and did not see the house as it was built until at least 2009.

From September 5, 2007 untit 2009 or 2010 -- Banner had no involvement

with the Hoven property until at least February of 2009. Banner provided

the Hovens with reports in 2010.

11




May 11, 2010 -- Banner provided the Hovens with an Elevation Certificate
containing, along with other detailed, pertinent data, a sketch showing and
stating the elevation of the finished floor elevation and the base flood
elevation in both datum, as well as the applicable datum conversion. The
sketch shows the FFE as 1810.0 (NAVD88) and the BFE as 1810.9
(NAVD88). The sketch shows the FFE is .9 feet below the BFE. The
Certificate itself contains the same information, but the sketch was what
was referenced in, relied upon, and attached to the Complaint to show the

problem.

After Mav 11. 2010 -- Banner had no other involvement with the Hoven

house, property or the Hovens between May 2010 and 2019.

As it relates to the work performed in 2007, there was no formal relationship, at
all. There was no contract between Banner and the Hovens for the 2007 work. Banner’s
2007 contract was with the Gregersons, and the marking of the elevation of the iron pin
for the Hovens was essentially done as a favor for the Hovens for no payment. The work
still had to be performed properly (which it was by all of the expert evidence submitted in
the case), but it certainly cannot be argued that there was a fiduciary relationship between
Banner and the Hovens for that work.

The damage claimed by the Hovens resulted when they built their house in the fall
of 2007. At that point, the elevations of their house were set and could not be changed.
Banner was not at all a part of that work. There was no fiduciary relationship applicable

to the construction of the house.

12




Again, in 2010, the relationship between the Hovens and Banner was pursuant to
a typical verbal professional services agreement. They take place all the time between
design professionals and the people who hire them (as in Cleveland between BDL and
FMG). Banner was not representing the Hovens’ interests in some special fashion.
Instead, it was a typical arms-length transaction.

Equally as important, there is nothing wrong with the information provided to the
Hovens in the 2010 Elevation Certificate. It was one-hundred percent accurate. It told the
Hovens that they had built their house with a finished floor elevation that was lower than
the base flood elevation. There was a diagram that expressly laid out that issue. All of the
elevations were clearly shown in both datum and the conversions were included. That
very information is what supported the Hovens’ claims when they were filed in 2019 and
the very diagram that shows all of the issues was included as Exhibit “C” to the Hovens’
Complaint, There is no fraud, active or otherwise.

The situation here is analogous to the situation in Cleveland, where the Court
stated: “We find that no confidential or fiduciary relationship existed between FMG and
the Homeowners. FMG was employed by BDL to conduct soil engineering work, FMG
stood in the shoes of BDL and had an arms-length relationship to the Homeowners.”
Cleveland, 663 N.W.2d at 218-219; See Trouten v. Heritage Mut. Ins. Co., 2001 SD 106,
132, 632 N.W.2d 856, 864. “Moreover, at no time did FMG hold itself out as being in
charge of the Homeowners' property rights or in some manner representing their
interests.” /d. at 219.

The Hovens try to distinguish Cleveland from the current situation by saying that

the homeowners in Cleveland had no relationship to the engineering firm (FMG) did not
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hold itself out as representing the homeowners’ interests. Here, there was no relationship
between the Hovens and Banner for the work that is really at issue — the elevation for the
iron pin given in 2007. The Hovens did not contract, pay for, or otherwise hire Banner to
perform that work. That work was pursuant to a contract Banner had with the Gregersons.
The determination of the elevation at issue was pursuant to the contract with the
Gregersons, for which the Gregersons made payment to Banner. Any relationship with
the plaintiffs was, at most, an arm’s-length transaction, and not a fiduciary relationship.

There was a contractual relationship between Banner and the Hovens in 2010, but
Banner was not representing the Hovens’ interests to outside persons or entities.
Additionally, as noted above, there was absolutely nothing wrong with the work
performed at that time (the Elevation Certificate). The Hovens contend that the elevations
found at that time are accurate and, as mentioned, the elevation certificate spelled out
exactly the issues that are the subject of the Hovens’ Complaint.

There was never a fiduciary relationship between the Hovens and Banner.

III.  Because There Was No Fiduciary Relationship, The Hovens Had to
Show Active Fraudulent Concealment of the Existence of their Claims by Banner to
Toll the Statute of Limitations in SDCL 15-2-13.

As noted in Gades, and other cases addressing fraud that will toll the limitation
period in SDCL 15-2-13, the Hovens were required to show an affirmative act on the part
of Banner that was designed by Banner {o prevent the Hovens from detecting their cause
of action, and that the Hovens actually were prevented from discovering their cause of
action. Gades, 865 N.W.2d at 160. Furthermore, “Fraudulent concealment will not toll

the statute of limitations, no matter the nature of the concealment, if a plaintiff is already
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on notice of a cause of action..’; Id. “[E]stablishing fraudulent concealment will not toll
the period of limitation beyond the moment ‘the claim is discovered or might have been
discovered with reasonable diligence.”” Id.

Here, there was no concealment of anything, and particularly not the existence of
the Hovens’ cause of action. It is not clear what was allegedly concealed. If it is anything
related to the 2007 work, it would have become apparent to the Hovens, or to reasonable
people, at the latest in 2010 — nine years before the claims were filed. In May 2010, the
Hovens had everything they eventually used to assert their claims against Banner.
Everything was spelled out and diagramed in the Elevation Certificate provided to them.

The claims relate to the finished floor elevation being below the base flood
elevation. The Elevation Certificate provided by Banner to the Hovens in May 2010 told
the Hovens exactly that fact. The Certificate has all of the elevations, the conversion
between the different datum and a diagram that shows the house, the Base Flood
Elevation (BFE) at “1810.0 (NGVD29) = 1810.9 (NAVD88)” and the Finished Floor
Elevation (FFE) at “1810 (NAVD88).” On its face, it shows that the FFE is 0.9 feet (10.8
inches) below the BFE. The Elevation Certificate fully, openly and overtly told the
Hovens everything they needed to know to pursue the claims they are now pursuing. In
fact, the information in that Elevation Certificate is what the Hovens rely upon in making
the allegations in this case that the finished floor elevation of the house is 0.9 feet below
the base flood.

The fact that they did not look at the elevation certificate, and their insurer
apparently did not look at it, is inconsequential. Again, it is the very information that was

used to support their claims once they finally looked at it. Certainly, in May 2010, if not
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earlier, the Hovens were on notice, or reasonable people would have been on notice, of
the existence of their cause of action. Banner did nothing after that point whatsoever, so it
cannot be alleged or argued that Banner prevented the Hovens from determining that they
had the claims they are now pursuing,

Even if it was not necessary to show “active” fraudulent concealment, the above
analysis demonstrates that there was no fraud on the part of Banner that was designed to
prevent the Hovens from discovering their claims. “In order to be actionable fraud must
be based upon the misrepresentation of a material fact.” Gades, 663 N.W.2d at 219,
(empbhasis in original). “Fraud has been defined as ‘a representation . . . made as a
statement of fact, which was untrue and known to be untrue by the party making it.” Id. at
291 to 220. It must be “made with intent to deceive and for the purpose of inducing the
other party to act upon it. /d. at 220. What misrepresentation of a material fact was made
by Banner? There was none. The information provided was all true. Banner did not
knowingly provide false information to the Hovens. Banner did not induce the Hovens to
act. What possible purpose would Banner have had for inducing the Hovens to do what
they did? There is no support for the idea that Banner committed fraud. Banner laid out
everything that eventually led to the Hovens’ claims and presented it directly to them.
How can that possibly be considered fraud?

The same analysis would apply to the issues involving the application of the
statute of repose in SDCL 15-2A-3. Under Cleveland, the issues and questions are the
same. There is no fiduciary relationship between the Hovens and Banner, and the Hovens
needed to show active fraudulent concealment. Banner did not, at any point, conceal

anything from the Hovens. The information that is the subject of the complaint was
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plainly, openly and clearly spelled out for the Hovens. The fact that they ignored it is
inconsequential. There is no fraud to prevent the application of the SDCL 15-2A-3.

Finally, even if the Hovens are asserting an independent fraudulent concealment
claim, it would also have the same defects. There is no fraudulent misrepresentation.
There was no knowing inducement to make the Hovens act in some way. Nothing was
concealed from the Hovens — everything was patently apparent. Banner did not prevent
the plaintiffs form learning that they had built their house with a finished floor elevation
below the base flood elevation. It was Banner that pointed it out to the Hovens and they
chose to ignore it.

For the above reasons, there is no fraud that would toll the statute of limitations.
Even if there was (which is denied), the plaintiffs had all of the information they needed
to pursue their claims in May 2010 — nine years before they filed suit. Additionally, there
1s no fraud that would warrant the application of SDCL 15-2A-7, which would prevent
the statute of repose in SDCL 15-2A-3 from running and applying to the claims. Finally,
any independent fraudulent concealment claim would fail because the Hovens did not,
and cannot, prove the essential elements of such a claim. Additionally, that claim would
also be barred by the statute of limitations in SDCL 15-2-13. It would have accrued at the
latest in May 2010 when the Hovens had all of the information to support their current
claims.

IV.  The Other Issues Raised by the Hovens are Not Relevant or
Applicable,

The Hovens refer to professional regulation standards for professional licensees

under the Board for Technical Professions in an attempt to establish a heightened

17




relationship or standard for Banner’s services. They claim that these regulations gave rise
to a “duty to disclose information” on the part of Banner. It is entirely unclear what
Banner was supposed to disclose that wasn’t disclosed when learned by Banner. Also,
there is no context for the application of the standards to the current situation. There is
not expert testimony presented by the Hovens that support any violation of the standards
of professional conduct or how there was a violation under these circumstances.

The Hovens cite to the requirement that professionals be truthful in the
preparation of reports, under A.R.S.D. 20:38:36:01 (25). There is no indication that there
is anything wrong in the reports prepared by Banner. As mentioned, the Hovens rely
upon the information in the Elevation Certificate in trying to prove their claims. They
claim that Banner should have told the Hovens that they were constructing their home in
violation of the law under A.R.S.D. 20:38:36:01 (22). The evidence shows, however, that
Banner saw the property when it was empty, with nothing but an iron pin 2007. The
house was, by the Hovens® own testimony, not built yet. The evidence then shows that
Banner did not see the property again until at least 2009 — long after the house had been
built in late 2007. Again, the Hovens’ own testimony and their photographs show that the
house was built by the end of 2007. Finally, the elevation certificate was accurate, met
the standard of care, and told the Hovens everything they needed to know about their
situation. The information was “truthful.”

Finally, the Hovens cite to a lack of “fidelity” on the part of Banner, again with no
context, no supporting expert evidence or anything showing what is required for
professional land surveyors or professional engineers under the circumstances. Banner,

on the other hand provided the sworn testimony of a registered land surveyor and a
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registered professional engineer that Banner complied with the professional standards of
care applicable to those professions. Also, and at the risk of again repeating the obvious,
Banner gave the Hovens everything they eventually used to assert their claim back in
May 2010. They had nine years to assert the claim before they finally filed the Complaint
based on the actions in 2007 and what was provided to them in 2010. There was no “lack
of “fidelity.”

The citations to the professional rules of conduct do nothing to change the fact
that there is no evidence to support any fraud, fraudulent concealment or similar claim
against Banner that would toll the statute of limitations, prevent the application of SDCL
15-2A-3 or that would support a fraud claim that is not barred by the statute of
limitations.

Under the above reasoning and the holdings in the cases cited by Banner, there is
no fraud, fraudulent concealment or fraudulent misrepresentation or any other conduct on
the part of Banner that would toll the statute of limitations in SDCL 15-2-13, that would
invoke SDCL 15-2A-7, or support a claim for fraud. The statute of limitations applies and
bars the Hovens’ claims (for the reasons cited in Banner’s Appellant’s Brief in Appeal
No. 30004) as does the statute of repose in SDCL 15-2A-3. Banner was entitled to
summary judgment as to all of the Hovens’ claims.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Banner respectfully requests that this Court affirm the

finding of the Circuit Court that there was no fraud or fraudulent concealment on the part

of Banner and that Banner was intitled to summary judgment as to all of those claims.
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STATE OF SOUTH DAKOTA ) IN CIRCUIT COURT

COUNTY OF DAY ) > FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
MICHAEL HOVEN and MADELYNN 18CTV19-000037
HOVEN,

Plaintiffs, COMPLAINT
Vs,
BANNER ASSOCIATES, INC,,

Defendant.

COMES NOW Plaintiffs, Michael Hoven and Madelynn Hoven (collectively referred to
herein as “Plaintiffs™), and for their Complaint against Defendant, Banner Associates, Iic.
(hereinafter referred to as “Defendant™), state and allege as follows:

1. Plaintiffs are husband and wife.

2. Michael Hoven is a resident of South Dakota and resides in Waubay, Day County,
South Daketa. His wife, Madelynn Hoven, is a resident of lowa and maintains a residence in
Matlock, lowa.

3. Defendant is & South Dakota Corporation with its principal place of business in
Brookings, South Dakota.

4, This action involves claims against Defendant that arise out of professional
engineering and/or surveying services that it provided to Plaintiffs in regard to the constiuction of
their lake home located in Waubay, Day County, South Dakota, and damages they have suftered
resulting from Defendant’s negligence.

5. Venue in this Court is therefore appropriate pursuant to 8.D.C.L. §15-5-1(1) and
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18C1V19-000037

8.D.C.L. §15-5-8.

6. In 2007, Plaintiffs began construction of a lake home on Blue Dog Lake in
Waubay, South Dakota.

Z Before beginning construction of their lake home, Plaintiffs hired Defendant to
establish and “set” a benchmark for the construction of their lake home, 1o ensure that their lake
home would be constructed at an elevation high enough to be safe from flooding and in full
compliance with all applicable building codes and FEMA requirements for flood insurance
purposes.

8. Defendant, through its agents or employees, set a benchmark for construction of
Plaintiffs’ lake home. See Exhibit A.

9. The benchmark for construction, established by Defendant, its agents or
employees, was set and established on their property at 1806.96. No vertical datum was
referenced in the document provided by Defendant.

10.  Inreliance thereon, Plaintiffs began the construction of their lake home, using the
benchmark set and established by Defencl'am, its agents or employees, adding more-than-
sufficient additional elevation to ensure that the elevation of their lake home would meet or
exceed 1810 feet, which Detfendant advised was the minimum elevation required.

11. At the time, Michael Hoven was employed as a foreman at a large commercial
contracting firm, with projects both domestic and abroad, and he often traveled out of state
and/or out of country for extended periods of time in connection with his work.

12. Due to Michael Hoven's work schedule, construction of the lake home necessarily
proceeded intermittently over the course of several years, as time permitted.

13, As their lake home was nearing completion in 2010, Plaintiffs again hired
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Defendant to survey their lake home, for the purpose of completing an Elevation Certificate to
comply with local building authority requirements and FEMA flood insurance requirements.

14.  Defendant, its employees or agents, surveyed the property and determined that the
floor elevation of the lake home was 1810.19 “in the Datum of NAVDS8.” Sec Exhibit B.

15.  Defendant, its agents or employees, completed an Elevation Certificate for
Plaintiffs’ lake home in May, 2010. See Exhibit C.

16.  Plaintiffs’ lake home was substantially completed in 2011.

17.  Plaintiffs have since used their lake home over the past several years, without
significant problems or issues.

18.  Inthe spring of 2019, Plaintiffs were advised by FEMA that their flood insurance
premiums would be raised significantly after FEMA had discovered that the elevation of their
lake home had been established based upon a benchmark that mistakenly utilized and misapplied
an incoirect or inappropriate vertical datum, the “Datum of NAVDSS,” instead of the correct and
appropriate vertical datum, “NGVD 1929.”

19.  Plaintiffs learned in the spring of 2019 that this inaccurate, erroneous, and

" inappropriate vertical datumn, “NAVD38,” is approximately .9 feet (almost 11 inches) lower than
the vertical datum recognized and accepted by FEMA, *NGVD 1929, which is used for flood
insurance purposes and flood maps published by FEMA.

20.  Asaresult of the erroneous, inaccurate, and inappropriate benchmark established,
set and provided by Defendant based on its use of an erroneous, incotrect, improper or
inappropriate vertical datum, not recognized or followed by FEMA, the grade set and cstablished
for Plaintiffs’ lake home is nearly one foot (1°) lower than it should have been. and otherwise

would have been, if Defendant, its agents or employees had used the correct, accurate, and
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appropriate vertical datum recognized and accepted by FEMA.

21.  Defendant, its agents and employees, referred to both “NAVDS8” and NGVD
19297 in the Elevation Certificate that they prepared for Plaintiffs in 2010.

22. Upon information and belief, Defendant, its agents and employees, knew by that
time that it had been using an inaccurate, inappropriate, or erroneous vertical dalum not
recognized by FEMA or other authorities for the area, and that it had used the wrong vertical
datum in establishing the benchmark for construction of Plaintiffs* lake home.

23.  Despite the knowledge of Defendant, its agents or employees, the fact of this
mistake, and of their misuse and misapplication of an erroneous, incorrect, and/or inappropriate
vertical datum to establish the benchmark for construction of Plaintiffs’ lake home, this fact was
withheld from Plaintiffs.

24.  Defendant, its agents or employees, held themselves out to Plaintiffs as experts in
the field of professional surveying.

25.  Defendant, its agents and employees, knew that Plaintiffs were relying upon them
1o establish an accurate, correct, and appropriate benchimark for the construction of their lake
home, and that they intended to and did rely upon that benchmark to establish a correct, accurate,
and appropriate minimum elevation level for the construction of their lake home in compliance
with applicable building codes and/or FEMA flood insurance requirements.

26.  Upon information and belicf, Defendant, its agents and employecs, deliberately
withheld the fact of its error and its misapplication ol the erroneous, incorrect or inappropriate
vertical datum in establishing a benchmark for construction of Plaintifts™ Jake home.

27.  In failing to observe and utilize the cotreet, accurate, and appropriate vertical

datum to establish the benchmark for construetion of Plaintiffs’ lake home, Defendant, its agents
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and employees, failed to observe and exercise the degree of care that reasonable engineers and
surveyors would use in providing such professional assistance and service to homeowners in the
construction of a lake home, or in preparing an Elevation Certificate for submission to FEMA for
flood insurance purposes.

28. By their actions and/or amissions, Defendant and its agents and employees were
negligent.

29.  Asalegal and proximate result of such negligence, Plaintiffs have suffered and
sustained damage to their property, including a loss of use and a loss of substantial value in their

. lake home.

30.  As alegal and proximate result of such negligence, Plaintiffs have and will
comtinue to incur additional flood insurance premiums until the home is raised to an acceptable
minimum clevation level.

31.  Asalegal and proximate result of such negligence, Plaintiffs have expended
significant time, money, and labor trying to protect their home,

32, Asa legal and proximate result of such negligence, Plaintiffs will incur significant
expense associated with raising their home and the surrounding landscz_iping to an appropriate
and acceptable minimum elevation based upon the correct, appropriate, and accurate vertical
datum.

33.  As alegal and proximate result of such negligence, Plaintiffs have experienced
inconvenience, stress, worry, and have and will continue to experience a loss of enjoyment of
their property.

34, Upon information and belief, Defendant knew that it had been using an erroneous,

inaccurnte, incorrect and inappropriate vertical datum, or a vertical datum not recognized or
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accepted by FEMA and/or other authorities, as early as 2010, before Plaintiffs’ lake home was
completed.

35.  Uponinformation and belief, Defendant, its agents and employeces withheld
information regarding its error, mistake, misapplication, and misuse of the 1988 NAVD from
Plaintiffs and from others.

36.  Plaintiffs became aware of Defendant’s error and of its misapplication of the 1988
NAVD in establishing the benchmark for construction of their lake home, in the spring of 2019,
through direct communications with FEMA, when FEMA officials notified them of Defendant’s
crror, and advised Plaintiffs that, as a consequence, Plaintiffs’ flood insurance premiums for their
lake home would be raised significantly to reflect the resulting increased risk of and exposure to
flooding.

37.  Defendant, through its agents or employees has acknowlcdged its crror to and in
the presence of Michael Hoven, and, upon information and belief, has also admitted its mistake
to and in the presence of other interested parties and authorities.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray for relief as follows:

1. For judgment against Defendant in an amount to fully compensate Plaintiffs for their
damage, including but not limited to the loss of use of their lake home,
inconvenience, the loss of value to their lake home, increased costs of flood
insurance, and the cost of raising their lake home and surrounding property to a

proper elevation to meet or exceed minimum standards.

1~

Far an award of prejudpment interest.
3. Foran award of costs and disbursements provided by law; and

4. For such other a nd further relief as is deemed just, warranted and authorized by law,

G
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Dated July 26, 2019.

LYNN, JACKSON, SHULTZ & LEBRUN, P.C.

/s/ Steven J. Oberg

Steven J. Oberg

110 N. Minnesota Ave., Ste. 400

Sioux Falls, SD 57104

Telephone: (605) 332-5999

E-Mail: soberg(@lynniackson.com
Attorney for Plaintiffs

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

The undersigned hereby certifies on July 26, 2019, 1 caused the following document:

¢ COMPLAINT

to be filed electronically with the Clerk of Court through Odyssey File & Serve, and that Odyssey
File & Serve will serve an clectronic copy upon the following:

Gregory H. Wheeler

Boyce Law Finn, L.L.P.

300 S. Main Avenue

PO Box 5015

Sioux Falls, SD 57117-5015

Telephone: (605) 336-2424

E-mail: ghwheeler@boycelaw.com
Attorney for Defendant

{5/ Steven J. Oberg
Steven J. Oberg
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1.5, DEPARTMENT OF HOMELAND SECURITY ELEVATION CERTIFICATE OMB No. 1660-0008
Federal Emergency Management Agency Expires March 31, 2012

National Fload Insurancs Pragram Imporiant: Read the instructions on pages 1-9,
SECTION A - PROPERTY INFORMATICN For Thsuranca Compsny Use:
A1, Bullding Cwners Neme Madelynn Hoven Palley Numbar
A2 Building Strest Address {including Apt., Unit, Suils, andfor Bldg No.) or PO Reoute and Box o Company NAIC Number
818 W Lakeshors Drive o

City Waubay State SO ZIP Code 57273

AJ. Froparty Deseription {Lot and Block Numbars, Tax Pamul Number, Legal Description, eic )
Legal Description: Lot 11A PISCHKE'S 2™ Tax Parcal Numbay 77.30.0111

Ad. Bulding Use (e g , Residential, Non-Resldenllal, Addition, Accessory, eic } Residential

A5, Lalitude/Longiluda: Lat. 45.3435 Long. 97.3167 Horizontal Datum: [J NAD 1827 B NAD 1983

A8, Atiach at least 2 pholographs of the building if the Certificate Is being used to obtain figed insurance.

A?. Building Diggram Number §

AB. For a building with 2 crawlspace or enclosurs(s): AR For a building with an attached garage:
3} Squars foolage of crawispace or enclosura(s) 2244 sqt 8) Sqguare foolage of allached garage 207 sgfl
b} No. of permanant ficod opanings in the crawlspace or b} Ne. of permanant flaad opanings in the stiached garage

enclosura{s) within 1.0 fool abave adjacant grade 2 within 1.0 foot above adjacent grade

c) Tetal nel area of flood openings in AB.b , £a4 agin <) Total net aren of focd openings in AQ.h sqin
d) Engineered flood openlngs? Yes [ Mo d) Engineered flood openings? [Jves O N

SECTION B - FLOOD INSURANCE RATE MAP {FIRM) INFORMATION

B1. NFIP Community Name & Community Number B2. County Nama B3 Slsle
Day Caunty, Unlncorporated Areas, 460281 Day Caunly South Dakela

B4. Map/Pang! Number B5. Suffix BB. FIRM Indax 87. FIRM Panal B8, Ficod B9. Basa Flood Elavation{s) (Zona
46037C0500 A Date Effective/Revissd Date Zone(s) AQ, use base flood dapth)
December, &, 2001 Dacembar, 6, 2001 AE 1810.0

B810. Indicate the sourca of the Base Flood Elevalion (BFE) data or tase flood dapth antared in itam BS.
1 FIS Profita & FIRM [0 Comaunity Determined [1 Cther (Desciibe)
B1t. Indicale alevation datum used for BFE in ltem B8: §J NGVD 1928 O NAVD 1688 [J other (Dascriba)

B12. |3 the buikiing lacaled in 8 Coaslal Barler Resources System (CBRS) area or Othenvise Prolecled Asea {OPA)? O Yes No
Designation Date O cers 0O oPA

J

SECTION C - BUILDING ELEVATION INFORMATION {(SURVEY REQUIRED}

C1. Bullding elevalions ate based on: [J Construction Drawings® O Buiking Under Construction” I Finished Canstiuction
*A new Elevatlan Certificate will be required when construction of the Suliding [s complate,
C2. Elevailons - Zones A1-Ad0, AE, AH, A (with BFE), VE, V1-Va0, V [with BFE), AR, AR/A, ARIAE, ARIA1-AJ0, ARUAH, AR/AD Comgplele ltems CZ.a-h .
balow according o the building diagram specifed in ltem A7. Use tha same datum as the BFE.
Banchmark Utilized USGS PID QQ0422 Vertical Datum NAYD 88
Converslon/Cormmanis NAVD 1988 minue NGVD 1920 = +0.915 i Dalum conversion is altached)
Check lhe measurement used.
a)  Top of bottom figor {including , Or &r figor) 1806.5 (R raet [] maters (Puerto Rico only)
b) Top af the naxt higher floar 1810.9 BG tset [ matars (Puerto Rico only)
c} Bottom of the lowesl herizontal siructural membet {V Zones only) o [ feel [ malars (Puedo Rico anly}
d}  Altached garage (lop of slab) 18100 [ fest 3 malers {Pyerto Rico only)
¢) Lowest elevation of machinery or equipment sanvicing the buliding 18098 B3 feat [] meters (Puerto Rico only)
{Peacilbe type of equipment and tocation in Comments)
f)  Lowast adjacen! {finishad) giads next lo building (LAG) 1807.1, X feal [ melera (Pueno Rico only)
g} Highest adjacent {finished) grade next to building {HAG} 1808.3 feet [J melera (Puerta Rico only)
h) Lowas! adjacant grade ot lowest alavation of deck of slairs, including oz [Jtest [ metars (Pueto Rico anly}
sliuclural suppoit

SECTION D - SURVEYOR, ENGINEER, OR ARCHITECT CERTIFICATION AR,

This cedificetion is to be signed ond sealed by a land swiveyor, anginaar, or archilect aulharized by lnw to cerlify olavalion
informalion. [ cadify thal the ialonralion on this Certificuta represents my bast efforts to interpret the dafo avajiablo.f g\“ }“Q = % “
understand thal any loise stalement may be minishodia by fina or inprsonment wider 18 U § Code, Sogtion 1007 'Q;\) qaoaououn 4 5

Gheck here f commants nee provided on back of form, Wara [slituda and longiiude in Secllon A pravided by a Iy © el Mg “a%\.—

licenged land surveyor?  [J Yas & No
8150
J(F"“ R.

Ny
oy
7
T

"’r

)
L4

Certifimi's Name Keal R Jehescn ' Licanse Numbar SD 8160

£
Ve,

Ry

Titla Civil Engineer - Company Name Banner Assaciales, inc.

e W R e o3
‘Address 409 23" Ave § City Brockings State SO ZIP Code 57006 B L

Signature ' Date’ "7 Telephone 605-667-6342

i == a0 : T ”:I‘

2117paa130% 1‘
FEMA Form 81-31, Mar 09 See revarse side lor continuation. Replaces all previous editions

Exhibit C - Page 001

"
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IMPORTANT: In thase spaces, copy the correaponding information from Section A. For Insurance Company Uss:

Building Sueel Addiess (inchuding Ap!, Unil, Suite, sndfor 8idg. No ) or P O. Route and Box Neo Policy Number -
618 W Lakeshora Dilve
Chy Waubay State SD ZIP Code 57273 ’ Company NAIC Number

SECTION D - SURVEYOR, ENGINEER, OR ARCHITECT CERTIFICATION (CONTINUED)

Capy bolh sides of Lhis Elevation Corificate for (1) communily officlal, (2) Inaurance agent/company, and (3) building owner.
Commants  Machinery fn C2.a is an A Conditionersuppodt slructure

AL SAA Sl
Signature Vi Dale
Check here if altachments
SECTION E - BUILDING ELEVATION INFORMATION {SURVEY NOT REQUIRED) FOR ZONE AG AND ZONE A (WITHOUT BFE)

For Zones AO and A (without BFE), complete llems E1-ES. Il the Cerlificata is inlanded to suppert & LOMA or LOMR-F raquast, complata Sactons A, B,
and & For ltems £1-E4, use nolursf grade, i avallable. Check the moasuremant uged. In Puerio Rico only, enter malsrs.
E1. Provide elavation information for the following and chack the appropriate boxes to show whether the elevallon is abova of below the highest adjacent

grads (HAG) and the lowes! adjacent grade (LAG).
a) Top of boltom fivar (including L, crawispace, or ench ) is [ teet [ metars (] above or ] batow Ihe HAG.

b) Top of bottom floor (including basement, crawlapace, or enclasure) i o [feet Ometers [ above or] belowihe LAG.
€2. For Bulking Diagrams 8-9 with permansnt fload openings pravided in Sacifon A llems 8 and/or 8 (see pages 6-9 of Instructions), the rext higher flaar
{elavation C2.b inthe diagrame) of the bullding is . [ feet I metors [J above or L] below the HAG.
EJ. Aflachad garage (top of slab)is Oteat [Jmeters [ abovaar [ below the HAG.
E4 Top of platform of machinary andfor aquipment servicing the building Is . [} feet [0 melera [J above or [ below the HAG.
€5. Zone AQ only: If no floed depth numbaer s available, s the lop of Iha bottom floor elavatad In accordance with the communty's fisodplaln management
ordinance? [ Yes [J No [J Unknown. Tha local officlal must certify this information In Sectlon G.
SECTION F - PROPERTY OWNER (OR OWNER'S REPRESENTATIVE) CERTIFICATION
Tha propatly awner or owner's aulharized reprasentative who compietes Sectlons A, B, and E for Zona A (withoul a FEMA-jssuad or community-issusd BFE)
or Zone AQ must sign here. The siatemants in Sactions A, 8, and E are comecl lo the bast of my knoviadge.
Property Owner's or Ownar's Authorized Representative's Name

Addiass Cily Slale ZIP Code
Signature Date Talaphone
Commenis
£ Check hare # aflashmonts

SEGTION G - COMMUNITY INFORMATION (OPTIONAL)

Tha local oficial wha is authollzed by law or ordinance lo adminisler Ike community's floodplain gement ardi can plate Sections A, B, C (or E),
and G of this Elgvation Cerlificate. Complete the applicable itam(s) and sign below. Chack the measurement used in llems GB and G3.

G1.{J The Information In Seclion G was taken from cthar documeniation that has been signed and sealed by a licensed surveyor, enginear, ar architect who
is authorized by law to cartify elavatian Information. {indicale Ine source and date of the etevation dala in the Commenls area below.}

G2.00 Acommunity officist completed Secilon E for a bullding localed in Zone A (vdlhout 8 FEMA-Iissuad or communily-lssued BFE) o Zone AC.
G2. [0 ‘The fotlowing information {items G4-GB) is provided for communily floadplain management purposes.

[ G4. Pemit Number G5. Date Penmit Issued G6. Dats Certificate Of Compliance/Occupancy 1saued
G7. This permit has bean issuved for: O New Construction [ Substantla) Improvemant
GB. Efevation of as-built lowes! foor {including besemant) of the bullding. e O feet [ meters (PR) Dalum
GO BFE or (in Zone AD} deplh of Noading at the buikling site: . [ feat {7 matars (PR} Datum
G10. Communily's design flood elevation ; [} faat (J molers (PR} Datum
“Lotal Officral's Name Title
Community Name Telephone
Signature Dale
Commenls T o

[J Check here it allachments

Replaces all previous editions

Exhibit C - Page 002

FEMA Form 81-31, Mar 09
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Building Photographs

See Instructions for em AS.

For insurance Company Use;
Building Street Address {induding Apt., Unit, Suite, and/or Bldg. No.) or P.O. Route and Box No. Pollcy Number
818 W Lakashore Drive
City waubay State so ZIP Code s7213 Company NAIC Number

if using the Elevation Cerlificate to obtain NFIP flood insurance, affix at least two building photographs below accarding lo
the instructions for ltem AB. identify all photographs with: date taken; "Front View” and “Rear View"; and, If required, "Right
Side View” and "Left Side View.” If submitting more photographs than will fit-on this page, use the Continuation Pege,

folfowing.

05/07/2010

Front View (showing NE side)

1 05/50#20_1‘0"

Front View {showing SE side)

Exhibit C - Paye 003
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Building Photographs

Continuation Page
For Insurance Company Use:
Building Street Address (including Apt., Unit, Suits, and/or Bidg, No.) or P.O. Routa and Box No. Pollcy Number
618 W Lskeshare Drive
Clly weubay State sp ZIP Code 67273 Company NAIC Number

If submitiing more photographs than will fit on the preceding page, affix the additional photographs below. Identify all
photographs with: date taken; “Front View” and "Rear View’; and, if required, “Right Side View" and “Left Side View."

.05/07/2010

Rear View (showing garage)

Left Side View (looking SW)

Exhibit C - Page 004
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STATE OF SOUTH DAKOTA ) IN CIRCUIT COURT

8§ .

COUNTY OF DAY )] FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
MICHAEL HOVEN AND MADELYNN
HOVEN, 18CIV19-000037

Plaintiffs, BANNER ASSOCIATES, INC.

STATEMENT OF UNDISPUTED

v. MATERIAL FACTS
BANNER ASSOCIATES, INC.,

Defendant.

COMES NOW Defendant, Banner Associates, Inc. (“Banner™), and pursuant to SDCL [5-
6-56 (c), submits this statement of undisputed material facts in support of its motion for summary
judgment. The citations below refer to Affidavits of Kent Johnson, Nathan Nielson and Gregory
Wheeler and the Exhibits to those Affidavits, including the deposition transcript testimony
attached to the Affidavit of Gregory Wheeler. The following facts are not in dispute and support
the motion for summary judgment:

1. Dennis and Carcl Gregerson (“Gregersons™) retained Banner to petrform surveying
services in relation to their property in 2006. (Johnson Affid., § 3).

2, The Gregersons were planning to subdivide their property and sell portions of it,
one piece of which was sold to the Hovens in 2007. (Mike Hoven depo., p. 17).

3. One of the services performed by Banner for the Gregersons was the preparation of
an Elevation Certificate for the house they built on a portion of their property. (Johnson Affid., T§
4-5).

4, The elevation Certificate was prepared for the Gregersons in 2006. (Johnson Affid,,

¢ 5; Exhibit “A™).

Filed: 3/16/2022 4:20 PM CST Day County, South Dakota 18CIV19-000037
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5. In performing the professional services for the Gregersons, Banner determined a
benchmark on the Gregerson property and set an iron pin at the location of the benchmark on, or
around, June 9, 2006, (Rames depo., pp. 39-41; Johnson Affid., 1 6).

6. The location of the iron pin ended up being on the portion of the property that was
subdivided and later sold to the Hovens (specifically Madelynn Hoven). (Mike Hoven depo., p.
29; Johnson Affid., J7)

7. In mid-2007, Mike Hoven contacted Steve Rames, who was at the time an
employee of Banner, regarding the benchmark. (Mike Hoven depo., p. 29).

8. Mr. Hoven simply asked Mr. Rames for the elevation of the benchmark. (Mike
Hoven depo., p. 29).

9. Banner sent a surveyor to mark the elevation of the iron pin. (Rames depo., pp. 45-
47; Mike Hoven depo., pp. 49-54).

10.  The elevation of 1806.96 was marked on a lathe stake that was placed next to the
iron pin. ({d.).

11, The work referenced in paragraphs 7 through 10 above occurred in 2007. (/d.).

12.  The elevation of the fron pin was noted as 1806.96 NAVDS8 in the Elevation
Certificate provided to the Gregersons and the lathe stake was marked using what had previously
been determined for the Gregersons. (Rames depo., pp. 39-47; Johnson Affid., Exhibit “A” p.12).

13, Mr. Rames also sent a document to Mr. Hoven showing the property lines for the
subdivided Gregerson property and showing the benchmark at 1806.96. (See Exhibit 5 to Mike
Hoven depo.).

I4.  No datum is referenced in the document and there were never any discussions

between Banner and the plaintiffs about the datum used. (Xd.; Mike Hoven depo., p. 56).

Filed: 3/16/2022 4:20 PM CST Day County, South Dakota 18CIV19-000037
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15.  Mr. Hoven stated that he did not even ask any questions because he did not know
there were different datum. (Mike Hoven depo., p. 47).

16.  The document was never directly used by the Hovens in any way. (Mike Hoven
depo., p. 47), but instead, they claim that they believe that their concrete contractor, Moe’s
Concrete, used the elevation noted on the lathe stake next to the iron pin in setting the foundation
for the house. /d.

17. Banner was never officially retained by the Hovens in 2006 or 2007, did not bill
the Hovens for any work at that time, and the Hovens never paid for any services at that time.
(Johnson Affid., § 8).

18.  Banner was not directly involved in the staking, [ayout or construction of the
Hovens® house. (Johnson Affid., § 9).

19, Over the next few manths in 2007, the Hovens built the house on the property.
(Mike Hoven depo., pp. 18-19).

20.  The house was constructed and enclosed by the end of 2007. (Mike Hoven depo.,
p. 20-21; Exhibit 1 to Mike Hoven Depo., Bates 150 to 152).

21.  The Hovens admitted that it was built by the end of 2007 and the photographs
support that admission. (/d.).

22,  All elevations of the house were set at that time. (/d.)

23, The first time Banner was actually retained and paid by the Hovens was in 2009.
(Johnson Affid., § 10).

24. In 2009, Banner shot an elevation for the first floor of the Hoven house. (Rames

depo., p. 67, Exhibit 10 (from Mike Hoven depo.); Johnson Affid., 7 10).
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25.  The house was obviously constructed at that time. The {loor elevation was listed at
1810.19 NAVD38. (Hoven depo., Exhibit 10). |

26.  The date of the service was February 2, 2009 and was documented in a letter dated
January 25, 2010. (/d.).

27.  Banner also provided the Hovens (Madelynn Hoven) with an Elevation Certificate
dated May 11, 2010. (Johnson Affid., § 11; Exhibit “B™).

28. It lists the various elevations of the house, both in NAVD88 and NGVD29 datum.
(/d.). |

29.  There is no expert or other admissible evidence that there is anything wrong with
the 2010 Elevation Certificate, that the elevations listed, and conversions shown, are inaccurate,
or that the Elevation Certificate violates the applicable professional standard of care, and, in fact,
the evidence is that it is accurate and complies with the professional standard of care. (Johnson
Affid., § 12).

30.  The Hovens claim to have sent the Elevation Certificate to their insurance carrier
so they could purchase flood insurance in 2010, which they did. (Mike Hoven depo., p.79-80; 88).

31.  The Hovens did not even look at the Elevation Certificate at that time. (Mike Hoven
depa,, p. 83).

32.  Nothing happened unti} 2019, when using the same 2010 Elevation Certificate, the
insurance carrier for the Hovens noted that the finished floor elevation of the house was below the
base flood elevation. (Mike Hoven depo., p. 79).

33.  The Hovens had not renewed the flood insurance in the years between 2010 and
2019 and asked again for the insurance in 2019, which is when the issue was noted, and the cost

of flood insurance was quoted to be higher. (Mike Hoven Depo., p. §8).
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34.  The finished floor elevation of the house is 1809,] (NGVD29)/1810.0 (NAVDSS).
The Base Flood Elevation is 1810.0 (NGVD29)/1810.9 (NAVD88). The finished floor elevation
of the house constructed in 2007 was at an elevation 0.9 fect below the Base Flood Elevation. (See
exhibits to Johnson Affid.).

35.  The professional services performed by Banner were performed in accordance with
the professional standard of care. (Johnson Affid., § 13; Nielson Affid., { 5).

36.  Banner did not actively (or passively) conceal or withhold any information from
the plaintiffs and did not try to prevent them from knowing about any potential issues they may
have with any of the services provided by Banner. (Johnson Affid., § 14; Nielson Affid., § 6).

37.  The Summons was served in this matter in July 2019. The Complaint was not filed
until July 26, 2019,

Dated this 16" day of March 2022,

/s/ Gregory H. Wheeler
Gregory H. Wheeler
BOYCE LAW FIRM, L.L.P.
300 S. Main Avenue
P.O. Box 5015
Sioux Falls, SD 57117-5015
(605) 336-2424
ghwheeler@boycelaw.com

Filed: 3/16/2022 4:20 PM CST Day County, South Dakota 18CiV13-000037
APPX 020




CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
1, Gregory H. Wheeler, hereby certify that | am a member of Boyce Law Firm, L.L.P., and
that on the 16™ day of March 2022, a true and correct copy of the foregoing was filed and served
through Odyssey upon the following:
Steven J. Oberg ,
Lynn, Jackson, Shultz & Lebrun, P.C.
110 N. Minnesota Ave., Ste. 400

Sioux Falls, SD 57104
soberg@lynnjackson.com

/s/ Gregory H. Wheeler
Gregory H. Wheeler
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Michael and Madelynn Hoven (“Hovens”) respectfully submit this Reply
Brief.

RESPONSE TO BANNER'’S STATEMENT OF FACTS

In Appellee’s Brief, Banner again suggests that it had no relationship with
the Hovens before 2009. It asserts the Hovens never hired it to provide them with
the elevation benchmark for their construction. (Banner Br. p. 4). Banner even
suggests that Mike Hoven testified that they had no relationship with Banner in
regard to the elevation benchmark. Banner cites “CR51” of the settled record as
support for this assertion. (Banner Br. p. 4). However, nothing in the settled
record supports Banner’s assertion. Mike Hoven stated under oath that he
requested an elevation benchmark from Banner and explained to Steven Rames
that they needed a benchmark before the walls were poured to ensure that their
home was built high enough to meet the 1810° BFE requirement for the floor
elevation. (CR 150-151; 179-180).

The undisputed fact remains that Banner did provide the Hovens with the
benchmark for their construction, and provided them a survey entitled “Mike
Hove[n] Bench Mark” to show its location on the lot and its elevation, along with
a note that Steven Rames wrote on it to Mike. (CR 102; 206). However, Banner
did not provide any datum for the benchmark, or do the appropriate datum
conversion for it so that it could be compared to the BFE as the FIRM mandated

and did not tell the Hovens that it could not be used for construction. There was



no indication on the survey that it was preliminary or that it could not be used for
construction, as required by SDCL § 36-18A-45(2). (CR 152; 85; 202; 274).

Banner acknowledges that in 2009, it came back again and surveyed the
critical floor elevation, at 1810.19 feet. Again, it did so in the inappropriate
vertical datum of NAVD88 which could not be compared to the BFE at this
location without conversion to the appropriate datum of NGVD 1929. (Banner Br.
p. 4). While this elevation could not be compared to the BFE, it remains
undisputed that Banner did not tell the Hovens this. The Hovens, therefore,
believed that their floor elevation exceeded the BFE, and their construction
continued after Banner had confirmed the critical floor elevation.

Banner asserts that it later provided the Hovens with the Elevation
Certificate in the spring of 2010 and that provided all the information they needed
to discern for themselves that their lake home was too low. (Banner Brief p. 5).
Banner has suggested that by that time, the damage was already done so telling
them would have made no difference. However, the Hovens were still a long way
from reaching substantial completion of their home.

Banner fails to address the fact that after providing Hovens with the
benchmark for the start of construction in the inappropriate datum that could not
be compared to the BFE or properly used for construction, and after verifying the
critical floor elevation midway through the construction, Banner had already left
the Hovens thinking they had met or exceeded the minimum floor elevation

required.



Banner asserts that the inadequate floor elevation below the BFE was
“open, obvious, and easy to understand.” Id. Yet by the time Banner provided the
Elevation Certificate, the Hovens reasonably believed that Steven Rames at
Banner had already confirmed the proper floor elevation. Kent Johnson, who
prepared the Elevation Certificate, had carefully explained the discrepancy in
datums to the Gregersons and to the City, when he sent their Elevation Certificate
to the City for the required recording of the elevation of their lake cabin. (CR
342). Yet, Mr. Johnson apparently never sent the Hovens’ Elevation Certificate to
the City for recording and never sent a similar letter to clarify the discrepancy in
the datums to the City or to the Hovens. He did not tell the Hovens they were
completing their home in this area of special flood hazard at an inadequate
elevation. Although Banner claims that the Hovens should have known their
home was too low from the information provided in the Elevation Certificate,
former Banner professional land surveyor Steven Rames denied any suggestion
that Banner itself would have known or could have easily determined this from the
surveys it completed in 2009 and 2010. (CR 206-207). Yet Banner admittedly did
know. (CR 329).

Based on the information that Banner provided after surveying the critical
floor elevation in 2009, the Hovens reasonably believed their lake home had met
or exceeded the minimum BFE requirement and that Banner had confirmed this,
long before they requested the Elevation Certificate to apply for flood insurance.

Banner asserts that attachment of the Certificate to the Hovens’ unverified



complaint somehow proves that they knew or should have known the truth.
(Banner Br. p. 5). Attachment of the Elevation Certificate to the Hovens’
Complaint does nothing to establish their knowledge at the time. After Steven
Rames provided the benchmark and then confirmed the critical floor elevation at
over 1810°, the Hovens reasonably believed that Banner had already confirmed the
proper elevation of their home. They did not understand the difference in the
datums, the “datum shift,” or the necessity of doing “the appropriate datum
conversion.” They only learned that their home was too low in the spring of 2019,
after submitting a second application for flood insurance, when FEMA completed
what Kent Johnson had referred to as “the appropriate datum conversion” to
NGVD 1929 for the FIRM mandated comparison to the BFE. (CR 191).

ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITIES

A. After Providing the Elevation Benchmark for The Hovens’
Construction and After Verifying The Critical Floor Elevation, Banner
Had A Duty to Tell Them That Their Home Is Inadequately Elevated.

Banner’s entire defense hinges on its argument that it had no duty to
disclose anything to the Hovens because it was not their fiduciary or acting in a
position of trust or confidence. In support of this assertion, Banner cites Gades v.
Meyer Modernizing Co., Inc. 2015 S.D. 42, 865 N.W.2d 155, 160. In Gades,
however, the problem with the constructed improvement was obvious and actually
known to the plaintiff homeowners. Water began infiltrating their home soon after
construction and persisted over the course of several years, before they filed their

lawsuit. The Gades needed no one to tell them there was a problem. They had no



reason to think that the defendant was looking out for their interests, to ensure that
their home was watertight.

In contrast, here Banner acknowledges that the inadequate elevation of the
Hovens’ lakeside home could not be discerned simply by looking at it, without a
professional elevation survey. (CR 399-400). The Circuit Court acknowledged
that the difference in datums may be confusing. (CR 423). Kent Johnson at
Banner apparently felt the datum discrepancy is confusing, as he deemed it
necessary to point this out and explain the difference in the datums for others, and
the necessity of completing what he called “the appropriate datum conversion” for
comparison to the BFE. Yet he did not do the appropriate datum conversion for
the Hovens or do anything to disabuse them of the notion that their home exceeded
the minimum elevation requirement.

In further support of its argument that it had no duty to speak, Banner also
cites Cleveland v. BDL Enters., Inc., 2003 S.D. 54, 663 N.W.2d 212. In
Cleveland, however, the homeowners did not hire the engineering firm involved.
Id. at 119, 663 N.W.2d at 218. That firm was hired by the mall developer that cut
the “toe” from the bottom of the hillside for the mall project development. As the
Supreme Court noted, the engineering firm could not reasonably be expected or
required to serve and answer to two masters at once. 1d. at 121, 663 N.W.2d at
218. Furthermore, as in Gades, the problem created by movement of the hillside
was apparent and persistent, notwithstanding an opinion offered by the

engineering firm that cutting the “toe” at the base of the hill was not the cause.



The Hovens’ sole purpose for engaging Banner was to ensure that their
home would be built at the proper minimum elevation and to later confirm that it
had in fact met the minimum elevation requirement. This was the sole object of
their relationship. Banner asserts the parties’ relationship did not involve
“confidence” or “trust.” (Banner Br. p. 7). Yet Hovens clearly trusted Banner to
provide a professionally-surveyed elevation benchmark to ensure that they met the
1810° minimum elevation requirement in this area of special flood hazard.
Banner knew that the datum information must be provided and understood or the
result may be disastrous. Banner admitted as follows:

[I]t was necessary for the owner of the property in question to obtain

benchmark information, including information such as the datum upon

which the benchmark was determined, base flood elevation and other
pertinent information for use in establishing the finished floor elevation of
any structure or property prior to constructing on that property or the owner
of the structure on the property would potentially build the house at an
elevation that could lead to increased risk for flooding, just as one or both
of the plaintiffs did here.
CR 325. Banner clearly knew that the Hovens needed datum information critical
to their construction. The Hovens also trusted Banner to confirm that the critical
floor elevation requirement had been met. Just as construction could not begin
without Banner’s professional assistance at the start, construction would never
have continued without Banner’s confirmation of the critical floor elevation at or
in excess of the City’s minimum requirement.

By the spring of 2010, Banner admittedly knew that the Hovens’ home did

not meet the minimum elevation requirement. Yet Banner said nothing. Banner



claims it had no duty to tell them. The Hovens respectfully submit that Banner had
a duty to speak and provide all pertinent information. Yet Banner failed to
compare the surveyed floor elevation to the BFE in the appropriate datum, as the
FIRM mandates. Banner never provided the critical floor elevation in the
inappropriate datum. Instead, Banner let the Hovens continue working under the
mistaken belief that their home exceeded the minimum requirement.

Banner failed to meet its duty of fidelity to the Hovens, failed to provide
them with all pertinent and material information, and failed to advise them of their
inadvertent violation of the law. See A.R.S.D. 20:38:36:01. Banner argues that
these mandatory rules of professional conduct are irrelevant and do not apply.
(Banner’s Br. pp. 17-18). To the contrary, these mandatory rules of professional
conduct apply to both Banner and its professional land surveyors. See A.R.S.D.
20:38:36:01.

B. The Trial Court Erred In Determining As a Matter of Law That

Banner Had Not Fraudulently Concealed The Fact That The Home Is

Inadequately Elevated and Failed to View The Evidence in a Light
Most Favorable to the Hovens.

The Circuit Court failed to construe the evidence in a light most favorable
to the Hovens and erred in granting partial summary judgment in Banner’s favor
on the Hovens’ claim of fraudulent concealment. On this summary judgment
motion involving a question of fraud, the Circuit Court was not free “to weigh the
evidence and determine the matters' truth.” Olson v. Berggren, 2021 S.D. 58,

29, 965 N.W.2d 442, 452; quoting Hanna v. Landsman, 2020 S.D. S.D. 33, 1 37,



945 N.W.2d 534, 545 (citation omitted). Instead, SDCL § 15-6-56(c) required that
all reasonable inferences that may be drawn from the evidence be viewed in the
light most favorable to the Hovens. SDCL § 15-6-56(c).

Although Banner claims that it had no duty to tell the Hovens their home
was inadequately elevated, Banner simultaneously asserts that it told them.
Banner claims “[i]t is not entirely clear what it is that Banner failed to disclose.”
(Banner Br. p. 6). Banner also argues, “It is entirely unclear what Banner was
supposed to disclose that wasn’t disclosed when learned by Banner.” (Banner Br.
p. 18). Banner clearly failed to disclose to the Hovens that their home is
inadequately elevated despite having been asked to verify its proper elevation.

The evidence supports the Hovens’ claim that Banner fraudulently
concealed the fact mid-way through construction and led them to believe the
minimum elevation requirement was met. Why would Banner do this? The
answer seems obvious. One reasonable inference is that after having provided the
elevation benchmark in a datum inappropriate at the start of construction, when
the Hovens asked it to verify the critical floor elevation, Banner realized that the
elevation deficiency equaled “the datum shift” and what had happened. When
Banner confirmed the floor elevation, it realized that the home is too low in the
same amount.

Banner claims there was nothing wrong with its reports. Yet the man who
provided the benchmark in the appropriate datum, Steven Rames, when asked to

confirm the resulting surveyed floor elevation, again provided the surveyed



elevation without “the appropriate datum conversion” for comparison to the BFE.
While Banner was clearly aware of a need for the appropriate datum conversion, it
opted to not do it and let the Hovens continue believing that at a surveyed
elevation of 1810.19 feet, their floor had exceeded the minimum BFE requirement.

Banner asserts that the Hovens offered no expert testimony to provide
context to their claim that it violated the mandatory rules of professional conduct.
Even if these mandatory rules of professional conduct were not plain enough
without expert testimony, when asked to confirm the proper floor elevation and
undertaking that task, Banner had a common law duty to the Hovens the truth.
Furthermore, Banner moved for summary judgment before any expert deadlines
had even been set. The FIRM adopted by the City of Waubay mandated a
comparison to the BFE in the same vertical datum and Banner clearly recognized
that the datum discrepancy can cause confusion and that unless this discrepancy is
known and considered, a real estate improvement can be built too low. A
reasonable inference to be drawn from this evidence is that Banner knew this is
precisely what happened. The Circuit Court failed to recognize that when Banner
confirmed the surveyed floor elevation at over 1810 feet, it knew the truth and
knew that the Hovens were unaware. The Circuit Court failed to recognize that
anyone in the Hovens shoes would have reasonably expected Banner to advise
them if their home did not meet the minimum legal requirement.

Banner asserts that these mandatory rules of professional conduct do

nothing to support the Hovens’ claim of fraud or fraudulent concealment. (Banner



Br. p. 19). The self-serving affidavit of Mr. Johnson and another Banner
employee lend little to no support to Banner’s motion or the Circuit Court’s
decision. They simply offer the conclusion that they did nothing wrong and that
Banner concealed nothing.

Banner’s motive for not speaking becomes apparent when the evidence is
viewed in a light most favorable to the Hovens. Banner knew what had happened
and why. Banner had to know that the Hovens would expect to be told if their
home was too low. Long ago, the South Dakota Supreme Court recognized that
fraudulent concealment may toll a statute of limitations, stating as follows:

[F]raudulent concealment of a cause of action should be recognized as an

implied exception to our statute of limitations. In its application fraudulent

concealment cannot be assumed. The burden is upon the plaintiff to prove

(1) the defendant fraudulently concealed the cause of action from [76 S.D.

525] the plaintiff and (2) the plaintiff exercised diligence to discover the

cause of action. In the absence of some trust or confidential relationship

between the parties there must be some affirmative act or conduct on the
part of the defendant designed to prevent, and which does prevent, the
discovery of the cause of action. Mere silence, in the absence of a duty to
speak, is not ordinarily sufficient. Where, however, a trust or other
confidential relationship does exist between the parties, silence on the part
of one having the duty to disclose, constitutes fraudulent concealment in the

absence of any affirmative act. See Annotations, 173 A.L.R. 576.

Hinkle v. Hargens, 76 S.D. 520, 524-525, 81 N.W.2d 888, 891 (1957).

Mere silence is enough under these circumstances to support the Hovens’
claim of fraudulent concealment. At minimum, a jury issue is presented. Trust or
confidence existed between the parties, by necessity. Even if mere silence were

not enough, by giving apparent assurance that the home met or exceeded the

minimum elevation requirement, Banner affirmatively acted in a manner that
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made it unlikely that the Hovens would discover the truth and realize they had a
cause of action against Banner. After Banner had provided the benchmark for
construction and had then apparently confirmed the proper elevation of their
home, the Hovens should not be charged with constructive notice through
Banner’s later inclusion of confusing information about the datum shift later with
the Elevation Certificate. The Elevation Certificate never stated the floor
elevation in the appropriate datum for a proper comparison to the BFE. Even
FEMA did not initially discern the fact from the information Banner provided.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should reverse the Circuit Court’s

partial summary judgment and its determination as a matter of law that Banner did
not fraudulently conceal this material fact. When viewed in a light most favorable
to the Hovens, the evidence and reasonable inference suggest that Banner led the
Hovens to believe that their home met or exceeded the legal minimum elevation
requirement. Banner had a duty to speak, when asked, under both common law
and mandatory rules of professional conduct. The South Dakota Supreme Court
should therefore reverse the partial summary judgment and remand the case in its

entirety for trial by a jury on all issues.
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Dated this 26" day of October, 2022.

LYNN, JACKSON, SHULTZ & LEBRUN, P.C.

/sl Steven J. Oberg

Steven J. Oberg

110 N. Minnesota Ave., Ste. 400

Sioux Falls, SD 57104-6475

Telephone: (605) 332-5999

E-mail: soberg@lynnjackson.com
Attorney for Plaintiffs / Appellants

REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

Appellants respectfully request oral argument on this matter.

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE

This Brief is compliant with the length requirements of SDCL § 15-26A-
66(b). Proportionally spaced font Times New Roman 13 point has been used.
Excluding the cover page, Table of Contents, Table of Authorities, Certificate of
Service and Certificate of Compliance, Appellants’ Brief contains 3,005 words as
counted by Microsoft Word.

[s/ Steven J. Oberg
Steven J. Oberg
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

Steven J. Oberg, of Lynn, Jackson, Shultz & Lebrun, P.C. hereby certifies
that on the 26" day of October, 2022, he electronically filed the foregoing
document with the Clerk of Court through Odyssey File & Serve, and that
Odyssey File & Serve will serve an electronic copy upon the following:

Gregory H. Wheeler

Boyce Law Firm, L.L.P.

300 S. Main Ave.

Sioux Falls, SD 57104

(605) 336-2424

gwheeler@boycelawfirm.com
Attorneys for Defendant / Appellee

The undersigned further certifies that the original Reply Brief of Appellants
in the above-entitled action was mailed by United States mail, postage prepaid to
Ms. Shirley A. Jameson-Fergel, Clerk of the Supreme Court, State Capitol, 500
East Capitol, Pierre, SD 57501 on the above-written date.

[s/ Steven J. Oberg
Steven J. Oberg
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